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Hospitality 
Demonstrates our response to 
the desire to be welcomed, to feel 
wanted and to belong. it is our 
responsibility to extend this to all who 
come into contact with our services 
by promoting connectedness and 
listening and responding openly. 

Healing 
Demonstrates our desire to respond 
to the whole person by caring for their 
spiritual, psychological and physical 
well being. it is our responsibility to 

value and consider the whole person 
and to promote healing through 
reconnecting, reconciling and building 
relationships.

Stewardship 
recognises that as individuals and 
as a community all we have has 
been given to us as a gift. it is our 
responsibility to manage these 
precious resources effectively for the 
future. we are responsible for: striving 
for excellence, developing personal 
talents, material possessions, our 
environment, and handing on the 

mission of the sisters of the little 
Company of Mary. 

Respect 
recognises the value and dignity of 
every person who is associated with 
our services. it is our responsibility to 
care for all with whom we come into 
contact with justice and compassion 
no matter what the circumstances, 
and we are prepared to stand up 
for what we believe and challenge 
behaviour which is contrary to our 
values.

The Spirit of Calvary

We strive to excel in the spirit of  
‘Being for Others’

our mission identifies why we exist; to bring the 
healing ministry of Jesus to those who are sick,  
dying and in need through ‘Being for others’:

in the spirit of Mary standing by her son on Calvary 

through the provision of quality, responsive and 
compassionate health, community and aged care 
services based on Gospel values, and 

in celebration of the rich heritage and story of  
the sisters of the little Company of Mary. 

Our vision identifies what we  
are striving to become 

to be, and to be recognised as, a leader in 
strengthening and developing Catholic health at 
regional and national levels through the creation 
of integrated models of care where excellence 
and leadership are pursued by all to meet best the 
needs of the people and communities we serve.

Our values are visible in how  
we act and treat others 

as stewards of the rich heritage of care and 
compassion of the little Company of Mary, we are 
guided by our values.
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Many of the hospital’s supporters 
have left a bequest to us in their will.  
your bequest helps us to continue our 
work to provide care for patients.

areas of benefit include: general 
medicine, oncology, research, alcohol 
and drug services, palliative care 
and to assist with the promotion of 
positive community attitudes toward 
the necessity and desire of quality 
health care. your contribution will 
go on helping us through the 21st 
century. your contribution can be a 
fixed amount or a percentage of your 
estate. you can nominate to assist in 
the general provision of our services 
or your bequest can be directed 
toward a specific unit, project or type 
of service.

How to Make a Bequest
to assist in the preparation of a 
bequest may we advise the following 
wording:

i, (name), given ($amount) free of all 
duties and testamentary expense 
to Calvary Mater Newcastle for the 
purpose of patient care/service 
development, and i direct that the 
receipt of the Chief executive officer 
shall be sufficient discharge of my 
executors for this bequest.

if you would like more information 
about services provided at our 
hospital and how best your intended 
bequest could be used, please do 
not hesitate to contact our Chief 
executive officer. 

Chief Executive Officer
Calvary Mater Newcastle
Locked Bag 7
Hunter Region Mail Centre  
NSW 2310
Telephone 4014 4700

Bequests
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Hand Hygiene continues to be a 
focus for Calvary Mater Newcastle 
with impressive results maintaining 
and improving our compliance above 
national benchmarks. the Clean Hands? 
campaign has been a prominent feature 
across the hospital and is responsible 
for increasing awareness for staff, 
patients, visitors and volunteers.

we are always striving to build 
partnerships that will benefit our 
community and the services we provide. 
Negotiations have been continuing with 
Hunter Medicare local regarding the 
relocation of the Gp access after Hours 
service to the Calvary Mater Newcastle 
site. an alliance has also been formed 
between Hunter New england local 
Health District, Hunter Medicare local 
and little Company of Mary Health Care, 
known as Hunter transitional alliance. 

a number of exciting projects have also 
commenced including the settle Me in 
project, aged Care emergency project, 
Neat project, College accreditation 
surveys and the internal Medicine 
review. in addition, the consortium of 
little Company of Mary Health Care, 
Hunter New england local Health 
District, Hunter Medical research 
institute and the University of Newcastle 
commenced work on the Mater Health 
precinct. a component of the Master 
plan is to undertake a Clinical services 
plan for the Calvary Mater Newcastle 
Health precinct including Mental Health 
services.

the hospital also welcomed many 
special visitors throughout the year 
including a visit from the federal 
Minister for Health, tanya plibersek, 
in september 2012. we were also 
privileged to have a visit from the 
Calvary Ministries.

the tireless work carried out by 
members of our staff and visiting 
Medical officers, from each and every 
department across all disciplines, is 
pivotal in delivering quality services 
to the community and i thank all staff 
members for their ongoing dedication 
and commitment to their work. we 
continue to acknowledge staff for their 
service to the hospital with our annual 
Celebration of service ceremony and 
special functions for staff who leave/
retire with twenty years’ service or more.

the second yearly staff survey 
conducted by Best practice australia 
took place in March 2013, allowing staff 

to provide feedback to help improve our 
workplace. 

as always our volunteers and auxiliary 
members are a vital component in the 
day to day running of Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. our volunteers and auxiliary 
members bring with them boundless 
energy, enthusiasm and dedication 
to assist the hospital in providing our 
patients with the very best possible care. 
this hard work is appreciated by all who 
encounter their compassionate care and 
fundraising efforts and we thank them. 

the hospital continues to receive 
valuable support and advice from little 
Company of Mary Health Care Board, 
National office and the local Health 
District in continuing the hospital’s role 
as a major cancer care facility. i would 
also like to thank our generous and loyal 
community for its support of the hospital.

i hope this year’s review of operations 
proves to be a valuable and informative 
document and we will continue to 
strive to provide a quality service to 
the community based on our values of 
Hospitality, Healing, stewardship and 
respect.

Greg Flint. 
Chief Executive Officer.

Report from 
the Chief 

Executive 
Officer

for the financial year ending 2012/13, 
i am pleased to say that Calvary Mater 
Newcastle has continued to deliver 
world class health care services to our 
community. there have been significant 
challenges and achievements where our 
staff have worked extremely hard and 
have delivered on the targets and key 
performance indicators prescribed in the 
service agreement with the Hunter New 
england local Health District.

Calvary Mater Newcastle is currently 
preparing for accreditation by the 
australian Council on Healthcare 
standards under the ten National safety 
and Quality Health service standards. 
i have every confidence that our staff 
and organisation will demonstrate 
compliance with these standards and at 
the same time, showcase the quality of 
health care that we provide.

the Community advisory Council 
welcomed Dr Mark lock in June 2013 
as the latest member. the council has 
continued to be actively involved in the 
activities and functions of the hospital, 
ongoing involvement in a number of the 
hospital committees and involvement in 
the accreditation standard 2, partnering 
with Consumers, working group. the 
wealth of experience that our council 
members bring with them provides the 
hospital with a valuable and tangible 
community connection.

in December 2012, we farewelled our 
last remaining religious sister of Mercy 
still working at the hospital, sister Kay 
sheridan, marking an end of an era. 
Colleagues past and present together 
with friends joined forces to bid a fond 
and emotional farewell to a Mater 
identity. we wish sister Kay the very 
best for the future and will continue our 
responsibility to ensure the legacy of 
the sisters of Mercy continues and we 
thank her for her valuable service to our 
patients and the hospital.

a significant milestone was reached 
in June 2013 with the launch of the 
hospital’s new research website, 
www.calvarymater.org.au/research 
dubbed the Caring edge of research, 
a dedicated website to showcase our 
talented researchers and to highlight 
their research achievements. this new 
world wide platform will inform the local 
community and beyond of the ground-
breaking research carried out at the 
hospital. the capacity to make online 
donations has also been incorporated 
into the new website.
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professor aidan foy 

Department 
Reports 

General Internal Medicine
there have been significant changes 
in the Department of General internal 
Medicine this year, the most notable 
of which has been the retirement 
of professor aidan foy. He was 
the Director of the department for 
many years and was a leader in his 
specialty areas of gastroenterology, 
addiction medicine, and acute 
care medicine. aidan served the 
community with great compassion 
and selflessness, taught students and 
junior doctors with enthusiasm and 
mentored and inspired many. suffice 
to say, he will be sorely missed but 
his legacy will live on. there was a 
formal farewell morning tea where his 
outstanding service was recognised 
by Calvary Mater Newcastle and at 
which aidan regaled colleagues with 
his anecdotes and philosophies – 
always the consummate raconteur! 
the Directorship of General Medicine 
has now been taken up by Dr Michael 
Hayes who is looking forward to 
leading the department through the 
challenges ahead. 

the department was pleased to 
welcome Dr shyamala arunasalam, 
General physician and infectious 
Disease specialist to a full-time staff 

specialist position. shyamala has 
already made a significant contribution 
by taking on the role of Director of 
prevocational education and training 
(Dpet) for the junior medical officers.  
she has also been integral to the 
development of the stewardship 
program, soon to be rolled out across 
the hospital, and attending outreach 
clinics at tamworth. 

the outreach program, providing 
physician clinics at Moree, Mungindi 
and tamworth has continued to grow. 
professor foy and Dr lex tierney 
enjoyed eight road trips this year. Dr 
annalise philcox has been providing 
a diabetes clinic in Moree which 
became heavily booked very quickly, 
clearly an area of great need. it has 
been a tremendous experience for the 
advanced training registrars in general 
medicine that go with them. 

the four advanced trainees (ats) 
in general and acute care medicine 
that rotate between Calvary Mater 
Newcastle (three positions) and 
Maitland Hospital (one position) 
continue to be heavily involved in all 
aspects of departmental activities 
and have provided very positive 
feedback about their training and 

experience, particularly the outreach 
program. these four, along with the 
Gastroenterology at and the Geriatric 
at, form a group of senior registrars 
who provide first rate supervision 
and leadership to the junior doctors. 
as a group they drive each other 
forward with research and have been 
invaluable in providing structured 
education sessions for junior clinicians. 
particular note needs to be made of 
the efforts of Drs asanka withanage, 
siva sellathurai and yamin oo, who 
organised the royal australiasian 
College of physicians (raCp) Clinical 
examinations (a huge amount of work) 
held at Calvary Mater Newcastle, 
which, as usual, was a great success. 
yamin oo also won advanced trainee 
of the year at the annual meeting of the 
internal Medicine society of australia 
and New Zealand (iMsaNZ) for her 
research presentation. 

the quality of training in general and 
acute care medicine at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle was recognised in an article 
published in the internal Medicine 
Journal of the raCp. 

there have been a number of 
successful clinical initiatives within the 
department. ward 4C, in conjunction 
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with the Department of palliative 
Care, was involved in the pilot of 
the Care of the Dying observation 
Chart, which has generated interest 
at state level. this ward also piloted 
the agitation scale, a project of the 
acute aged care team, to better care 
for patients with delirium or dementia 
with challenging behaviours. ward 
5a, in conjunction with the stroke 
service, is trialling an environmental 
enrichment program particularly for 
stroke patients. 

Next year, we are anticipating 
recruiting a Gastroenterologist to 
continue the service provided by 
professor foy. we will also continue to 
be responsive to the changing needs 
of the service, while maintaining a high 
level of education, teaching, research 
and quality activities as befits our 
teaching hospital status. 

Acute Aged Care
Calvary Mater Newcastle aged Care 
team has a unique role in assisting 
in the management of elderly people 
throughout the hospital. over the past 
12 months we have been involved in 
the care of over 400 admitted elderly 

patients, and our aset Nurses have 
assessed approximately 240 elderly 
people presenting to the emergency 
Department. 

the team provided assistance with 
elderly patients with multiple complex 
medical issues and those presenting with 
geriatric syndromes such as: delirium, 
falls, incontinence, cognitive decline and 
behavioural symptoms of dementia. 

the aged Care team is involved 
in several committees across the 
hospital, such as the aged Care 
advisory Committee, Nutrition 
Committee, falls Committee (including 
work towards the NHQHs standard 10 
– falls, and conduction of a hospital 
wide falls audit) and palliative Care 
Committee, to ensure representation 
of the older person at all levels. 

the past 12 months has seen a focus 
on management of delirium throughout 
the hospital, with revision of the 
Delirium and Dementia Guidelines, 
introduction of the agitation scale 
to monitor behaviours associated 
with delirium and dementia, and 
ongoing staff education at all levels.  
louise Hamilton has returned to the 
role of aarCs Nurse and is driving 
education and improvement in non-
pharmacological management of 

behaviours, enablement and delirium 
detection and management. we have 
showcased this work with posters and 
presentations at the internal Medical 
society of australia and New Zealand 
(iMsaNZ) conference and the Dementia 
Collaboration research Centre forum. 

the aged Care team is involved in 
education across all levels including 
grand rounds, JMos, nursing staff and 
undergraduate medical students. the 
presence of an advanced trainee in 
geriatric medicine at the hospital allows 
us to see more consultations, give 
more education, and provide outpatient 
clinic services and weekly outreach 
clinics to the port stephens area. 

our advanced trainees, Dr raj saini 
and Dr thwin Bape have joined us, 
and participated in hospital projects 
such as the delirium audit and falls 
audit; this has allowed them to 
complete essential college training 
requirements and contribute to the 
improvement of the care of older 
patients in the hospital.

we envision 2013/14 to be as busy 
and interesting as the last financial 
year, and we will continue to strive 
to provide best practice across the 
hospital with regards to the care of 
elderly people.
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Coronary Care and Cardiology
there has been a changing trend in patients admitted to Cardiology 
at Calvary Mater Newcastle with more patients having acute coronary 
syndromes, and fewer patients with acute st elevation infarcts. this 
partly reflects the pre-hospital diagnosis of steMi patients by the 
ambulance service, but also reflects a worldwide trend. fortunately, 
patients are presenting earlier and there are now acute medical 
interventions which can stabilise patients before they go on to having 
angiography and angioplasty or surgery. the Coronary Care Unit (CCU) 
plays an essential role in managing these patients. average admissions 
to CCU were 58 patients per month, and 22% of these were for 
myocardial infarction. 

in a hospital with such diverse specialities, the Cardiology Unit plays 
an important role in managing patients with a cardiac complication 
of another ongoing illness. this includes assessment, diagnosis and 
treatments such as drainage of malignant pericardial effusions, as well 
as managing complex arrhythmias often requiring cardioversion and 
transoesophageal echocardiography on critically ill inpatients.

During the year, Calvary Mater Newcastle purchased a new 
transoesophageal probe, which improves the diagnostic accuracy, 
especially in assessing fine detail such as vegetations in subacute 
bacterial endocarditis. 

the hospital’s Cardiology Department is currently installing new eCG 
machines across all wards, as well as the eCG Department. these 
are new advanced machines which will provide higher quality tracings 
with preliminary diagnostics and will download them onto an area-wide 
digital database.

the Cardiology Department now provides five day echocardiography 
technician cover for inpatient and outpatient echocardiography, along 
with exercise testing to help in the assessment of patients with acute 
coronary syndromes.

the pacemaker service has been very active and patients are now 
receiving the highest quality pacemakers and defibrillators, many of 
which now have home monitoring capability.

education of staff is a high priority for the unit, as well as nursing 
students and year two and four medical students.

the peter Curteis education Grant continues to provide support for 
further education of junior medical and nursing staff and this year was 
awarded to:

•  Dr Nicholas whitehead to assist him to attend a two day 
echocardiography training course 

•  CNs anne thomson in her role as the rapid response team 
Coordinator was also successful in seeking funding support from the 
education Grant towards the purchase of a Cpr mannequin

the department was pleased to welcome Dr angela worthington 
who was appointed as a vMo to Cardiology, and replaces Dr rohan 
Bhagwandeen, who resigned after being part of the Cardiology team 
for six years.

the emergency Department continues 
to see an increase in presentations 
with 33,321 patients being treated in 
2012/13, an increase of over 1,200 
patients from last financial year. 33% of 
the patients required admission to the 
hospital. the emergency short stay Unit 
(essU) had 4,332 admissions, averaging 
361 patients per month. 

the hospital’s emergency Department 

Emergency 
Department  
and Emergency 
Short Stay Unit
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has received reaccreditation for 
advanced training in emergency 
Medicine by the australian College of 
emergency Medicine (aCeM).

the department also applied and 
secured funding for a Quality project 
officer to implement the aCeM quality 
framework. the quality framework 
consists of clinical, educational 
training, research, administration and 
professional profiles. By reviewing, 
developing and implementing these 
profiles, we will develop a quality 
culture within the emergency 
Department, thus continuing to 
provide a high standard of patient 
focused care.

this year, the emergency Department 
saw the introduction of a specialised 

resuscitation nurse position, whose 
primary role is to be responsible 
solely for the care of the patient 
requiring complex acute care. this 
ensures patients that require the most 
urgent and complex care are provided 
with a 1:1 nurse-patient ratio.

New equipment for the department 
this year included: the Glidescope 
(enhancing intubations), fluid warmer, 
treatment chairs, new vital signs 
machine, springfusors (medication 
delivery device), lifepak 15 (portable 
cardiac monitor), difficult airway 
trolley and CaDD solis pumps (patient 
controlled analgesia). these pieces of 
equipment will enable the department 
to ensure current and best practice 
for all our patients. 

the department continues to strive 
towards the National emergency 
access target (Neat) set by the 
Nsw Ministry of Health. 84% 
of presentations (that were not 
admitted), were seen, treated and 
either admitted to essU, transferred 
out or discharged. the emergency 
Department aligned the fast track 
model of care as per the Ministry of 
Health. this model of care enables 
the department to expedite the 
provision of care for non-complex 
or single system injury patient 
presentations.

the emergency Department and 
essU continue to have high staff 
retention.
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Intensive Care Unit
activity in the intensive Care Unit 
(iCU) continues to be high with 392 
admissions, of which 68% were 
mechanically ventilated, an increase 
of 11% on the last financial year. 
average occupancy for the iCU was 
84%. the majority of admissions 
come directly from the emergency 
Department. 

once again the biggest impact on the 
iCU workload this year has been our 
leading role on the rapid response 
team which provides the response 
to clinical emergencies throughout 
the hospital. there were 789 rapid 
response team calls this year, an 
increase of 160; with 93% patients 

remaining on the ward after the team 
had administered care.

the iCU continues to be an active 
member of the aNZiCs Clinical 
trials Group participating in several 
multicentre, international research 
projects. the 6th point prevalence 
study Day has been completed and 
this provides baseline data on which 
future trials can be formulated. 

the multicentre trial CHest 
(comparing saline to starch for fluid 
resuscitation) has been published 
and has changed practice around the 
world. Nephro-protect (determining 
if supplemental protein protects 

kidney function) is complete and 
we have commenced aDreNal 
(hydrocortisone in septic shock) 
and transfuse trials. the research 
coordinators for these trials, 
suzanna vale and irene Bailey, have 
again been complimented by the 
trial coordinators on the exemplary 
manner they have managed these 
projects at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 

this year the iCU welcomed 
Narelle Hall to the position of iCU 
administrative assistant. Narelle 
replaces frances o’Connor who has 
taken up a position in the Quality 
office.
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Alcohol and Drug 
Clinical Services 
Unit 
while accreditation, Neat, Nest and 
activity Based funding have dominated 
the health landscape over the past 
year, providing a quality service to 
patients remains the alcohol and Drug 
Unit’s priority.

our small multidisciplinary team (5.5 
fte) provided assessment, counselling, 
treatment and support on more 
than 5,400 occasions in 2012/13. 
in addition, we provided 1,200 
consultations to inpatients of other 
teams at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
the alcohol and Drug Unit also offers 
counselling and support to family and 
friends of people with alcohol and drug 
problems and remains one of the few 
places that provides this specialised 
service across Nsw.

Clinical activities also continue with 
education to staff, other health 
professionals and all of our staff are 
involved in teaching undergraduate 
students encompassing medicine, 
nursing and psychology disciplines.

research has included involvement in 
reviewing and applying the australian 
treatment outcome profile (atop) for 
drug and alcohol treatment. this is in 
cooperation with HNelHD Drug and 
alcohol services, and the Ministry of 
Health, Mental Health and the Drug 
and alcohol office. we have also 
participated in cannabis, nicotine and 
opioid related studies with drug and 
alcohol services across the district.

other activities have included quality 
committees with the Ministry of 
Health, traffic offenders program, 
rMs interlock program, conference 
presentations and working with 
probation and parole.

finally, we said goodbye to our long-
standing administrative assistant trish 
Naylor, who after more than 15 years 
with the unit, has commenced her 
retirement. staff and patients will miss 
her; however, we have been fortunate 
to find a fantastic replacement in 
sandra Mcleod. 

the main focus for the coming year 
(apart from patient care) will remain 
activity Based funding, especially 
how this will apply to outpatient and 
consultation-liaison services. this will 
be a challenge for us all.

Service Number of Patients Seen Occasions of Service

Consultation-liaison psychiatry inpatients 1046 1997

palliative Care inpatients 67 83

psycho-oncology outpatients 336 1041

Staffing
the department provides specialist psychiatric consultation for all inpatients at 
Calvary Mater Newcastle.

the Department of Consultation-liaison psychiatry has the following staff, 
who provide specialist psychiatric consultation for inpatients at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle: senior staff specialist psychiatrist and a/Director, prof G Carter; 
CNC, Jenni Bryant; sessional vMo psychiatrist to palliative Care, Dr p ang; 
two psychiatric registrars (seconded from HNeMHs on six month rotations); 
and an administrative officer, ashleigh Muirhead.

the department has an outpatient psycho-oncology service which is staffed by: 
vMo psychiatrist, Dr p ang; Clinical psychologist, Dr louisa Gianacas; Clinical 
and Health psychologist, Dr Ben Britton; Clinical psychologist, louise Nelson; 
research Manager, Dr Kerrie Clover; Clinical psychologist, sophia wooldridge 
(covering Dr Gianacas maternity leave).

the department also staffs a part-time Clinical psychologist for the adolescent 
and young adult (aya) service as part of the Hunter and Northern Nsw youth 
Cancer service, which provides clinical services to oncology outpatients and 
inpatients aged 15-25 years:  Clinical psychologist, Karen Matthews.

the department also includes a suicide prevention program, a clinical research 
unit funded from the Burdekin initiative and administered through the HNeMHs: 
 research Manager, sarah Hiles.

Student Placements
the Clinical psychology program: professional Doctorate level, stewart oxley.

Department of Consultation-Liaison 
Psychiatry
During 2012/13, the Department of Consultation-liaison psychiatry was 
extremely active in clinical, research, teaching and community education activity.

Clinical Activity
During 2012/13, the Department of Consultation-liaison psychiatry consulted 
on 1,046 individual inpatients, delivering over 2,080 occasions of service. Main 
referral groups were: Departments of Clinical toxicology and pharmacology 
(677 referrals), General Medicine (139 referrals), emergency (68 referrals), 
oncology (46 referrals), palliative Care (67 referrals) and surgery (20 referrals).

the psycho-oncology service accepted referrals of over 336 individual patients 
and delivered over 1,041 occasions of service to outpatients through its 
clinic. the psycho-oncology service provided input to the following oncology 
multidisciplinary teams (MDts): haematology, head and neck cancer, lung 
cancer and breast cancer. 

Calvary Mater NewCastle  •  review of operatioNs • 2012/2013  • 11



Clinical Toxicology and Pharmacology
the Department of Clinical toxicology 
and pharmacology provides an 
inpatient service for the management 
of patients with deliberate, 
recreational, accidental or other 
self-poisoning and envenomation. 
as well as these activities, there 
is a substantial commitment to 
undergraduate and post graduate 
teaching and an ongoing active 
research program.

for the management of deliberate self-
poisoning, the department combines 
with the Department of Clinical 
liaison psychiatry as the Hunter area 
toxicology service. Clinicians in the 
department also manage patients with 
adverse drug reactions and complex 
medication issues and provide a 
consultative service to the Hunter 
New england local Health Network in 
Clinical pharmacology. 

professor ian whyte serves as Deputy 
Chair of the Quality Use of Medicines 
Committee of the John Hunter 
Hospital and is Chair of both the area 
Quality Use of Medicines Committee 
and the Clinical trials subcommittee 
of the Hunter New england Human 
research ethics Committee. 

associate professor Geoff isbister 
provides expertise to the ethics 
Committee of the Children’s Hospital, 
westmead. 

Members of the department published 
30 articles in refereed journals in 
2012/13 and were successful in 
grants worth more than $7.2 million. 
the clinicians in the department also 
contribute to the National poisons 
information Centre roster and support 

the Hunter Drug information service.

in 2012/13 there were 884 
admissions to the Hunter area 
toxicology service, 60 more than last 
year. the average age of patients’ at 
admission was 36.0 years and the 
proportion of females was 63.12%. 
there were 787 individual patients 
responsible for these admissions, of 
which 583 were new to the service. 

seventy patients had more than 
one admission during the financial 
year. of the admissions, 787 were 
for deliberate self-harm. in addition, 
there were 31 spider and snake bites, 
52 recreational drug overdoses, 
six iatrogenic poisonings and five 
accidental overdoses. 

the majority of the patients (99.10%) 
were admitted via the emergency 
Department (eD). almost all (91.52%) 
were discharged from the emergency 
short stay Unit (essU) and only 4.07% 
were discharged from the toxicology 
ward. for those whose whole hospital 
stay was in the eD or essU, the 
median length of stay was 16.8 hours; 
5.21% were admitted to the intensive 
Care Unit with a median length of stay 
of 22.1 hours. 

of the deliberate self-harm 
patients, 95.3% received timely and 
appropriate psychiatric assessment. 
68.1% of patients were discharged 
directly home, while 27.95% were 
transferred to a psychiatric hospital 
and there were no deaths. the 
average number of admissions per 
day was 2.42 and the median length 
of stay for the deliberate self-harm 
patients was 17.1 hours. this length 

of stay is substantially less than the 
length of stay for poisoning at other 
hospitals in Nsw and australia.

Dr Colin page continues to give the 
department his time by taking on-call 
every Monday night from Brisbane.

the department has set up and runs 
a website at http://www.wikitox.org. 
this is an international collaboration 
of toxicological information and 
teaching resources. through this 
site the department runs a Diploma 
of Clinical toxicology degree course 
which is internationally subscribed.

the Hunter Drug information service 
(HDis) continues to provide current, 
up-to-date, clinically relevant and 
unbiased medicines information and 
therapeutic information to health 
professionals within the Hunter 
New england area. the area-wide 
therapeutic drug monitoring service 
continued to expand in 2012/13. 

tiffany Bichard returned to the John 
Hunter Hospital pharmacy in December 
2012. Kate o’Hara continues to 
work 24 hours per week while also 
completing her phD in neonatal 
pharmacology at the University of 
Newcastle. yee Ching Ng, a past team 
member, joined the service for three 
months, while felicity prior was on long 
service leave. Bree parks commenced 
a 12 month contract as a Grade 1 
pharmacist in february.

a total of 617 enquiries were received 
during the 12 month period:
•  the largest category of enquiries 

was ‘adverse drug reactions’
•  the largest proportion of health 

professionals asking enquiries was 

12 •  Calvary Mater NewCastle  •  review of operatioNs  • 2012/2013 



Pharmacy
Calvary Mater Newcastle pharmacy staff, through dedication and team 
work, remain committed to the delivery of a quality pharmacy service to 
patients of Calvary Mater Newcastle.

the pharmacists are involved in:
• Counselling patients/patient carers about medications
•  working with clinicians to ensure the quality use of medicines within 

the hospital
•  Delivering medication-oriented talks to specialist interest groups within 

the community

staff members actively participate in hospital, area and national 
committees, specialist clinical teams and numerous clinical trials.

pharmacy maintains its involvement in the National Medication safety 
initiatives and participates in the periodic audits associated with the 
National inpatient Medication Chart.

following a collaborative pilot study between Calvary Mater Newcastle 
pharmacy and the University of Newcastle pharmacists, the hospital now 
conducts regular tutorials with final year medical students. the purpose 
of these tutorials is to improve both the clinical understanding and 
mechanical processes of prescription writing in junior medical officers. 
the University of Newcastle is now resourcing this commitment by 
Calvary Mater Newcastle pharmacists. 

the introduction of ClinConnect has resulted in our pharmacy accepting 
more pharmacy students for supervised placement.

the oncology and haematology pharmacy staff continue to work with the 
Hunter New england information technology support and Development 
Department on the electronic chemotherapy chart (the aria project). 
the aria system is proving beneficial to all users (doctors, nurses, 
pharmacists, clerical and administrative staff) and is being rolled out 
across other hospital departments.

on 25 March 2013, the pharmacy commenced a pilot program aimed at 
evaluating the patient outcomes for those patients receiving medication 
counselling focussing on oral chemotherapy. although this project 
received external funding, it is hoped that the position can continue. 
other Nsw cancer centres are also following with interest, the outcomes 
of this pilot program.

four Calvary Mater Newcastle pharmacy technicians successfully 
completed the Certificate ill course in Hospital/Health services pharmacy 
support. Grants from the Nsw state training authority were allocated to 
the technicians to facilitate this undertaking. the same technicians are 
hoping to undertake the Certificate iv course in Hospital/Health services 
pharmacy support in the new year.

the pharmacy remains committed in its support for medical research and 
is actively involved in more than 50 trials. the introduction of a Clinical 
trials pharmacist in 2012 has helped to better coordinate the pharmacy’s 
involvement in the many clinical trials undertaken at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle.

‘hospital pharmacists’
•  69% of enquiries were known to be 

patient related
•  79% of respondents used the 

information provided in patient 
management

•  57% of responses were provided 
via the telephone

while the provision of therapeutic 
information in response to enquiries 
continues to be the main priority 
of the service, additional activities 
pursued included:
•  therapeutic Drug Monitoring service
• examination of Nurse practitioners

the annual Customer satisfaction 
survey was conducted. the following 
comments were made: 
•  “Excellent service and well-

tailored to the clinical situation.”
•  “We really appreciate the support 

we are given by HDIS.”
•  “Excellent as always.”
• “Always very helpful.”
•  “Timely appropriate information 

provided.”
•  “HDIS is an invaluable service 

and I use it very frequently. 
Even though CIAP offers good 
resources, sometimes there is 
no substitute for the knowledge, 
timely responses and research 
capabilities of the HDIS.”

•  “Timely, helpful and appropriate. 
Very professional.”

•  “Excellent timely advice that will 
be useful.”
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Oncology
Medical Oncology

as a department, Calvary Mater 
Newcastle has one of the largest and 
most efficient Medical oncology Units 
in Nsw. the department saw 1,225 
new patients and 22,895 service 
events in the 2012/13 financial year.

we welcomed Dr fiona Day as 
our new staff specialist and 
through her university appointment, 
with coordination of oncology 
undergraduate teaching, we hope 
to strengthen our liaison with the 
University of Newcastle. with her 
assistance, the Career Medical officer 
(Dr wilson pujawiyatna), the oncology 
Nurse practitioner (Gillian Blanchard) 
and the aNZ Breast Cancer fellow 
(Dr Nick Zdenkowski), we have been 
able to achieve for the first time 
appropriate benchmarks for seeing 
new patients. 

with the introduction of new 

drugs, the medical management of 
melanoma patients has expanded and 
an increasing number of new patients 
are being seen by our Medical 
oncologists. 

two of our advanced trainees, 
Dr pinky Baghi and Dr Krishna 
rachakonda, will complete their 
training at the end of 2013. we wish 
them well in their careers. the Nsw 
state wide interviews for advanced 
training in medical oncology is now 
established and hopefully this will 
result in non-metropolitan centres 
appointing trainees on a more 
constant basis. 

the Medical oncology Clinical trials 
Unit remains busy. Currently we 
have 19 actively recruiting clinical 
trials covering a range of cancer and 
cancer stages. there are 40 studies 
in follow-up phase and seven studies 

in various stages of ethics and 
governance review. our unit has 85 
patients on trial treatments and 174 
patients on follow-up. 

the Day treatment Centre, with Kelly 
randall as the Nursing Unit Manager, 
has recruited a number of new 
nursing staff members over the past 
12 months. the centre is currently 
treating on average 40 patients per 
day and provides education and 
support to patients and their carers 
regarding their treatment. 

with some pilot funding we have 
employed a pharmacist, ian Howitt, 
to educate, supervise and safely 
deliver oral chemotherapy and 
biological agents to our cancer 
patients. we hope to establish this 
position as an integral part of our 
efforts to minimise the complications 
of our treatments. 
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oncology; Director of research 
for the aNZBCtG; and professor 
of surgical oncology, University of 
Newcastle.

the aNZBCtG supports the joint 
appointment of a postgraduate fellow 
in Breast Cancer Clinical research, 
with a fellow being appointed in early 
2013.

Current clinical trials encompass 
prevention and treatment of all 
stages of breast cancer, as well as 
many translational research studies. 
this collaboration involves more 
than 610 researchers, 84 institutions 
and 61 unique clinical trials in 
australia and New Zealand; and, 
1,641 investigators globally through 
the international Breast Cancer 
intervention studies (iBis, Cancer 
research) london UK; Breast 
international Group (BiG) Brussels, 
Belgium; the international Breast 
Cancer study Group (iBCsG) Bern, 
switzerland and amhurst, Usa; and 
the National surgical Breast and 
Bowel project (NsaBp, pittsburgh, 
Usa). 

the most recent trial commenced 
is apHiNity, which tests a new 
‘targeted agent’ called pertuzumab. 
other trials are investigating local 
treatment and new systemic 
approaches for all stages of breast 
cancer. the large international 
prevention trials, iBis ii and iBis ii 
DCis, will be analysed in late 2013. 
Current emphasis is on development 
of neo-adjuvant (pre-surgery) trials 
and discovery of bio-markers for 
treatment response and side effects.

the aNZBCtG has contributed to 27 
publications in the past 12 months. 
Members have also contributed to 
the early Breast Cancer trialists 
Collaborative Group (eBCtCG), oxford; 
the international Breast Cancer study 
Group (iBCsG), Bern, switzerland; 
and the st Gallen international expert 
Consensus in the primary therapy of 
early Breast Cancer 2013, st Gallen, 
switzerland. publication highlights 
included the atlas trial showing 10 
years of tamoxifen is more effective 
than five years for women with hormone 
sensitive breast cancer and the overview 
of all tamoxifen prevention trials.

Radiation Oncology

the radiation oncology Department 
remains one of the largest 
radiotherapy centres in New south 
wales with five linear accelerators, 
while also providing a busy 
gynaecological brachytherapy service 
and superficial radiotherapy for skin 
cancers. 

the department offers outpatient 
treatments from 7:30am to 7pm 
weekdays treating over 140 patients 
a day as well as caring for inpatients 
and running an acute after hours 
service. we see about 2,000 new 
patients per year and this rate has 
begun to stabilise over the last few 
years as new centres open in the 
North Coast and Central Coast. 

over the last 12 months, the 
department has undergone major 
practice changes; firstly in the 
implementation of complex conformal 
treatments with image-guidance, 
secondly in improving workflow 
quality with electronic processes 
and paperless documentation 
and thirdly, in building a stronger 
research infrastructure. to meet 
these priorities, the workforce has 
expanded across most disciplines, 
including more oncologists, medical 
physicists, radiation therapists and 
researchers. 

the implementation of new 
technology has progressed well over 
the last 12 months. increasingly, 
patients are benefiting from intensity 
Modulated radiotherapy (iMrt) 
which is a form of complex conformal 
radiotherapy, now up to 25% of 
radical treatments. another form 
of conformal treatment, volumetric 
Modulated arc therapy (vMat) has 
been piloted since November 2012 
across different tumour sites. we 
are currently treating about two to 
three vMat plans per month for 
predominantly pelvic treatments. the 
benefit of these complex treatment 
plans is to minimise dose to adjacent 
normal structures, thus both reducing 
toxicity and allowing dose escalation 
to improve tumour control rates.

in april of this year, 4Dimentional 
Ct planning was implemented by a 

persisting challenges include: meeting 
the demand of the increased cancer 
rates with our existing workforce, the 
use of soft and temporary funding for 
various positions, physical space, and 
excessively long waiting times to start 
chemotherapy. 

Oncology Nurse Practitioner
Gillian Blanchard has completed 
her second year as oncology Nurse 
practitioner. in 2012/13 Gillian 
reviewed 1,132 patients, a significant 
increase on the previous year’s 
numbers. Gillian’s role continues to 
be an accepted part of the oncology 
service at Calvary Mater Newcastle.  

Gillian was an invited guest 
on an expert panel discussing 
chemotherapy toxicity for the 
australian College of Nurse 
practitioners National Conference. 
funding for Gillian’s role has been 
maintained by supporters of Cancer 
and port waratah Coal services.

Community support for Nurse 
practitioners has been enhanced with 
the offer of the pink frangipani trust 
scholarship, established in memory 
of sandra rufo. the scholarship 
provides funding support for a nurse 
enrolled in university studies leading 
to a Nurse practitioner qualification. 
yolande Cox was the successful 
applicant and she is enrolled in the 
Master of Nurse practitioner at the 
University of Newcastle.

Surgical Oncology

the Department of surgical oncology 
and the australia and New Zealand 
Breast Cancer trials Group (aNZBCtG) 
coordinate national and international 
collaboration in randomised clinical 
trials for women diagnosed with or at 
risk for breast cancer. this national 
activity is an important resource for 
Calvary Mater Newcastle. 

the Department of surgical 
oncology and the trials Coordination 
Department of the aNZBCtG are 
located in the NBN telethon Mater 
institute on Calvary Mater Newcastle 
campus. professor John forbes is 
Director, Department of surgical 
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project team led by Claire Dempsey 
radiation oncology Medical physicist 
(roMp), toby McGuire radiation 
therapist (rt) and perry Hunter (rt). 
the 4Dimentional Ct scan captures 
the position of the tumour during 
all phases of the respiratory cycle 
therefore improving targeting of any 
tumour whose location is affected by 
organ motion. this technology allows 
for the implementation of a highly 
targeted treatment called stereotactic 
ablative radiotherapy (saBr). saBr 
gives large radiation doses in a few 
fractions to small tumours such as 
inoperable lung nodules and spinal 
metastases resulting in improved 
cancer control rates. the project 
team for lung and spine saBr 
includes: Jenna Hogan (rt), Dr trish 
ostwald (roMp), tamara Malloy 
(roMp) and Dr Jane ludbrook, Dr 
Geetha Govindarajulu and Dr sanjiv 
Gupta. this should be clinically 
available by the end of 2013. 

Concurrently, another stereotactic 
radiotherapy working group 
comprised of peter pichler (rt), ekta 
Jhala (roMp) and Dr Mahesh Kumar, 
has been implementing stereotactic 
cranial radiotherapy for small volume 
brain tumours. this treatment should 
be available by october 2013, 
beginning with palliative treatment of 
brain metastases. 

Major steps have been made over 
the past year towards streamlining 
workflow processes across the 
department by increasing the use 
of electronic data transfer and 
documentation. this change was 
facilitated by the major software 
upgrades of radiation oncology 
aria, our patient information system 
and eclipse, the treatment planning 
system. the upgrade period in april 
ran smoothly due to great effort of 
our it team of ray sheather and 
Hetal shah, as well as annette skov 
(rt), Jackie patterson (rt) and Dr 
trish ostwald (roMp). the North 
west Cancer Care Centre is sharing 
our aria system thus this team and 
other staff have provided significant 
assistance in setting up the new 
radiotherapy service in tamworth. 
it was a pleasure to see that they 
treated their first patient by July.

another major change has been that we 
have restructured the department into 
eight multi-disciplinary ‘tumour streams’ 
comprising of oncologists, rts, 
roMps, nurses and researchers. these 
streams aim to foster subspecialist 
expertise in a specific tumour site 
such as lung or genitourinary and to 
promote collaborative research. this 
initiative was driven by our new Director 
of research and senior radiation 
oncologist, associate professor Jarad 
Martin. with the goal of strengthening 
research infrastructure, we welcomed 
Dr Mary-Claire Hanlon in the new 
position of research Coordinator, and 
research administrative officer, Nicole 
Matthews.  

Under the supervision of associate 
professor Martin and the University of 
Newcastle, Dr Michael Jones is our 
first radiation oncology registrar to 
participate in a new program combining 
radiation oncology training with a phD, 
and his current project assesses the role 
of Mri in determining tumour response 
in the treatment of anal cancer. 

participation of our rts in research 
is growing and this year we have two 
rts who have dedicated time for 
projects. peter pichler is conducting a 
study assessing Mri-based prostate 
radiotherapy and Haylea richardson 
is investigating Mri-based planning 
for oropharyngeal cancer. another 
addition to our research team is Mri 
physicist associate professor peter 
stanwell who is helping optimise our 
use of Mri in radiotherapy planning.  
associate professor stanwell was 
awarded the 2012 emerging research 
leader by the Deputy vice-Chancellor 
(research), University of Newcastle.

there are three major ongoing 
research groups which deserve 
special mention. firstly, our 
department continues a close 
relationship with the tran-tasman 
radiation oncology Clinical trials 
Group (troG), whose head office is 
located at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
associate professor Martin is the 
new clinical liaison for troG and Dr 
Mahesh Kumar has joined the troG 
new technology committee. troG 
recently won the 2013 ‘innovation 
in Cancer Clinical trials’ award 
at the Nsw premier’s awards for 

outstanding Cancer research. 

secondly, the medical physics research 
team under professor peter Greer 
(roMp) continues to be productive 
and consists of two post-doctorate 
researchers and five phD students, 
primarily focusing on verification of 
accurate dose delivery. this year a 
prestigious grant was awarded to 
professor Greer’s team by the american 
society for radiation oncology to 
improve safety and quality in iMrt. 

thirdly, the prostate Cancer trials 
Group led by professor Jim Denham, 
senior radiation oncologist, 
conducts raDar, a large troG 
multi-centre trial, which is studying 
the effect of the duration of hormonal 
treatment with radiotherapy for 
localised prostate cancer. five year 
results are being published and 
our department hopes to continue 
support of this trial so that 10 year 
survivorship data will be available 
in 2017. in recognition of his 
commitment to prostate cancer 
awareness and research, professor 
Denham received a Nsw Government 
community service award this year.  

training is an important commitment 
for our department and we currently 
have six radiation oncology registrars 
and two medical physics registrars. 
we also supervise numerous under-
graduate medical, radiation therapy, 
medical physics and nursing students 
throughout the year. 

Congratulations to our medical 
physicists Kristie Harrison, alex 
wilfert and tamara Molloy who 
studied hard to receive aCpseM 
professional accreditation and 
to pejman rowshanfarzad and 
todsaporn fuangrod who received 
phD and Mphil degrees respectively 
in medical physics. 

The Hunter and Northern 
NSW Youth Cancer Service 

the Hunter and Northern Nsw youth 
Cancer service (yCs) completed 
phase 1 funding in June 2013 and 
has successfully secured a further 
four years of phase 2 funding 
(until 2017). this will ensure that 
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adolescent and young adults (aya) 
aged 15-25 years with a cancer 
diagnosis receiving treatment at 
Calvary Mater Newcastle, and 
elsewhere in the Hunter New england 
local Health District and Northern 
Nsw, have access to an age 
appropriate multidisciplinary team. 

the yCs team consists of a lead 
Clinican (adolescent oncologist), 
Clinical Nurse Consultant, social 
worker and Clinical psychologist. the 
yCs is a virtual service and the team 
provide face-to-face support, email, 
phone and outreach to tamworth and 
taree as well as tele-health options.

the yCs team have attended two 
national yCs service meetings hosted 
by Canteen in sydney and Melbourne  
in 2013, to assist with linking with yCs 
nationally and to generate strategies 
to address some of the unmet needs 
of this vulnerable cohort of patients. 
we successfully nominated one of 
our local consumers who has been 
invited to take part in the National yCs 
patient advisory Board.

with the financial support of Calvary 
Mater Newcastle auxillary ‘Cancer 
Carers’, we were able to purchase 
ipads for our aya patients to utilise 
while receiving their inpatient or 

outpatient treatment and bar fridges 
for the medical oncology ward so that 
the patients could bring in their own 
food and keep it refrigerated. 

the yCs has published a number of 
yCs newsletters over the past year 
including patient stories and photos. 
as many as 12 of our ayas have 
shared feedback from their starlight 
foundation wishes arranged by our 
team social worker. 

Haematology

all staff continue to perform 
admirably despite the stress created 
by increasing demands on fixed 
resources. the population catchment 
for the services offered by the 
Haematology Unit continues to 
increase and the burden of disease 
is increasing even faster due to an 
ageing population. 

Outpatient Referrals
the number of newly referred 
patients continues to increase every 
year. in 2012/13, 1,400 new patients 
were referred to the Haematology 
Unit. these patient referrals are all 

reviewed by the 4.4 fte Clinical 
Haematology staff specialists and 
then triaged for urgency to be 
seen or written or phone advice is 
provided to the referring Gps and 
specialists. Despite an efficient 
triage process, this incorporates 
categorising patients into urgency 
codes to meet each patient’s 
clinical need. the average waiting 
time for outpatient appointments is 
eight weeks. patients with non-life 
threatening illnesses are required 
to wait up to 10 months for an 
appointment. it is suggested to the 
referring doctors that they should 
consider sending their patients to 
be seen by haematologists in the 
Central Coast or sydney.

Outpatient Services
over 8,600 patient visits occurred 
through the outpatient Clinics for 
2012/13.

ward 5D, a 10 chair day ward, ran at 
greater than 100% occupancy with 
over 8,800 patient visits. venesection 
clinics run by the Haemophilia Clinical 
Nurse Consultant managed over 990 
patients in 2012/13. 300 patients with 
bleeding disorders were also managed. 
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Inpatient Admissions
the demand on inpatient beds 
for high dose chemotherapy and 
stem cell transplant is similarly ever 
increasing, 1,820 inpatients were 
managed during the 2012/13 period. 
Under the leadership of Nursing 
Unit Managers (NUMs) wendy 
Johnson and Debbie Carr, the staff 
in wards 5C (inpatient) and 5D (day 
ward) managed the throughput of 
patients, by maximising efficiency 
with pre-admission work up, and 
early discharge and outpatient follow 
up. the occupation of inpatient beds 
is often in excess of 100%. Many 
treatments that other units administer 
as inpatients are administered as 
outpatient therapy at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle to avoid treatment delays.  

planned chemotherapy delays are 
measured as per triage categories 
over 2012/13. triage Category 2 
(admit within 48 hours) have improved 
from 60% - 92%.

Haemopoietic Stem Cell 
Apheresis, Cryopreservation and 
Transplant Services
this unit also has an ever increasing 
workload with 31 transplants and 
39 patients for stem cell harvests. 
the additional workload of providing 
the service has come with increased 
mandatory reporting requirements 
and documentation. the staffing for 
this service is now inadequate to 

meet demand and an application for 
enhancement will be made in the 
2013/14 period.

Consultative Roles for HNELHD 
and the NSW Ministry of Health
a number of our haematology 
staff play an indispensable role for 
the Ministry of Health and Hunter 
New england local Health District 
(HNelHD) by providing their 
expertise. these include:

•  HNelHD transfusion Committee: 
Dr sandra Deveridge

•  HNelHD Cancer Network 
leadership Committee: wendy 
Johnson, NUM and professor 
philip rowlings, Director

•  HNelHD Haematology stream 
is chaired by professor philip 
rowlings and coordinated by 
wendy Johnson

•  Nsw BMt Network of the agency 
for Clinical innovation (aCi): 
louisa Brown CNC, transplant 
Coordinator is Co-Chair

•  Nsw BMt Network of the agency 
for Clinical innovation, Chair of 
the autologous BMt Committee: 
professor philip rowlings

•  Nsw Haemophilia Network: Dr 
Michael seldon

Teaching
Medical students from both the 
University of Newcastle and University 

of New england are taught in both 
the inpatient and outpatient setting, 
as well as by provision of lectures 
and tutorials at the University of 
Newcastle Callaghan campus.

Nursing and allied health 
undergraduate students from the 
University of Newcastle are trained on 
the inpatient ward.

the staff specialists contribute 
to medical registrar training and 
preparation for the royal australasian 
College of physicians Clinical 
examinations. 

Personnel
Haematology advance trainee 
registrars, Dr asma ashraf and Dr 
iram Naaz were both successful 
in their morphology and written 
haematology examinations for the 
royal College of pathologists for 
australasia.

additionally, in May 2013 there was a 
trial implementation in ward 5CD of 
a Clinical Nurse educator, employed 
part-time, as part of the strategy to 
meet the new nursing award changes.

Donations from the Community
Haematology Department:

$61,000.00 – armstrong solicitors on 
behalf of a grateful family for care to 

two family members.
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Palliative Care 
Leader of the Year Award, 
Professor Katherine Clark
we are very proud as a department to 
highlight the great leadership of our 
Medical Director, professor Katherine 
Clark, who was named leader of the 
year at the 2013 Hunter New england 
excellence awards.

professor Clark continually 
demonstrates excellent leadership 
in all aspects of her dual clinical 
and managerial roles as the HNe 
Director of palliative Care and 
Medical Director of palliative Care, 
Calvary Mater Newcastle. professor 
Clark is recognised in the field of 
palliative care, through her substantial 
involvement in research, teaching 
and education. she has a strong 
ethos regarding the implementation of 
patient centred care using validated 
evidence-based practice backed up 
by reputable and rigorous research.  
professor Clark is also the recipient of 
the 2013 palliative Care Nsw award 
for significance in palliative Care 
research. well done professor Clark!

Innovations led by the Department 
of Palliative Care
•  trialling a track and trigger 

observation chart for the dying in 
acute wards

•  implementing an evidence-based 
assessment and referral tool for 
specialist palliative care

•  implementing a redesigned 
palliative care oxygen request form 
that includes an algorithm of other 
approaches to palliating dyspnoea

•  implementing a revised approach 
to allowing nurses to safely 
manage breakthrough pain for 
people in their own homes 

•  Updating nurse’s competencies to 
be as evidence-based as possible 

•  ongoing development of online 
care planning systems using the 
aria program to streamline and 
promote clinical communications 

•  engagement in palliative Care 
outcomes Collaborative (pCoC) 
phase and symptom severity 
studies to validate specialist 

palliative care assessment tools   

•  Update medical education 
program with the development and 
implementation of a web-based 
learning tool

•  Development of a palliative care 
pathway for the HNe Health 
pathways project 

20th Anniversary of the Hospice
the Department of palliative Care is 
celebrating an important milestone 
this year, with the 20th anniversary 
of the opening of the hospice on 26 
March 2013. an afternoon tea was 
held in honour of the date, with past 
and present staff, volunteers and 
patients marking the occasion. the 
support of various community groups 
was also recognised, in particular, the 
contributions of the NBN telethon in 
building the facility.

National Standards Assessment 
Program (NSAP) Collaborative 
Project: Support for Carers
the role of caregivers for patients with 
terminal illness is acknowledged as 
crucial in effective care. as a result, 
the identification and support of 
caregiver needs during this time and 
throughout bereavement is paramount. 
support for caregivers needs to be 
provided in a way that is based on the 
individual’s needs, experience, culture 
and social environment.

in order to provide this, the 
department has nominated a 
multidisciplinary team to join a 
national collaborative. the aim of 
this group is to improve assessment, 
planning and delivery of support to 
carers of palliative care patients. this 
project commenced in april 2013, 
with planned completion in a 12 
month period. 

PEPA
the program of experience in the 
palliative approach (pepa) provides 
an opportunity for non-specialist 
nurses to spend time in a specialist 
palliative care department to 

gain insight into assessment and 
management of patients with complex 
symptoms. the department has been 
a supporter of this program for many 
years, and this has been ongoing 
in the past twelve months. the 
experience has also been beneficial 
for clinical staff in gaining experience 
in teaching and leadership. 

Nursing
Nursing staff have been engaged in 
various projects to improve clinical 
outcomes and support patients and 
families linked to the service. our 
reputation for excellence in education 
and clinical support for medical and 
nursing undergraduates has been 
maintained throughout the past year, 
with the service regularly nominated 
as a desirable placement for clinical 
learning. to support this learning 
and staff professional development, 
funding has been allocated for the 
integration of a new Clinical Nurse 
educator position within the unit.

within the community palliative care 
outreach team, significant work 
has been undertaken to improve 
assessment and management of 
breathlessness; improve first contact 
when referred to the service; ongoing 
integration of information technology 
for recording patient data; and policy 
and procedures to support effective 
management of medications at home.  
links with aged care and community 
services are becoming strengthened 
with increasing engagement of 
community providers including: 
non-government organisations, 
nurse practitioner for aged care and 
palliative care, community nursing 
and general practitioners.

the inpatient unit is also undergoing 
change with implementation of new 
models of communication and care. 
within the past 12 months, changes 
to clinical handover have been 
embraced by staff to improve quality 
of shared information and inclusion 
of patients and families in care 
planning. Nurse-led projects have also 
been undertaken to improve patient 
information and nursing care planning. 
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Aboriginal Health 
Kathryn Bensley, our aboriginal 
Health liaison officer has seen 
increased activity in her role visiting 
patients in their homes, hostels and 
hospitals and by providing support 
to dying people of aboriginal descent 
and their families.

NaiDoC week celebrations are held 
each July to celebrate the history, 
culture and achievements of aboriginal 
and torres strait islander people 
in our country. the Department of 
palliative Care celebrated NaiDoC 
week this year with an afternoon tea, a 
presentation by professor Clark and a 
didgeridoo recital.

Fig Tree Program 
throughout 2012/13 the ‘fig tree’ 
Day Hospice program underwent a 
service review. recommendations 
from this review led to the expansion 
of the program and the development 
of a range of initiatives previously 
not available to patients and 
carers. these were developed in 
collaboration with palliative care 
allied health staff and colleagues from 
oncology at Calvary Mater Newcastle.

New services options were 
implemented and evaluated during 
the 2012/13 period. Central to 
the expanded program, was the 
development of a new model of 
practise, now known as the allied 
Health assessment team. all patients 
referred to the palliative care service 
now undergo an allied health screening 

and assessment process, and are 
invited to attend the ‘patient, carer 
and family information and support 
program’ held every Monday from 
10am – 12pm at Mercy Hospice. it 
aims to provide people living with a 
life limiting illness and their families, 
opportunities to develop skills and 
knowledge, increase awareness 
of options and supports available, 
and gain new perspectives to live 
and function as well as possible. 
the program covers a range of 
topics including: palliative care - 
understanding change and uncertainty; 
mobility, physical wellbeing and falls 
prevention; understanding pain and 
pain medicines; management of patient 
fatigue and breathlessness; services, 
supports, and practical strategies for 
managing at home.

the fig tree ‘live well’ Day program 
continues to run every thursday for 
palliative care patients from 9:30am – 
2:30pm.

Allied Health 
although the allied health work force 
is small, the amount that this group 
contributes, not only to the clinical 
care of palliative care patients, 
but also to education and support 
of other health professionals, is 
substantial. this group is consistently 
engaged in university teaching and 
programs such as pepa. 

other notable contributions include 
a program established for social 
workers across HNe by fiona Harris, 

social work, entitled ‘Grief and loss 
professional Challenges’. this project, 
undertaken by teleconferencing, aims 
to bring together clinicians who face 
the challenges of caring for people on 
a regular basis. this project has been 
very well received and will continue.  

this year was also remarkable 
for the fact that Mary ringstad, 
Manager pastoral Care, and fiona 
Harris successfully organised a very 
successful workshop ‘Compassion and 
presence’ held in Newcastle. this two-
day workshop was so successful that 
not all those who applied were able to 
attend, and the feedback from those 
who did attend was outstanding.

 

Bereavement
the Departments of palliative Care and 
pastoral Care remain very committed to 
the ongoing care of family and friends 
after they have experienced the death 
of a person close to them. together 
with the support of the bereavement 
volunteers, the service led by fiona 
Harris and Mary ringstad, has made 
contact with approximately 600 people 
in the last 12 months to offer support. 
support is offered to people in a number 
of ways which includes small group 
sessions, walking groups and individual 
support for those with complex needs. 
the annual bereavement service was 
attended by more than 70 people. it is 
wonderful to see how this group has 
raised awareness of the importance 
of bereaved support and as a result, 
there continue to be requests made for 
education around loss and grieving.   
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Medicine
like other areas of the service, 
palliative Care specialists and 
vMos remain busy with clinical 
work as well as education 
and teaching responsibilities. 
two projects that particularly 
require mention include the 
revision of the 5th year medical 
student rotation, led by Dr 
erica Cameron-taylor and the 
development of a palliative care 
pathway for the HNe Health 
pathways project.       

Donations
once again, the generosity of 
the Newcastle community has 
provided significant support 
for the ongoing work of the 
palliative Care Department. 
Donations received for the year 
have totalled $38,200.00 and 
included significant donations 
from: Jesmond lions Club, the 
Criterion Hotel, the Ko Classic 
surf Competition, Mr alan 
Jones and the Graduate Nurses 
association. 

with these donations, equipment 
and education has been provided 
for the service, including new 
sofa beds for patients staying 
overnight with relatives and a 
specialist communication course 
for all departmental staff to assist 
with enhancing effective and 
therapeutic interactions with 
patients and carers.

Melanoma Unit
the Newcastle Melanoma Unit continues to be a 
centre of excellence for diagnosis, treatment and 
management of primary and secondary melanoma. 

throughout the year, the unit provided services to 
patients from a wide geographical area, including 
Hunter New england local Health District, other 
health districts and interstate.  

the unit had another year of high activity with 
over 450 new patients seen in 2012/13. the 
unit’s medical staff provided 2,500 consultations 
and the nursing staff provided approximately 
5,000 consultations for the same period. we 
have farewelled some long term staff and also 
welcomed some new staff.

the Hunter Melanoma foundation also continues 
to be committed to providing education and 
support to the community to raise the awareness 
of melanoma. they can be seen regularly 
throughout the Hunter - at the beach, schools, 
tocal and other community events. 

the launch last year of the Check Mate campaign 
targeting men over the age of 50 for early 
detection of melanoma has continued. 

the Hunter Melanoma foundation also recognised 
the 20 year service of Jenny Noblet as executive 
officer – quite a milestone! a surprise party was 
held in recognition.

the medical treatment of melanoma has shown 
great promise. this year has seen the registration 
of a new drug with the pBs for the treatment of 
metastatic melanoma. this drug is the first to be 
registered for many years. the drug is ipilimumab, 
otherwise known as yervoy. the expertise of sue 
Collins CNC and Donna owens CNs were utilised 
by Bristol Myers squibb in the development of 
the educational package for patient and clinician 
material. in recognition of their expertise both sue 
and Donna have also been identified as support 
mentors for other nurses around australia who 
are caring for patients being treated with yervoy. 
the second drug of interest that has been listed 
with the tGa is the oral drug Dabrafenib which is 
expected to be submitted to the pBs. 

we also continue to see patients for consideration 
of clinical trials. the unit has been involved in the 
phase 2 study of the pD1 antibody – a very new 
and exciting drug which shows great promise.

the nursing staff have attended several 
conferences on melanoma as well as conferences 
on wound care, and workshops on the new 
treatment drugs for melanoma with international 
speakers. these have all been useful and 
informative.

altogether it has been an interesting although 
busy year!

Education
education remains a strong 
focus of our unit and 
regular education sessions 
are provided by our CNCs 
ludmilla sneesby and lynette 
Campbell. palliative care 
topics presented include end 
of life care, symptom and pain 
management, and adopting a 
palliative approach to care.

various staff from residential 
aged care facilities, Newcastle 
tafe, University of Newcastle, 
Calvary Mater Newcastle and 
John Hunter Hospital are able 
to benefit from the educational 
and practical support from our 
department.

the CNCs are involved in the 
Hunter aged palliative Care 
Nurses (HapCN) link nurse 
education days which provide 
a nexus between specialised 
palliative care and aged palliative 
care. they remain involved in the 
Hunter area palliative education 
Nurses Network (HapeNN) 
with bi-monthly face-to-face 
meetings and monthly education 
sessions via teleconferencing.

Dr Cameron-taylor also 
successfully published a book 
aimed at providing a common 
sense introduction to caring 
for palliative patients. the 
book is now being used within 
our teaching programs and 
has been advocated for use 
for all health care workers.
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Surgical Unit
surgical Unit, ward 4B, provides care 
for general and oncological surgical 
patients. the stomal therapy wound 
Management, acute pain service and 
the McGrath Breast Care Nurse are 
managed from the surgical Unit.

tess richards, stomal therapy wound 
Manager, was successful with an 
application to Nsw Ministry of Health 
for an innovation scholarship of 
$15,000.00. this money is to be utilised 
hospital wide to promote pressure injury 
prevention and awareness with the 
purchase of a banner and production of 
a DvD on ‘pip the primate’.

rebecca Chenery, the McGrath 
Breast Care Nurse, in collaboration 
with the Breast Cancer Coordinator 
and social work, commenced the 
Hunter Breast Cancer information 

support Group for patients with 
breast cancer. the group meets 
weekly for a period of six weeks 
with guest presenters providing 
information and support. the group 
features a recurring program that 
runs three times per year.

Jeanene Douglas, the acute pain 
service (aps) CNs, transferred to 
John Hunter Hospital in June to 
commence a research position. we 
thank Jeanene for her progression of 
the aps over the last three years and 
wish her well in her new role. 

surgical services welcomes new 
surgeon Dr adeeb Majid who 
commenced in June.

ward 4B received funds from Dry 
July to refurbish our patient lounge 
area. Now our patients and relatives 

Speech 
Pathology
a major achievement for the 
speech pathology Department 
in the last year has been the 
establishment of the radiation 
oncology speech pathologist 
position. this will enable 
Hunter outpatients with head 
and neck cancer to receive 
comprehensive assistance 
with their swallowing and 
airway difficulties. this has 
also been possible through 
the involvement in the hospital 
tracheostomy team, with 
presentations provided at the 
tracheostomy education Day 
and safe working practices/
protocols implemented.

the department continues 
its activity in evidence Based 
practice (eBp) through 
participation in local working 
groups. staff also contributed 
to eBp in the HNelHD 
by organising the annual 
presentation by the various 
Nsw groups, held with the 
cooperation of the University of 
Newcastle.

other projects throughout 
the year have included a 
review of the referral system 
for inpatients, particularly 
from emergency and Medical 
assessment Unit (MaU), as 
well as the daily caseload 
management system. the 
department continues to 
participate in the head and 
neck support group and the 
Dysphagia Quality assurance 
program.

plans for the next year include: 
continued development of the 
service to radiation oncology 
patients, including student 
participation to increase 
the knowledge base for this 
complex caseload. also, the 
support available for generalist 
clinicians working with these 
patients needs to be enhanced. 
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The Clinical Ethics Committee
as a Catholic hospital, Calvary Mater Newcastle adheres to the philosophy 
of Catholic social teaching on the dignity of every human life. all clinical 
practice is underpinned by the Code of ethical standards for Catholic 
Health and aged Care facilities in australia by Catholic Health australia 
(CHa). the Clinical ethics Committee has a number of functions including 
the review of research applications to be conducted, the provision of 
education to hospital staff on ethical issues, the provision of advice 
for hospital staff on decisions that have ethical considerations and the 
organising of ethics forums on issues of relevance to staff across the 
hospital.    

the appointment in august 2012 of Dr rosemary aldrich as the Director of 
Clinical services (Medical) enabled her to assume the chair of the hospital’s 
Clinical ethics Committee. the committee maintains a sound and productive 
relationship with the ethics and Governance office at Hunter New england 
local Health District (HNelHD) and the Hunter New england Human 
research and ethics Committee (HNeHreC). regular contact and close 
cooperation between the two organisations has ensured that monitoring 
of the application and approval protocols for research at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle has been efficient and effective.

Reproductive Risk Statement
after seeking advice from member hospitals such as Calvary Mater 
Newcastle, CHa has adopted a form of words for the reproductive risk 
statement to be included in the participant information and Consent form 
(piCf) in all applications for research involving human participants in all 
Catholic facilities in australia. the wording is very similar to that developed 
by our own Clinical ethics Committee.

all research which carries a risk to an unborn child must contain a 
reproductive risk statement within the piCf. this statement advises 
research participants on the precautions they need to take in relation to the 
unborn child by avoiding pregnancy.  

Ethics Forums
During 2012/13 ethics forums were organised for Calvary Mater Newcastle staff:

• euthanasia - fr Kevin McGovern

•  advance Care planning – Bernadette tobin 

•  who decides who gets what care and how – panel discussion

Members of the Clinical Ethics Committee 
•  Dr Rosemary Aldrich, Director of Clinical services (Medical), CMN - 

Chair
•  Mr Kevin Mulligan, Director of Mission, CMN
•  Dr Tim Stanley, staff specialist, iCU, CMN; Chairman Medical staff 

Council, CMN 
•  Dr John Cavenagh, staff specialist, palliative Care, CMN 
•  Ms Elizabeth Milligan, Deputy Director of social work, CMN
•  Mrs Mary Ringstad, pastoral Care Manager, CMN
•  Fr Barry Tunks, Chaplain, CMN 
•  Mr Wayne Dever, lawyer, MrM lawyers, Mayfield  
•  Mr Dennis Carroll, theologian and ethicist: school of theology and 

religious studies, University of Newcastle
•  Ms Paula Watts, Community representative

the Clinical ethics Committee meets on the fourth wednesday of each 
month.

can relax and feel at home and be 
provided with some comfort during 
their hospital stay. 

essentials of Care (eoC) has been 
successfully utilised for many projects 
on ward 4B. 

eoC is a practice development 
approach that allows nurses to 
celebrate the good care that 
they provide, as well as identify 
opportunities to improve care even 
further. the eoC program evaluates 
the person centred nature of the care 
environment and is clinician driven with 
management support. ward 4B was 
selected by HNelHD for provision of 
funds to release eoC facilitators to 
progress current projects.
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Medical Centre

the Medical Centre clinical activity 
continues to grow with various 
departments increasing their number 
of consultants or increasing clinical 
activity, with new sub-speciality 
clinics commencing, taking clinical 
activity to 93%.  

the Department of Medicine 
farewelled professor aidan foy 
whose services to our patients 
and community was outstanding. 
professor foy was a strong and 
vocal patient advocate who initiated 
many changes within the Department 
of Medicine during his years at 
Calvary Mater Newcastle.  Dr 
Michael Hayes is welcomed as the 
new Director to the Department of 
Medicine and is already advocating 
good, strong patient focussed 
initiatives for future practice in the 
Medical Centre.   

the surgical Clinics have also seen 
some changes over the last 12 
months with Dr David logan and Dr 
stephen Cox leaving to be replaced 
by Dr adeeb Majid who will enhance 
the surgical clinics in the Medical 
Centre. 

radiation oncology has seen an 
increase to its department with Dr 
Mimi teiu and Dr swetha sridharan 
commencing full-time positions. 
welcome.

Calvary Mater Newcastle’s partnership 
with the Cancer Council Nsw, through 
the Cancer Council information 
Centre located by the Medical Centre, 
continues as a strong supportive 
network available for our patients and 
their relatives. this service creates 
an avenue for patients to drop in for 
a chat, obtain information brochures 
and support group contact details as 

provided by the Cancer Council Nsw.  

the Medical Centre staff have 
been working closely with Hunter 
Medicare local to facilitate and 
support the transition of the Gp 
access after Hours (GpaaH) clinic 
from its former site in Hunter street, 
Newcastle, to the Medical Centre. 
this service will enhance access to 
the local community for out of hours 
medical care, as well as providing 
an alternative avenue for some 
emergency Department patients to 
be seen more rapidly by attending the 
GpaaH clinic in the Medical Centre.  

the Medical Centre has continued 
participating and facilitating the 
provision of services and utilisation 
of the Medical Centre consult rooms 
and equipment for the annual Clinical 
examinations held by the royal 
australasian College of physicians.   

24 •  Calvary Mater NewCastle  •  review of operatioNs  • 2012/2013 



Occupational Therapy
the occupational therapy 
Department throughout 2012/13, 
has continued to provide a range of 
services across the hospital, as well 
as participate in quality activities and 
student supervision.  

the Meditation Group, for oncology 
patients and their carers, has 
continued to meet weekly and 
receives positive feedback from 
all those who have participated. 
this group is facilitated jointly by 
occupational therapy and social work, 
and has been held nearly every friday 
morning since 1998.

the oncology loan pool has provided 
aids of daily living to scores of patients 
to help them and their families manage 
serious illnesses in their own home 
environment. expansion of this service 
continues to be a goal of occupational 
therapy staff, especially in the area of 
pressure care management.

the occupational therapy team 
have participated as a group in the 
Dry July campaign to assist with 
hospital fundraising.

staff have continued their 
professional development throughout 
the year with attendance at 

conferences, inservices and local 
education days, including:
•  australasian allied Health 

and Nursing smart strokes 
Conference

•  Hunter occupational therapy 
education Day

• allied Health research forum
•  whole Body symposium and 

Conference
• resilience workshop
•  rural occupational therapists 

forum
• Haematology education Day

occupational therapy week, 
held each year in the last week of 
october, was celebrated with a 
special breakfast at Coco de Mondo 
Café in Cooks Hill and throughout 
HNelHD, staff participated in 
Hunter occupational therapy week 
celebrations.

staff have participated in projects 
such as the HNeaHs ot oxygen 
transportation working Group and 
equipment education Group.

During May 2013, occupational 
therapists attended the local 
Disability expo as well as sydney’s 
bi-annual access expo at rosehill.

Nutrition and 
Dietetics
in 2012/13 the Nutrition and Dietetics 
Department was involved in the 
care of 2,815 inpatients and 1,930 
oncology outpatients, with nearly 
8,250 occasions of service combined. 
each day there ranged from 28-59 
hospitalised patients whose nutrition 
care was managed under a dietician. 
the most common nutrition diagnoses 
being inadequate oral intake (32%) 
and malnutrition (25%). 

implementation of some key 
components of the Nsw Nutrition 
Care policy commenced; a 
standardised malnutrition screening 
tool was adopted in March 2013 
and changes to dietetic practice to 
standardised nutrition assessment 
and utilise international Nutritional 
Diagnosis terminology (iDNt) were 
put in place. 

the department contributed to a wide 
range of consumer based education 
programs, which included education 
for breast cancer support groups, the 
drug and alcohol lifestyle program, 
the falls prevention program and 
the multidisciplinary Head and Neck 
Cancer support Group. the Nutrition 
and Dietetics Department also 
collaborated with the physiotherapy 
Department to run eNriCH, a healthy 
lifestyle skills program aimed at 
providing cancer survivors skills to 
make lifelong changes to their diet 
and physical activity. 

the Nutrition and Dietetics Department 
continues to support University 
of Newcastle dietetic students on 
clinical placement. in 2012, 100% 
of students completed the program 
successfully and the work carried out 
by our supervisors was commended by 
both the students and the university. 
a student project titled, ‘Nutritional 
status, food related Behaviours and 
Nutritional support of Haematology 
inpatients’ enabled us to learn more 
about this patient group.
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Physiotherapy
the physiotherapy Department with 
the financial support of the Hunter 
New england local Health District 
(HNelHD) has developed a DvD 
to help patients with learning skills 
to assist in the management of 
lymphoedema. along with the DvD, 
the department is moving towards the 
instigation of a telehealth education 
clinic for rural patients and clinicians 
to conduct initial education about 
lymphoedema and management 
principles for the condition. with the 
support of the Nsw Cancer institute 
we will purchase telehealth equipment 
and work towards further telehealth 
consultation for rural patients over the 
coming year.

the physiotherapy Department, 
in conjunction with the University 
of Newcastle and the hospital’s 
radiotherapy Department, are piloting 
a study looking at pelvic floor function 
in males undergoing radiotherapy 
and hormone treatment for prostate 
cancer. this study has been 
supported with funds from abbott 
laboratories.

to continue supporting survivors of 
cancer the radiotherapy Department 
has funded the physiotherapy 
Department and Nutrition and 
Dietetics Department to run a 

Cancer Council supported eNriCH 
program. this program aims to 
educate patients who have completed 
treatment on diet and exercise to 
promote improved long term health. 

the physiotherapy Department has 
recently reviewed the Condition 
Group which is run twice a week 
to better address the target group 
outcomes. this program also aims to 
provide physical recovery from cancer 
treatment, weight loss and support 
to those with chronic pain issues. 
a second falls exercise Group was 
established recently due to the 
increasing demand for places. review 
of past data was very positive, 
showing good outcomes for clients 
that attend and complete a program, 
which was very rewarding also for the 
dedicated staff that run the group.

the department will soon see the 
retirement of a longstanding (20 years 
service) and well-loved member of 
staff, Judith Hickey. we wish her all 
the best for her retirement and would 
like to recognise the time and effort 
she has committed to lymphoedema 
management at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle.

the physiotherapy Department 
is continuing to promote cancer 
services through presentation 
of lectures and tutorials to 
physiotherapy students at the 

University of Newcastle on the role of 
physiotherapy in cancer care. 

additionally, the department 
continues to support education within 
the hospital and patient support 
groups, with assisting in programs 
such as the leukaemia foundation 
lymphoma Day and the Breast 
Centre support Group. 

Social Work
the members of the social work 
Department continue to provide a 
comprehensive social work service to 
patients and their families and carers 
across all clinical areas. 

social work staff work with the 
medical, nursing, allied health 
and support staff of Calvary 
Mater Newcastle to provide a 
multidisciplinary approach for patient 
care. social workers in particular 
are responsible for attending to 
emotional and psychosocial needs 
of patients and their carers/families. 
social work staff provide assessment, 
individual and group programs and 
services. these may include direct 
counselling related to dealing with 
adjustment issues, trauma, grief and 
loss, the provision of specialised 
meditation and support group 
programs, discharge planning, social 
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support services, advocacy with 
government and other agencies 
to access services.

social work staff have continued 
to provide representation of 
the department, allied health 
and the hospital on a range 
of committees both within the 
hospital and with a range of 
community groups including: 
social work in aged Care, 
social workers in emergency, 
HNe stroke interest Group, 
Newcastle Domestic violence 
Committee, Haemophilia social 
workers and Counsellors Group, 
Clinical oncology National 
oncology Group, Cosa Neuro 
oncology Group, Cancer Council 
regional advisory Committee, 
Nsw Cancer institute Neuro 
oncology interest Group, 
australia and New Zealand 
Counsellors Group Haemophilia 
australia, and social workers in 
intensive Care forum.

staff have also contributed 
to a range of conferences, 
workshops and forums, by 
participating in organising 
committees and presenting 
papers. we have been active in 
the development and updating 
of resources including input 
in the development of patient 

resources for those living 
with malignant brain tumours, 
paediatric guidelines in 
radiotherapy, resources to assist 
in the care of patients who have 
suffered strokes, resources for 
patients who have dementia, 
and bereavement resources in all 
clinical areas of the hospital.

the social work Department 
continues to provide assistance 
to the Nsw Cancer Council 
in the training of volunteers 
working in the Nsw Cancer 
Council information Centre on 
level 3 of the hospital.

social workers are actively 
involved in facilitating a range 
of group programs within the 
hospital including Head and 
Neck Cancer support Group, 
Meditation Group, Bereavement 
walking Group, Hunter Breast 
Cancer information Group and 
the falls Management program. 
support is also offered to the 
Newcastle Mater prostate 
Cancer support and education 
Group, leukaemia foundation 
support Group and the Brain 
tumour support Group.

Pastoral Care
the pastoral Care Department continues to 
engage with the wider community in conversation 
about our work as health care professionals in 
caring for people who are ill. this has been both 
challenging and satisfying and has resulted in our 
work continuing to be acknowledged as being at 
the forefront of pastoral care.

staff have been involved in specific education 
programs such as:
•  Clinical pastoral education (introductory 

and Basic Units) - supervisor and presenter
•  rN Certificate in palliative Care - presenter
•  Cert iv in the  palliative approach - 

presenter
•  pepa education days – presenter, including 

a day at Quirindi in the Upper Hunter
•  New Graduate Nurses education, CMN - 

presenter
•  University of Newcastle Medical students 

(yrs1, 5) - specific units on palliative care, 
spirituality, and loss and grief

•  University of Newcastle occupational 
therapy students (yr 1, yr 2 and yr 4) – 
communication; grief and loss, spiritual care 
at the end of life.

presentations in educational forums/
workshops/seminars:
•  CUeHl ethics forum – ‘vulnerability in 

acute Care’
•  palliative Care volunteers training program: 

westlakes palliative Care       
•  education in Grief and loss to community 

care staff at UnitingCare Hunter 

a highlight of this year was organising and 
hosting an education day on spirituality and 
ageing with a focus on those with dementia. 
we advertised widely throughout the Hunter 
and received over 200 applications for the 
70 places. we extended the capacity to 
120 but many still missed out. the group 
comprised of health professionals from acute 
care, aged care, community care and private 
practice. others included lay and ordained 
ministers from various faith traditions. it was a 
successful day and encouraged us to initiate 
more days in this area of interest. 

as executives of our local professional 
association spiritual Care australia, 
we continued to provide opportunities 
for members to participate in regular 
peer supervision as well as professional 
development, including: inter-faith dialogue-
current developments; sexuality and our 
professional life; grief and loss; ‘Breaking 
the silence’ sexual abuse by members of the 
clergy, the voice of victims. 
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Health Information Services and Information Technology
a number of significant changes 
have occurred in patient activity 
reporting and data collection systems 
over the past year due to the active 
implementation of activity Based 
funding for public hospitals in Nsw, 
the increasing reliance on data to 
assist management of services in an 
environment of very limited resources, 
to explain Kpi results, and to improve 
quality of care by identifying potential 
areas of improvement. 

Non-admitted patient data collection 
and reporting systems across the 
organisation have been under scrutiny 
and undergone much change over the 
past 12 months. Most allied health 
departments were greatly affected by 
the mandate that only HNe approved 
electronic feeder systems would be 
accepted for activity Based funding 
data submissions. New systems had 
to be developed and adopted, and 
some good results are already being 
seen in terms of meeting reporting 
requirements, as well as improved 
departmental data collection and 
reporting ability in some cases. the 
aria (medical oncology) system 
reports are yet to be fully completed. 

inpatient data collections have 
always been heavily relied upon to 
describe casemix and throughput 
characteristics. even greater demands 

are now placed on the integrity and 
timeliness of all aspects of the data, 
including inpatient coding for DrG 
assignment, which is now directly 
linked to funding. Clinical coding staff 
continue to achieve excellent results 
in turnaround times supported by 
the Clinical information Department, 
and are also increasingly involved in 
wider activities which include clinical 
meetings, accessing wider resources 
and formal auditing processes.

the hospital joined the Health 
roundtable, which operates across 
australia and New Zealand to allow 
benchmarking of hospitals. exemplar 
sites are identified, and at DrG level, 
with the opportunity to contact other 
members to discuss what processes 
they deploy to achieve seemingly 
better results, or to simply have a look 
internally to determine areas for review. 
Health information staff are currently 
in the process of developing a routine 
review and reporting mechanism for the 
six monthly reports, and the system is 
able to be easily accessed by all staff.

a National intranet project titled 
Calvary Connect has commenced. 
it is expected that over the next 
two years the hospital will move its 
current localnet into a new host 
environment, which in all probability 
will be Microsoft sharepoint, which 

is already partially in use in radiation 
oncology using the hospital licence. 
this will be a dedicated and very 
important piece of work when it really 
starts to progress.

information technology (it) staff have 
been busy supporting the growing 
number of devices and applications, as 
well as working through the complexities 
of determining how to improve Disaster 
recovery systems and redundancy 
generally. eHr systems growth, which 
involves greater connectivity, as well as 
increasing data storage requirements, 
along with wider security threats to it 
systems globally, leave no room for 
complacency in the management and 
deployment of it services whether these 
be corporate or clinical.  

an important area of ongoing increased 
focus will be how to better manage the 
duality of clinical information systems 
between paper and electronic records, 
which is proving an increasing burden 
for Clinical information Department 
staff. ensuring all of the information 
for the patient is easily accessible, 
whilst progressively implementing the 
various aspects of electronic records, 
is a very significant challenge. the 
Clinical application portal (Cap system) 
development continues to add content 
via feeds from other systems such 
as aria, in an effort to increase the 
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Human Resources
Calvary Mater Newcastle pay office staff are in the final stages of 
implementing the new Chris 21 payroll system. Much work has been done 
with staff from other little Company of Mary Health Care (lCMHC) facilities, 
lCMHC National office and other public and private healthcare providers. 
as a result, Chris 21 has been adjusted and augmented to ensure it can 
meet the challenges of a payroll driven by the requirements of both the 
Nsw Ministry of Health and the federal industrial relations system. parallel 
runs of the new and old payroll systems are expected to be completed by 
september 2013 with full implementation of Chris 21 to occur shortly after.

the lCMHC national finance 1 information system is now the primary 
repository for work Health and safety (wHs) data used to calculate 
performance measures, including lost time injury frequency rates, medical 
treatment injury frequency rates, lost time injury severity rates and the 
number of environmental inspections completed. there has been a 
slight increase in lost time injuries (ltis) recorded across Calvary Mater 
Newcastle in the 2012/13 financial year compared to the historic low level 
recorded in the 2011/12 financial year.

the ‘Being for others’ staff survey, designed by Best practice australia 
(Bpa), overseen by the Human resources Department and undertaken 
every two years, was completed in March 2013 to seek feedback from 
employees on a range of issues. Calvary Mater Newcastle achieved a 
response rate of 63% (an improvement of 2% on the response rate from the 
last survey conducted in 2011) and slightly higher than the organisational 
response rate across lCMHC of 60%. five Calvary Mater Newcastle work 
units achieved a 100% response rate. early indications are that there has 
been an across-the-board improvement in staff satisfaction. 

this improvement continues the trend recorded in the previous three survey 
periods and is a reflection of the commitment of all employees to improving 
their workplace, and their relationships with their managers and other staff 
members. the hospital is now moving to the next phase of analysis of 
results and the formulation of action plans with a new online tool called the 
‘Calvary action log’. in readiness for the next survey, there will be a move 
to electronic completion of surveys. in addition to ’going green’ this method 
will enable easier, more streamlined distribution and more accurate and 
timely calculation of the response rates. 

Changes have been made to the National Criminal record Check (NCrC) 
and working with Children Check (wwCC) processes that are undertaken 
during the recruitment process. NCrCs are now submitted to the Catholic 
Commission for employment relations which acts as an agency on 
Calvary Mater Newcastle’s behalf. wwCCs are now confirmed online 
directly with the office of the Children’s Guardian. all new employees who 
might work with children are required to have independently obtained a 
wwCC clearance from the office of the Children’s Guardian prior to being 
appointed. this has resulted in the wwCC process being expedited as the 
wwCC only requires confirmation of clearance (with the checking process 
having already been completed at the time the employee applied for their 
clearance).

as a result of the Commonwealth Government tightening the rules relating 
to the issuing of 457 visas, the Human resources Department is now 
providing more detail to the Department of immigration and Citizenship 
when recruiting clinical staff from overseas.

the Human resources Department has also been actively involved in 
preparations for the full accreditation audit due in august 2013 and has 
worked closely with other departments to ensure a successful outcome.

amount of information accessible via a 
single point of entry.  

patient services and medical 
centre frontline staff continue 
to professionally greet patients 
and visitors, as well as manage 
complex systems requirements for 
the collection and processing of 
data. these staff support much of 
the higher level work of the wider 
department at entry point, and play 
a large role in ensuring data integrity 
and timeliness, as do staff in the 
Clinical information Department.

an upgrade of the hospital’s 
switchboard did not go without some 
problems. other HNe sites experienced 
similar issues which evidenced a spirit 
of cooperation across sites which was 
greatly appreciated by all. Moving 
forward, a challenge for staff is the need 
to more effectively manage telephone 
costs, which have skyrocketed in recent 
times in the advent of reliance on mobile 
phones and accessing data across 
telephone networks.

our motto going forward will need 
to be work smarter not harder as 
staff in all areas of Health information 
services already process high 
workloads, and activity levels set to 
further increase based on trends to 
date, as well as new systems being 
implemented progressively.
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Quality
the Quality Department comprises 
three staff: Quality Manager; patient 
safety officer; and administrative 
assistant. Between these staff, the 
Quality Department assists in the 
effective coordination and oversight 
of the accreditation, quality and risk 
management activities for Calvary 
Mater Newcastle.

Calvary Mater Newcastle will undergo 
hospital-wide accreditation against 
the australian Commission for safety 
and Quality in Health Care 10 National 
safety and Quality Health service 
standards (NsQHss) in august 2013.

the NsQHs standards focus on areas 
that are essential to improving patient 
safety and quality of care and include: 

1.  Governance for safety and Quality 
in Health service organisations 

2. partnering with Consumers 

3.  preventing and Controlling 
Healthcare associated infections 

4. Medication safety 

5.  patient identification and 
procedure Matching 

6. Clinical Handover 

7. Blood and Blood products 

8.  preventing and Managing pressure 
injuries 

9.  recognising and responding to 
Clinical Deterioration in acute 
Health Care 

10.  preventing falls and Harm from 
falls

the first two standards set the 
overarching requirements for effective 
implementation of the remaining 
eight standards. for each standard, 
numerous criteria and elements specify 
precise requirements for processes 
and evidence on a number of functions 
around Governance, partnering with 
Consumers, training, implementation 
and audit (Gptia).

three aCHs surveyors will undertake 
a five day site visit from the 26 - 30 
august 2013.

Calvary Mater Newcastle staff carry 
on with the good work and continue 
to follow the four-step approach to 
keeping our patients safe and well: 
prevent, identify, respond, and notify.

Public Affairs and Communications
the public affairs and Communications Unit has been busy during 2012/13 
with a focus on continuing our community and stakeholder engagement 
through all manner of activities, both in the hospital and the community.

the unit has led a very public campaign in 2012/13 called Clean Hands? 
which was designed to create awareness of hand hygiene and increase 
compliance to the five Moments of Hand Hygiene across the hospital. since 
its launch, compliance rates have steadily increased as the campaign evolved 
with new posters, life-sized decals, regular communication and promotion 
to staff and patients. During 2013/14, public relations will continue to work 
closely with Ceo Greg flint and the infection prevention and Control team to 
ensure the success of the campaign for continued improvement in safety and 
wellbeing for our patients.

in a high priority project for 2012/13, the public affairs and Communications 
Unit was an integral member of the research website working Group in the 
development of the hospital’s new research website: www.calvarymater.org.
au/research. in this capacity, the unit worked closely with researchers/staff, 
stakeholders and the design agency in the development, design and population 
of the website, as well as organising the website’s launch event held at Newcastle 
Museum in June. the website, the Caring edge of research, paths a new way 
forward for profiling our researchers and giving them a presence on a world-wide 
stage. it also introduces a new platform for making online donations for research 
at the hospital for the first time. already there are plans to coordinate fundraising 
initiatives through this new avenue of making donations for 2013/14.

fundraising remains a significant cornerstone in the public affairs and 
Communications Unit, taking donations totalling over $60,000.00 through 
fundraising events coordinated through our office, general donations and 
special awareness days. we also enjoy working in partnership with Calvary 
Mater Newcastle Hospital auxiliary, who raised $198,443.26 in financial year 
2012/13. our sincere thanks and appreciation.

we continue to work closely with departments across the hospital to 
promote health care initiatives and promotional days. this has successfully 
further enhanced our stakeholder (staff, visitors and patients) and community 
engagement.

the wig service saw in excess of 120 patients in 2012/13, providing at 
least $20,000.00 worth of complimentary wigs. this volunteer run service is 
overseen by our unit, yet its success is attributed to Kim rossi and Margaret 
Bottrill who run the service twice a month for patients, all of whom have 
their wig fitted and shaped to best suit them. this service remains important 
to Calvary Mater Newcastle and tangibly represents our values of Healing, 
Hospitality, stewardship and respect.

Calvary Mater Newcastle continues its relationship with Hunter lifestyle 
Magazine, with the unit making a submission each edition. the valuable 
community based relationship provides an avenue for the hospital to profile 
exciting initiatives, achievements and valuable contributions staff are making 
for the benefit of our patients and broader community.

internally, communication with staff has continued through the ever popular 
Mater Matters, with the newsletter going out to over 1,200 hospital and 
Novacare staff at the beginning of each month. the newsletter remains well 
received as an informative publication with a special emphasis on highlighting 
the achievements of our staff as well as informing them of upcoming events, 
promotions and more.

across the hospital, public relations has worked with many departments 
on the creation of posters, flyers and brochures to disseminate information 
to relevant stakeholders, both internal and external. Under the australian 

30 •  Calvary Mater NewCastle  •  review of operatioNs  • 2012/2013 



Commission for safety and Quality 
in Health Care, 10 National safety 
and Quality Health service standards 
(NsQHss), we are required to ensure 
that engagement with consumers, 
over the effectiveness of publications, 
is undertaken at every opportunity. 
this will remain a focus for 2013/14 
in the development of new collateral.

During 2012/13, we organised and 
coordinated four senior staff forums 
for senior management. these events 
continue to be interesting, informative 
and enjoyed by those who attend.

the many events, promotions, 
activities and general happenings in 
public affairs and Communiactions 
Unit is enhanced by our long serving 
and much loved volunteer, Maggie 
sulman, who is always willing, able 
and happy to help wherever she can.

2012/13 saw a different face to the 
public relations team, with Helen ellis 
replacing amber Dale, who went on 
maternity leave. Helen easily fitted 
into the team and made valuable 
contributions to everything she did, 
especially the research website project.

specifically, we are pleased to have 
been involved in the following hospital 
activities:

• the Heritage Committee 

• the research Committee 

• the Community advisory Board

•  the research website working 
Group

•  participation in the NsQHss, 

standard 2 – partnering with 
Consumers, working Group

•  the working party on transport 
and parking for cancer patients

• Clean Hands? campaign

•  assistance with the organisation 
of the 2012 Celebration of service 
awards

•  Coordinated four senior staff 
forums 2012/13

•  Coordination of fundraising events, 
for example the Great Gatsby 
movie premier

•  Coordination and involvement of 
hospital events – international 
Nurses Day, international Hand 
Hygiene Day, Dry July 2012, 
Multicultural Health week, Mini-
fields of women, auxiliary aGM, 
Daffodil Day, world’s Greatest 
shave, multiple health awareness 
days/weeks, National Bandana 
Day, Christmas carols, staff BBQ 
luncheons, Christmas Giving tree 
and more

•  Management of all hospital media 
and press releases

•  Management of hospital 
promotional material including 
brand consistency

•  attended multiple guest speaking 
engagements and cheque 
handovers

•  assistance and development 
of sponsorship and community 
fundraising opportunities with the 
auxiliary

•  Conducted a community focus 
group redeveloping the patient 
admission pack

the public affairs and Communications 
Unit would like to thank our ongoing 
donors and supporters who continue 
to make contributions to our hospital. 
there are too many to mention in this 
report, however, we individually thank 
them at the time of donation. we would 
like to take this opportunity to thank 
some key and ongoing individuals and 
businesses:

• the Ko surf Classic

•  the Kahibah Bowling Club and 
travelling Bowlers

•  Margaret pannell / Newcastle 
Buses and the state transit 
authority

• supporters of Cancer

• port waratah Coal services

•  the Harvey family Bubble and 
Bling

• the spinning Knitwits

• Mater Graduate Nurses

• Cardiff Bowling Club / Craft Girls

•  the Hermitage residents’ 
association

•  John skippen / High tea on 
Grayson

• Claire Jurd

• scott and Maree vickery

• Naomi Keir

• Mr and Mrs webber
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Calvary Mater Newcastle Auxiliary ‘Cancer Carers’
“Volunteers are paid in six figures… 
S-M-I-L-E-S.”   
Gayla LeMaire.

another year has passed of fundraising, 
friendship and frivolity for Calvary Mater 
Newcastle auxiliary ‘Cancer Carers’. 
During financial year 2012/13, the 
auxiliary remained a strong presence in 
the hospital with fundraising lolly tables 
open for trade Monday to friday and 
craft stalls held multiple times a year. 
staff continue to be highly supportive 
of these fundraising initiatives for the 
auxiliary and we are very grateful.

in september 2013, Calvary Mater 
Newcastle auxiliary will take delivery 
of a custom-made trading cabinet for 
the platt street entrance lolly table. 
this will be a wonderful investment 
for our group, and we appreciate the 
opportunity to look more professional 
at our point of sale. 

in addition to fundraising carried out 
within the walls of the hospital, the 
auxiliary continues to be very active in 
the community with many bowls days 
held, fashion parades, a new Mater 
auxiliary fete, bus tours, luncheons, 
trivia night, packing and selling 5,670 
kilograms of confectionery and more. 

the funds raised this year are a 
measure of our commitment to assist 
in the care and comfort of cancer 
patients at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
Dedicated fundraising efforts saw the 
auxiliary raise $198,443.26 after tax and 
expenses. this money has allowed for 
the purchase of vital hospital equipment. 

our total expenditure on equipment 
for the year was $178,708.45, with a 
further commitment of $148,000.00 
for equipment orders that have been 
placed.

equipment purchased by the auxiliary 
throughout 2012/13 includes:

•  video conferencing equipment 
(medical oncology) - $38,789.16

•  three steris sterilising system 
(operating theatres) - $84,000.00

•  six wheelchairs (occupational 
therapy) - $3,603.00

•  four treatment chairs (day 
treatment centre) - $22,700.00

•  97 iv poles (various wards) - 
$10,476.00

•  10 seat walkers (hospice) - 
$1,950.00

• research grant - $1,000.00

•  10 ipads and hard protective 
covers, and six fridges (adolescent 
and young adults) - $9,045.00

•  special children’s books for 
children whose parents have a 
cancer diagnosis (oncology ward) - 
$1,504.88

•  Contribution to blanket warming 
cabinet (ward 4C) - $800.00

•  three ipod touch and accessories 
(operating theatres) - $1,379.91

•  various equipment for emergency 
Department - $3,460.50

included in the equipment purchased 
was video conferencing equipment for 
the Department of Medical oncology. 
this technology allows staff to video 
conference with other hospitals to 
discuss patients’ treatment, other 
options for their treatment and 
contributes to the best care for these 
patients.

auxiliary members continue to be 
amazed at the wonderful support we 
receive from so many people, which 
includes hospital staff, patients, 
visitors to the hospital and members 
of the community.

special thanks to the following 
people for their ongoing assistance: 
public affairs and Communications 
Department – ingrid Grenell, amber 
Dale and Helen ellis; finance 
Department – lynda evans and 
Katrina thornton; David Millington’s 
team – David Millington, peter Martin, 
peter Bird and peter Hobson; hospital 
volunteers – especially Kaye woods; 
our lolly packing friends; the bowling 
clubs; auxiliary family, friends and 
members of the community.

in addition, long standing president, 
Glad Dent, retired from her position 
in 2012 and the auxiliary welcomed 
elaine wellard as the new president, 
who is doing a fantastic job. Glad 
Dent remains an active member of 
the auxiliary, including holding the 
position of vice-president.
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Heritage 
Committee
since it was founded by the 
sisters of Mercy in 1921, the 
hospital has become a significant 
landmark in the Newcastle 
region with a strong tradition of 
providing compassionate care to 
the community. this tradition has 
continued following the transfer 
of ownership to little Company 
of Mary Health Care in 2006. our 
heritage helps to define who we 
are and the Heritage Committee 
has undertaken a number of 
projects to highlight and preserve 
significant items of the hospital’s 
history and showcase important 
people who have played a role in 
it. the projects include: 

•  Duplication of the heritage 
display panels at the southern 
entrance on level 2

•  Maintaining the statues of 
Mary and Bernadette in the 
level 3 garden

•  Gaining approval from little 
Company of Mary Health Care 
for the naming of various 
rooms and courtyards around 
the hospital after significant 
people in the hospital’s history

•  the relocation of six original 
foundation stones to the staff 
recreation area to be used as 
seating

•  relocating the original copper 
cross to the roof of the new 
hospital, where it wil l be 
i l luminated at night

•  relocating the statue of Mary 
which stood above the main 
entrance of the old hospital, to 
the garden at the front of the 
hospital

Volunteers
it has been a very productive year 
for the volunteer service. our 
volunteers are engaged in a variety 
of tasks throughout the hospital and 
the hospice. some long standing 
volunteers retired in 2012 but we 
have recruited a number of new 
volunteers this year to continue to 
provide this valuable service.

there are many reasons why people 
decide to volunteer at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. some have time on their 
hands and wish to do something 
practical for those who are less 
fortunate. while others have had first-
hand experience of the compassionate 
care that staff provided to them or a 
loved one and simply wish to ‘give 
back’ in some way. 

there have also been some changes 
in the way our volunteers are 
managed including their orientation 
and training. this year, for the first 
time, all new volunteers attended 
the same orientation sessions that 
all staff are required to attend 
including mission and values, fire 
and evacuation, manual handling, 
infection control and hand hygiene. 
the orientation is followed by on-
the-job training in the unit where 
they wil l be working.  

all our staff appreciate the 
contribution that our volunteers 
make in the many tasks that they 
perform. these tasks include: 
making cups of tea for patients and 
family members, getting pil lows 
and blankets, making patient 
beds, preparing ward admission 

packs, restocking shelves, taking 
messages, escorting and guiding 
patients around the hospital, 
locating wheelchairs, spending 
time, keeping patients company, 
reading newspapers and books to 
patients, opening food packages 
and containers, to name just a few. 

position statements were introduced 
for all our volunteers this year. 
these ensure that our volunteers 
are fully aware of their roles and 
responsibil it ies and the tasks that 
they are wil l ing to undertake.     

it is always important that we 
demonstrate to our volunteers just 
how much we appreciate their 
efforts. they give up many hours 
of their time each week to care for 
our patients. our volunteers are 
regularly being recognised in the 
community for their contribution 
by being nominated for community 
awards and achievements.    

a special Mass was held during 
volunteer week to celebrate and 
thank volunteers for their presence 
in the hospital. this was followed by 
lunch in the boardroom.

our annual volunteer Christmas 
party on 14 December 2012 was 
a special occasion as it was an 
opportunity for us to show our 
appreciation for all the wonderful 
work that our volunteers do for our 
patients and their families. they 
went on a special Christmas bus 
tour of Newcastle followed by a 
buffet lunch with l ive music.
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Community Benefit
our Community Benefit program is closely tied to the work begun by our 
founder venerable Mary potter in supporting those in the community who are 
identified as disadvantaged or most in need. 

some of our activities this year included: 

•  the provision of wigs to our patients who had lost their hair as a result of 
their cancer treatment. the wigs help to raise the patients’ self-esteem and 
self-confidence and they are more able to do many of the things that we 
take for granted including shopping, visiting friends and once more feeling 
part of society.

•  assisting with subsidised accommodation in the villas for patients from 
remote rural and regional areas, who are required to come to the hospital for 
prolonged cancer treatment. without this assistance many would be unable to 
make the journey and their health would suffer further.

•  Continuing our relationship with penola House at Mayfield west which is a 
drop-in centre for newly arrived North african refugees. penola House is run by 
a sister of Mercy and a Dominican sister. it is staffed by volunteers who provide 
lessons in english, computer literacy and living skills to assist the refugees 
to gain some form of employment. By working more closely with the staff at 
penola House, we hope to be able to provide some more practical assistance 
for the refugees in 2014 by giving them some volunteer/work experience 
opportunities in areas of the hospital.

•  established a Giving tree at Christmas on behalf of st vincent de paul 
and encouraged staff to make donations of new toys, games and other 
gifts for the poorest children and parents in the community. the wonderful 
generosity of the staff enabled us to collect and donate enough items to 
completely fill over six large boxes.

•  provided a number of funerals for those patients in the hospital who died 
in poverty.  

Support Services/
Group 3 
Maintenance
support services is responsible for 
the Health and security assistant, 
the hospital porters, Couriers and 
Group 3 Maintenance.

Group 3 Maintenance has continued 
this year with the maintenance of 
all the hospitals equipment such as 
beds, trolleys, office furniture, wheel 
chairs and more.  

over the past 12 months, the Group 
3 Maintenance team has been 
responsible for the following:
•  test, tag, repair and maintain all 

Calvary Mater Newcastle Group 
3 electrical appliances. this year 
we achieved a very credible 98% 
of compliance in tag and testing - 
passing the required 95%

•  General repairs to patient oxygen, 
air and suction equipment

•  removal, relocation or disposal 
of all Calvary Mater Newcastle 
redundant equipment

•  Going offsite to test, tag and 
repair palliative care outreach 
beds at farraghers removalists 
Cardiff and in patients’ homes

we have also set up for various hospital 
functions throughout the year and have 
assisted the auxiliary with its functions. 
the maintenance team enjoys a great 
relationship with the hospital’s auxiliary, 
staff and volunteers.

this year we had a project of 
renovating 15 edith st (old radiation 
oncology offices) – painting them 
inside and out.  

support services is also responsible 
for the hospital car fleet. we tend 
to general car care, flat batteries, 
punctures, transportation booking of 
pool cars, and the purchase of new 
replacement vehicles.

our team has been kept very busy this 
year and are an important part of the 
running of Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
we enjoy the interaction with staff 
and patients and the team takes great 
pride in the work we carry out for the 
hospital, staff, patients and visitors.

scoota the Delta therapy Dog who 
visits patients in wards 5a, 5B and 4C
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Mission
our mission is to bring the healing ministry 
of Jesus to all those who are sick, dying and 
in need through ‘Being for others’. this is 
the reason why we exist and it is central to 
all of our activity at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
Mission provides us with the focus and 
direction so that we are able to provide the 
range of services that meet the needs of 
the community. all staff are witnesses to 
mission through their engagement with our 
patients, family members and visitors, as 
well as through their relationships with their 
colleagues. thus mission is exemplified by 
the commitment and action of each staff 
member in living out our values of Hospitality, 
Healing, stewardship and respect.

venerable Mary potter was the foundress of 
little Company of Mary in 1877 and it is her 
legacy that lCM Health Care continues to 
emulate. to celebrate the birthday of Mary 
potter (22 November 1847), a Mass was 
celebrated on 15 November 2012 in the Mary 
potter Chapel. this was followed by a staff 
BBQ.

Mission Education
Mission integration is an important 
component of life at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. the orientation of new staff 
includes a mission and values session 
that introduces the staff to little Company 
of Mary Health Care and our values. the 
session includes a short DvD presentation 
and an interactive segment which provides 
staff with the opportunity to discuss the 
values and to ask questions. over the 
course of the year more than 90% of staff 
were very satisfied with the session and 
found it to be educational and informative. 

Respectful Behaviour
of our four core values, respect is considered 
by many to be the most important and the 
cornerstone of our mission at Calvary Mater 
Newcastle. to increase staff awareness and 
understanding of this value, a number of 
workshops were held with groups of staff 
across the hospital on the topic ‘respectful 
Behaviour in the workplace’. the aim of these 
workshops is to help staff to appreciate the 
importance of the value of respect and its 
role in the development and maintenance of a 
happy and productive working environment; 
to raise staff awareness of what constitutes 
positive and negative behaviours and to 
provide staff with practical suggestions 
and strategies that will encourage them to 
demonstrate our values with their colleagues.
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Year in 
Review
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Activity and 
Statistical 

Information

     

 2012/13  2011/12

ADMITTED PATIENTS

total admissions (includes same Day) 15765 15456 

same Day admissions 4844 5028

average length of stay of admitted patients 3.9 3.9

Bed occupancy rate 94% 94% 

Number of Operations 3102 3193

EMERGENCY DEPARTMENT

Number of attendances (includes admits) 33321 32095

Number of admissions via emergency 11078 10416

OUTPATIENT SERVICES 312467 291431         

Major Categories 

Medicine 15511 14946           

surgery 19176 18927

Medical oncology 42097 37142

radiation oncology 66985 64608

Haematology 18025 16652

palliative Care 16571 14801

allied Health 45292 40930

other services 88810 83425

 

Total Staff Employed 30 June  951 930
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Calvary Mater Newcastle research 
Committee acts as a representative 
of all hospital researchers, providing 
a means of disseminating information 
and offering support for research 
activities. one of the goals of the 
committee is to showcase and 
promote the vast array of outstanding 
research being conducted by Calvary 
Mater Newcastle staff. this year 
the committee has worked closely 
with Ceo Greg flint and Newcastle 
innovations and contractors, tM 
ventures, to complete a thorough 
stocktake of research being 
conducted at the hospital. a total of 
24 key researchers were interviewed 
and the final report provided an 
insightful assessment of the many 
different research projects being 

undertaken. there were over 
200 clinical trials open across 12 
hospital departments, and the 
trials teams were identified as very 
impressive. in addition, nearly half 
of the departments also conducted 
laboratory-based research. 

financial year 2012/13 culminated in 
the launch of a dedicated research 
website: www.calvarymater.org.au/
research. this has been a long term 
goal of the research Committee and 
it was finally brought into fruition 
thanks to support from the Ceo and 
dedication from the public affairs and 
Communications Unit.

the website provides Calvary Mater 
Newcastle with a place to highlight 
our research achievements and 

keep in touch with our community 
supporters. Many researchers 
have already contributed to the 
site, dubbed the Caring edge of 
research, with photographs and 
biographies to give it a personalised 
touch. the research Committee will 
also maintain the site with regular 
meeting highlights and grant updates. 

the research Committee would like 
to take this opportunity to welcome 
Dr rosemary aldrich, Director of 
Clinical services (Medical), Clinical 
academic representative, who joined 
the committee in 2012/13.

Dr. lisa lincz, phD 
Chairperson

A Message from the Research Committee

Research 
and 
Teaching 
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RESEARCH GRANTS
the research Committee received nine applications 
for funding in 2013. seven of these were requests 
for solely project grant funding (requesting a total of 
$175,005.00 from a pool of $187,000.00), and four 
were eligible for equipment funding (requesting a 
total of $80,500.00 from a pool of $45,000.00 from 
the Coalfields Cancer support Group fund). only 
one project was eligible for the James lawrie Grant 
($13,700.00) and was recommended for full funding. 
overall, $148,600.00 in project and $44,500.00 in 
equipment funding was awarded. 

the reviewers recommended that only one application 
should not be funded, one should be partially funded, 
and the rest should be fully funded. the committee 
had previously voted to change the terms of reference 
for the Margaret Mitchell Grant fund from a maximum 
of $10,000.00 to allow funding of up to $20,000.00 
per grant, the number of which was subject to 
available funding. at the time of the 2012 call for 
applications, there was approximately $80,000.00 
in the Margaret Mitchell fund. thus, two Margaret 
Mitchell Grants of $20,000.00 each were awarded. 

the committee had also agreed to use money from 
the Margaret Mitchell Grant fund to top up the wig 
week Grant from $15,000.00 to $20,000.00. there 
remains $38,300.00 in the James lawrie fund and 
negligible (<$1,000.00) amounts in all other funds. any 
unused funds will be held over for allocation in a future 
year for a suitable grant. 

all grants were independently reviewed and ranked 
by three assessors, all of whom were external from 
the research Committee. in addition, the James 
lawrie Grant application was also assessed by two 
head and neck cancer specialists as per the terms of 
reference for this grant. None of the assessors were 
listed as investigators on any of the grant applications. 
all assessors agreed on the final rankings and 
determined the allocation of funds against the 
individual bequest criteria. 

The Research Committee would like to acknowledge 
and thank the assessors for their time and 
commitment to providing expert scientific reviews 
and invaluable advice for funding distribution.

SUCCESSFUL PROJECT AND EQUIPMENT 
GRANTS AWARDED FOR FUNDING BY 
RESEARCH COMMITTEE IN 2013

Wig Week Grant Fund (WW) 
Claire Dempsey, Paul Simpson, Peter Greer - 
Radiation Oncology
“Dosimetric measurement and validation of high dose 
rate brachytherapy treatments”

Margaret Mitchell Grant Fund (MM) 
Nicholas Zdenkowski, Tony Bonaventura, 
George Radvan - Medical Oncology
“treatment of pancreatic insufficiency Using Creon in 
patients with pancreatic Cancer”

Stephen Ackland, Nicholas Zdenkowski, Sharron 
Hall - Medical Oncology
“Midkine as a predictive marker in metastatic 
colorectal cancer” 

Jane Reid Harle Memorial Grant Scheme (JRH) 
Greg Carter, Jim Denham, Martin White, Ben 
Britton, Sylvie Lambert - CL Psychiatry

“Choosing active surveillance for localised prostate 
cancer: psychological adjustment and Quality 
adjusted life years - pilot study” 

Jennette Sakoff, Jayne Gilbert, Adam McClusky 
- Medical Oncology 
“targeting estrogen sensitive tumours”

Amanda Croft, Stephen Ackland, Xu Dong Zhang 
- Oncology/Immunology
“targeting pp2a to improve therapeutic efficacy of 
mutant Braf inhibitors in melanoma”

James Lawrie Grant Fund (JL) 
Aoife McGarvey, Pauline Chiarelli – 
Physiotherapy
“Maximising shoulder function following accessory 
nerve neurapraxia after neck dissection surgery”

Coalfields Cancer Support Group (CCS) 
Greg Carter, Jim Denham, Martin White, Ben 
Britton, Sylvie Lambert - CL Psychiatry
“Choosing active surveillance for localised prostate 
cancer: psychological adjustment and Quality 
adjusted life years - pilot study”

 Madhu Garg, Jennette Sakoff, Stephen Ackland 
- Medical Oncology
“essential High pressure liquid Chromatography 
(HplC) equipment to analyse Cancer patients 
samples”

DEPARTMENTAL RESEARCH

RADIATION ONCOLOGY AND 
MEDICAL PHYSICS
the importance of the interface between patient-
centred, clinically-driven and theory-focussed 
research was highlighted in 2012/13 by the 
Department of radiation oncology investing in 
new positions of Director of research (assoc prof 
Jarad Martin), research Coordinator (Dr Mary-Claire 
Hanlon) and research administrative officer (Ms 
Nicole Matthews). this has led to research which can 
often be tumour site specific and clinically-driven, 
but always multi-disciplinary and collaborative. the 
research being conducted by the Department of 
radiation oncology is often multi-site; however, 
this strategic focus on investigator-led research is 
encouraging more cooperation with local researchers 
and neighbouring health services, such as those sites 
in Gosford and tamworth. 

funding awarded in 2012/13 totalled approximately 
$2.5 million; much of this leading to, or building on 
the 36 publications in peer-reviewed journals. a 
total of six phD students are currently enrolled at 
either the University of Newcastle or the University of 
Queensland and are engaged in studies in medical 
physics and medicine. in addition, one staff member 
was awarded a Doctor of Medicine by research 
degree from the University of Queensland. two 
international research fellows were welcomed, as 
were two new staff specialists.

in 2012/13 professors Jim Denham, peter Greer, 
peter stanwell and Jarad Martin were lauded for 
their contributions to research, and particularly 
leadership in cancer research. in 2012, professors 
peter Greer and peter stanwell were recognised 
for their expertise in research. associate professor 

stanwell was awarded the 2012 emerging research 
leader by the Deputy vice-Chancellor (research), 
University of Newcastle. professor Greer, who was 
recently promoted from associate to full professor, 
was internationally recognised by his peers, with 
the award of the astro Grant from the radiation 
oncology institute for ‘safety and Quality: iMrt 
treatment Delivery accuracy’. professor Jim 
Denham’s contributions to cancer research were 
then recognised with the 2013 Nsw Government 
Community service award.

approximately 37 clinical trials are either current or in 
follow-up, with another 12 approved for activation, 
and seven being evaluated for feasibility. allied health 
clinicians and researchers also conduct a range of 
studies which incorporate psycho-oncology, social 
work, speech therapy, nutrition and dietetics, radiation 
therapy, palliative care and nursing. Quality assurance 
is steadfastly monitored and painstakingly researched, 
as are issues stemming from the survival from cancer 
and its treatment. translational aspects of research 
conducted by the Department of radiation oncology 
flow seamlessly from a recognition that the patient’s 
well-being is the key, the clinician’s experience the 
mechanism, and the researcher’s application of 
expertise the unlocking of solutions to cancer questions. 
our clinician-researchers acknowledge the skill and 
knowledge of colleagues from different disciplines, and 
their ability to answer research questions from different 
perspectives, enabling a faster outcome.

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

1.   Bivard, a., Stanwell, P., levi, C., & parsons, 
M. (2013). arterial spin labeling identifies tissue 
salvage and good clinical recovery after acute 
ischemic stroke. J Neuroimaging, 23(3), 391-396. 
doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6569.2012.00728.x

2.   Blake, s., vial, p., Holloway, l., Greer, P.,  
McNamara, a., & Kuncic, Z. (2013). 
Characterization of optical transport effects on 
epiD dosimetry using Geant4. Med phys, 40(4), 
041708. doi: 10.1118/1.4794479

3.   Burrows, t., pursey, K., Neve, M., & Stanwell, P. 
 (2013). what are the health implications 
associated with the consumption of energy 
drinks? a systematic review. Nutr rev, 71(3), 135-
148. doi: 10.1111/nure.12005

4.   Chandra s, Dowling J, shen K, pluim J, Greer P, 
salvado o and fripp J, patient specific prostate 
segmentation in magnetic resonance images, 
ieee transactions on Medical imaging. 31(10): 
1955-1964, 2012

5.   Chytyk-praznik, K., vanUytven, e., vanBeek, 
t., Greer, P., & McCurdy, B. (2013). Model-
based prediction of portal dose images during 
patient treatment. Med phys, 40(3), 031713. doi: 
10.1118/1.4792203

6.   Denham, J., & Steigler, A. (2013). picking the 
optimal duration of hormonal therapy in men 
with high-risk and locally advanced prostate 
cancer treated with radiotherapy. semin 
radiat oncol, 23(3), 206-214. doi: 10.1016/j.
semradonc.2013.01.008

7.   Denham, J., Steigler, A., tai, K., Joseph, 
D., Matthews, J., atkinson, C., ...lamb, D. 
(2013). paradoxical metastatic progression 
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following 3 months of neo-adjuvant androgen 
suppression in the troG 96.01 trial for men 
with locally advanced prostate cancer. radiother 
oncol, 107(2), 123-128. doi: 10.1016/j.
radonc.2013.03.025

8.  Denham, J., wilcox, C., Joseph, D., spry, N., 
lamb, D., tai, K., . . . Mcelduff, p. (2012). Quality 
of life in men with locally advanced prostate 
cancer treated with leuprorelin and radiotherapy 
with or without zoledronic acid (troG 03.04 
raDar): secondary endpoints from a randomised 
phase 3 factorial trial. lancet oncol, 13(12), 1260-
1270. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(12)70423-0

9.   Denham, J., wilcox, C., lamb, D., spry, N., 
Duchesne, G., atkinson, C., . . . Joseph, D. 
(2012). rectal and urinary dysfunction in the 
troG 03.04 raDar trial for locally advanced 
prostate cancer. radiother oncol, 105(2), 184-
192. doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2012.09.018

10.   finnigan, r., Hruby, G., Wratten, C., Keller, J., 
tripcony, l., Dickie, G., . . . poulsen, M. (2013). 
the impact of preradiation residual Disease 
volume on time to locoregional failure in 
Cutaneous Merkel Cell Carcinoma—a troG 
substudy. international Journal of radiation 
oncology*Biology*physics, 86(1), 91-95. doi: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.11.026

11.   Gardner, a., Kay-lambkin, f., Stanwell, P., 
Donnelly, J., williams, w., Hiles, a., . . . Jones, 
D. (2012). a systematic review of diffusion tensor 
imaging findings in sports-related concussion. J 
Neurotrauma, 29(16), 2521-2538. doi: 10.1089/
neu.2012.2628

12.   Gillett, J., lentile, C., Hiscock, J., plank, a., & 
Martin, J. (2012). Complementary and alternative 
medicine use in radiotherapy: what are patients 
using? J altern Complement Med, 18(11), 1014-
1020. doi: 10.1089/acm.2011.0334

13.   Goldstein, D., spry, N., Cummins, M., Brown, 
C., van Hazel, G., Carroll, s., Wratten, C.. . . 
Gebski, v. (2012). the GofUrtGo study: aGitG 
phase ii study of fixed dose rate gemcitabine-
oxaliplatin integrated with concomitant 5fU and 
3-D conformal radiotherapy for the treatment of 
localised pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer, 106(1), 
61-69. doi: http://www.nature.com/bjc/journal/
v106/n1/suppinfo/bjc2011526s1.html

14.   Graham, p., plant, N., Graham, J., Browne, l., 
Borg, M., Capp, A., . . . Zissiadis, y. (2012). 
Digital photography as source documentation of 
skin toxicity: an analysis from the trans tasman 
radiation oncology Group (troG) 04.01 post-
Mastectomy radiation skin Care trial. Journal of 
Medical imaging and radiation oncology, 56(4), 
458-463. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-9485.2012.02365.x

15.   Graham, p., plant, N., Graham, J., Browne, l., 
Borg, M., Capp, A., . . . Zissiadis, y. (2013). a 
paired, Double-Blind, randomized Comparison 
of a Moisturizing Durable Barrier Cream to 
10% Glycerine Cream in the prophylactic 
Management of postmastectomy irradiation skin 
Care: trans tasman radiation oncology Group 
(troG) 04.01. international Journal of radiation 
oncology*Biology*physics, 86(1), 45-50. doi: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.12.009

16.   Greer pB, verification of vMat with epiD, J. 

phys.: Conf. ser. 444 012010, 2013 http://
iopscience.iop.org/1742-6596/444/1/012010

17.   Hansen, C., Kenny, l., lakhani, s., Ung, o., 
Keller, J., tripcony, l., . . . Martin, J. (2012). 
tubular breast carcinoma: an argument against 
treatment de-escalation. J Med imaging radiat 
oncol, 56(1), 116-122. doi: 10.1111/j.1754-
9485.2011.02330.x

18.  Hau, e., Browne, l., Capp, A., Delaney, G., 
fox, C., Kearsley, J., . . . Graham, p. (2013). 
the impact of breast cosmetic and functional 
outcomes on quality of life: long-term results 
from the st. George and wollongong randomized 
breast boost trial. Breast Cancer research 
and treatment, 139(1), 115-123. doi: 10.1007/
s10549-013-2508-z

19.  Kearvell, r., Haworth, a., ebert, M., Murray, J., 
Hooton, B., richardson, s., . . . Denham, J.  
(2013). Quality improvements in prostate 
radiotherapy: outcomes and impact of 
comprehensive quality assurance during the 
troG 03.04 ‘raDar’ trial. J Med imaging radiat 
oncol, 57(2), 247-257. doi: 10.1111/1754-
9485.12025

20.  Khoo, e., schick, K., plank, a., poulsen, M., 
wong, w., Middleton, M., & Martin, J. (2012). 
prostate contouring variation: can it be fixed? int 
J radiat oncol Biol phys, 82(5), 1923-1929. doi: 
10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.02.050

21.   King, B., & Greer, P. (2013). a method for 
removing arm backscatter from epiD images. Med 
phys, 40(7), 071703. doi: 10.1118/1.4807640

22.   King, B., Morf, D., & Greer, P. (2012). 
Development and testing of an improved 
dosimetry system using a backscatter shielded 
electronic portal imaging device. Medical physics, 
39(5), 2839-2847. 

23.   Kumar, M. (2013). Building on past experiences 
to mitigate risk with stereotactic body 
radiotherapy. Clin oncol (r Coll radiol), 25(9), 
564. doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2013.04.010

24.   lapuz, C., Dempsey, C., Capp, A., & O’Brien, P. 
(2013 (in press, corrected proof)). Dosimetric 
comparison of optimization methods for 
multichannel intracavitary brachytherapy for 
superficial vaginal tumors. Brachytherapy(0). doi: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brachy.2013.04.009

25.   lin, C., tripcony, l., Keller, J., poulsen, M., 
Martin, J., Jackson, J., & Dickie, G. (2012). 
perineural infiltration of cutaneous squamous 
cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma without 
clinical features. int J radiat oncol Biol phys, 
82(1), 334-340. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.09.040

26.   McNamara a., Blake s., vial p., Holloway l., 
Greer P., Kuncic Z., evaluating radiation damage 
to scintillating plastic fibers with monte carlo 
simulations, proc. spie 8668, Medical imaging 
2013: physics of Medical imaging, 866859

27.   rowshanfarzad, p., sabet, M., Barnes, M., 
o’Connor, D., & Greer, P. (2012). epiD-based 
verification of the MlC performance for dynamic 
iMrt and vMat. Med phys, 39(10), 6192-6207. 
doi: 10.1118/1.4752207

28.   rowshanfarzad, p., sabet, M., o’Connor, D., & 
Greer, P. (2012). impact of the backscattered 

radiation from the bunker structure on epiD 
dosimetry during arc-iMrt. Journal of applied 
Clinical Medical physics, 13(6), 91-100 

29.   rowshanfarzad, p., sabet, M., o’Connor, D., 
McCowan, p., McCurdy, B., & Greer, P. (2012). 
Gantry angle determination during arc iMrt: 
evaluation of a simple epiD-based technique and 
two commercial inclinometers. J appl Clin Med 
phys, 13(6), 3981. doi: 10.1120/jacmp.v13i6.3981

30.  sabet, M., rowshanfarzad, p., vial, p., Menk, 
f., & Greer, P. (2012). transit dosimetry in 
iMrt with an a-si epiD in direct detection 
configuration. phys Med Biol, 57(15), N295-306. 
doi: 10.1088/0031-9155/57/15/n295

31.  singh, J., Greer, P., white, M., Parker, J., 
Patterson, J., tang, C., Capp, A., Wratten, 
C., Denham, J. (2013). treatment-related 
Morbidity in prostate Cancer: a Comparison of 
3-Dimensional Conformal radiation therapy with 
and without image Guidance Using implanted 
fiducial Markers. international Journal of radiation 
oncology*Biology*physics, 85(4), 1018-1023. doi: 
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.07.2376

32.  steigler, A., Denham, J., lamb, D., spry, N., 
Joseph, D., Matthews, J., . . . wynne, C. (2012). 
risk stratification after biochemical failure following 
curative treatment of locally advanced prostate 
cancer: Data from the troG 96.01 trial 

33.  thewes, B., Butow, p., Bell, M. l., Beith, J., 
stuart-Harris, r., Grossi, M., Capp, A., Dalley, 
D. (2012). fear of cancer recurrence in young 
women with a history of early-stage breast 
cancer: a cross-sectional study of prevalence and 
association with health behaviours. supportive 
Care in Cancer, 20(11), 2651-2659. doi: 10.1007/
s00520-011-1371-x

34.  trada, y., plank, a., & Martin, J. (2013). Defining 
a dose-response relationship for prostate external 
beam radiotherapy. J Med imaging radiat oncol, 
57(2), 237-246. doi: 10.1111/1754-9485.12008

35.  wilcox, C., Kautto, A., Steigler, A., & Denham, J.  
(2012). androgen deprivation therapy for prostate 
cancer does not increase cardiovascular mortality 
in the long term. oncology, 82(1), 56-58. doi: 
10.1159/000334999

36.  Woodruff, H., & Greer, P. (2013). 3D Dose 
reconstruction: Banding artefacts in cine 
mode epiD images during vMat delivery. 
Journal of physics, Conference series volume 
444(conference 1). doi: Journal of physics: 
Conference series volume 444 conference 1

AWARDS, HONOURS, PRIZES, ETC

Prof Peter Greer: ranked top grant from 40 
applications for astro, radiation oncology institute 
‘safety and Quality: iMrt treatment Delivery 
accuracy’ Grant initiative 2012

Prof Jim Denham: 2013 Nsw Government 
Community service award

Assoc Prof Peter Stanwell: 2012 emerging 
research leader - Deputy vice-Chancellor 
(research), University of Newcastle

Assoc Prof Jarad Martin: 2012 Chris atkinson 
prize for Best scientific paper at faculty of radiation 
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oncology annual scientific Meeting

FUNDING/GRANTS 
ONGOING

MRS CLAIRE DEMPSEY: 
C Dempsey, p simpson, pB Greer, Dosimetric 
measurement and validation of high dose rate 
brachytherapy  treatments, Calvary Mater Newcastle 
research Grant, ($20,000.00)

DR HENRY WOODRUFF: 
H woodruff, Hunter translational Cancer research 
Unit Grant ($20,000.00)

PROF PETER GREER: 
pB Greer (principal investigator), J Martin, BMC 
McCurdy, M lovelock, J yamada, Jvs siebers, e 
weiss, p Keall, ensuring safe delivery of iMrt and 
vMat using epiD based real-time verification during 
treatment, astro, radiation oncology institute 
rfp on safety and Quality iMrt treatment Delivery 
accuracy, (Us$200,000.00), 2013-2014

 pJ Keall, M Jackson, a rozenfeld, M Barton, pB 
Greer, pJ vial, C Baldock, p Metcalfe, D thwaites, Z 
Kuncic, l Holloway, s Bose, e eslick, s Downes, J, 
2012, an adaptable and dedicated linear accelerator 
for medical radiation research, arC lief Grant, 
($600,000.00), 2012 LE120100006

 J Dowling, pB Greer, o salvado, p stanwell, 
Development of high precision Mri based prostate 
cancer radiation therapy, prostate Cancer foundation 
australia young investigator Grant, ($300,000.00), 
2012-2014

 f faroudi, a Herschtal, t eade, t Kron, D Ball, pB 
Greer, optimising radiation therapy delivery for cancer 
patients using daily image guidance to maximize 
cure and reduce normal tissue side effects, NHMrC 
project Grant ($494,436.00), 2012-2014, 1023031

ASSOC PROF PETER STANWELL: 
 long term effects of sports-related concussion, Brain 
foundation, ($38,500.00), 2012

 response threshold adjustments during task 
switching: a model-based magnetic resonance 
spectroscopy study, Keats endowment research 
fund, ($12,000.00), 2012 

 equipment Grant (NordicNeurolab tumorex), faculty 
of Health and Cancer prC, University of Newcastle 
and HMri Crp, ($36,600.00), 2012 

 Multiparametric Mri as an outcome predictor for 
anal canal cancer managed with chemoradiotherapy, 
Hunter translational Cancer research Unit, 
($20,000.00), 2012

 Development of high precision Mri based prostate 
cancer radiation therapy, prostate Cancer foundation 
of australia, ($300,000.00), 2012-2013

 Beyond perfusion: Mrs to characterise metabolic 
changes in the ischaemic brain, Hunter Medical 
research institute, ($16,000.00), 2012-2013

ASSOC PROF JARAD MARTIN:  
 Cancer institute New south wales – “enhancing 
Coordination of Complex Collaborative Clinical trials 
in Nsw: a troG initiative” $300,000.00

 Cancer institute New south wales equipment Grant 
– “advanced radiation oncology Clinical trials: a 
remotely accessible solution for treatment plan 
review” $105,771.00

PROF JIM DENHAM:  
 Hunter Medical research institute -  “Development 
of a protocol to test the effectiveness of two 
drug therapies in the control of prostate cancer” 
$15,000.00

DR MICHAEL JONES:  
 Hunter translational Cancer research Unit Grant 
($20,000.00) 
 varian educational Grant 
full registration for the raNZCr faculty of radiation 
oncology 2012 annual scientific Meeting (Cairns)

STUDENT AWARDS/SCHOLARSHIPS

TODASPORN FUANGROD:  
 University of Newcastle research scholarship Central 
(UNrsC), 2012-2016 

University of Newcastle international postgraduate 
research scholarships (UNiprs), 2012-2016

travel award, the 12th international Conference on 
electronic patient imaging, sydney, australia, 2012

KIMBERLEY LEGGE:  
 apa scholarship

BENJAMIN ZWAN:   
apa scholarship

INVITED PRESENTATIONS

PROF PETER GREER:  
 varian Medical systems oncology summit, “improved 
verification of iMrt and vMat with the varian 
system-Collaboration with vMs ilab”, Melbourne, 
australia, february 22-23, 2013

Cancer Council Nsw, “prostate research”, Ballina, 
Nsw, australia, June, 2013 

international Conference on 3D Dosimetry, “pre-
treatment verification of vMat with epiD”, sydney, 
australia, November 2012

“epiD Dosimetry and patient Dose verification”, 
33rd National Conference of association of Medical 
physicists of india (aMpiCoN-2012), Mangalore, 
Karnataka, india, November 1-3, 2012

ASSOC PROF JARAD MARTIN:  
 aNZUp asM 2012: ‘stage 2 seminoma’

 faculty of radiation oncology asM 2012: ‘tailoring 
prostate radiotherapy’

 troG asM 2013: ‘troG = Members’

MEDICAL ONCOLOGY
the Medical oncology Department has a very active 
research unit in which it conducts both laboratory and 
clinical research. the Medical oncology research 
Unit is made up of clinicians, scientists, nurses and 
clinical trial coordinators dedicated to the improved 
management of patients with cancer and the 
advancement of cancer treatment. 

Medical Oncology Clinical Trials Unit: 
Clinical Trials CNC/Supervisor: Kim Adler
Clinical Trial Coordinators: Sue Brew, Vicki 
Clarke, Catherine Johnson, Gail Walker, Erica 
Vitullo, Sarandar Kumar, Kirrilee Askew, Megan 
Livingston and Louise Plowman.

Administrative/Finance Officer: Alison Leonard 
–England

the last 12 months have been a challenging time 
for our trial unit with the increasing waiting times for 
chemotherapy appointments. However, over the past 
year the Medical oncology trials Unit has offered 
172 patients the opportunity to participate in a clinical 
trial. of these, 85 patients have gone on to enroll in a 
trial. we currently have 19 trials open to recruitment 
and seven waiting for ethics/governance approval. 
of the trials currently recruiting there is a mixture of 
phase ll and lll cooperative group and pharmaceutical 
sponsored studies and three investigator initiated 
studies. we currently have 85 patients on trial 
treatment and 174 patients in follow up. 

the trials team is also involved in an ongoing informed 
consent project aimed at improving the process of 
informed consent for patients on clinical trials. the 
project identifies deficits in patients understanding 
of their trial which assists the trial team in reinforcing 
information that is lacking. we have currently surveyed 
88 patients. we are planning to publish this data once 
we have 100 patients.

as part of our ongoing commitment to research 
and ethics the Medical oncology trials Unit has 
two clinician and clinical trial coordinators on the 
HNeHreC clinical trials subcommittee and a clinical 
trial coordinator on the HNeHreC main committee.

this year has seen us say a quiet “Good Bye” to a 
quiet achiever, Medical oncology’s first Clinical trial 
Nurse at the hospital, vicki Clarke. vicki and Dr John 
stewart established Medical oncology Clinical trials 
Unit over 20 years ago. More than 20 years on, vicki 
is retiring. we would all like to thank her for her hard 
work and dedication to the hospital and to research. 
vicki’s knowledge, friendship and diligence will be 
sadly missed.

Medical Oncology Experimental Therapeutics 
Group: Chief Hospital Scientist: Dr Jennette 
Sakoff, Senior Staff Specialist, Director HCRA: 
Stephen Ackland. Hospital Scientists: Dr Jayne 
Gilbert and Madhu Garg. Technical Officer: Ms 
Alesia Ogrodnik

the research efforts of the experimental therapeutics 
Group in the Department of Medical oncology 
focus on the development of small molecules for 
the treatment of cancer and the management of 
clinical toxicity. our drug development program is in 
collaboration with the University of Newcastle Centre 
for Chemical Biology under the direction of prof 
adam McCluskey. in the last 12 months we have 
published numerous articles and presented several 
conference proceedings on the development of drugs 
targeting dynamin and clathrin for the treatment 
of glioblastoma, and in the development of novel 
therapeutics for the treatment of breast cancer. we 
have recently expanded our collaborations to include 
Chris scarlett from the University of Newcastle Central 
Coast campus in the discovery of new treatments for 
pancreatic cancer. our research group now offers 
a simple blood assay for the management of 5fU 
toxicity caused by DpD deficiency. we also offer 
therapeutic drug monitoring of mitotane for patients 
with adrenocortical cancer in order to fine-tune drug 
dosing and limit toxicity. in the last 12 months, we 
have also expanded the infrastructure of our research 
facilities including refrigeration equipment, ultra high 
pressure liquid chromatography equipment, liquid 
robotics, a cytotoxic hood and a laboratory incubator.
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JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS

1.  Hyams DM, Chan a, de oliveira C, snyder r, 
vinholes J, audeh Mw, alencar vM, Lombard J, 
Mookerjee B, Xu J, Brown K, Klein p. Cediranib in 
combination with fulvestrant in hormone-sensitive 
metastatic breast cancer: a randomized phase ii 
study. invest New Drugs. 2013 Jun 26

2.  Lombard JM, paterson r. early detection of 
treatment induced cardiac toxicity - can we do 
better? asia pac J Clin oncol. 2013 Jun;9(2):97-8. 
doi: 10.1111/ajco.12085

3.  Ngan sy, Burmeister B, fisher rJ, solomon M, 
Goldstein D, Joseph D, Ackland SP, schache 
D, McClure B, Mclachlan sa., McKendrick J, 
leong t, Hartopeanu C, Zalcberg J, Mackay J. 
randomized trial of short-course radiotherapy 
versus long-course chemoradiation comparing 
rates of local recurrence in patients with t3 rectal 
cancer: trans-tasman radiation oncology Group 
trial 01.04. J Clin oncol, 2012, 30:3827-33

4.  Ackland S, fukuda y. 2012: year in review - 
from dragons to snakes. asia pac J Clin oncol. 
2013 Mar;9(1):1. doi: 10.1111/ajco.12065

5.  price tJ, segelov e, Burge M, Haller DG, Ackland 
SP, tebbutt NC, Karapetis Cs,pavlakis N, 
sobrero af, Cunningham D, shapiro JD. Current 
opinion on optimal treatment for colorectal cancer. 
expert rev anticancer ther. 2013 May;13(5):597-
611. doi: 10.1586/era.13.37

6.  agrez, Mv, Garg, M.B., Ackland, S.P. (2012) 
Novel anti-cancer peptides comprising three 
amino acids. Journal of Cancer therapy, 2012, 
vol 3: 230-236

7.  tarleton M, Gilbert J, Sakoff JA and McCluskey 
a. synthesis and anticancer activity of a series 
of norcantharidin analogues. eur. J. Med. Chem. 
2012. 54:573-581

8.  Garg MB, lincz lf, Adler K, scorgie fe, 
Ackland SP and Sakoff JA. predicting 
5-fluorouracil toxicity in colorectal cancer patients 
from peripheral blood cell telomere length – a 
multivariate analysis. Br. J. Cancer. 2012. oct 23; 
107(9) 1525-33

9.  tarleton M, Gilbert J, Sakoff JA and McCluskey 
a. Cytotoxic 2-phenyacrylnitriles, the importance 
of the cyanide moiety and discovery of potent 
broad spectrum cytotoxic agents. eur. J. Med. 
Chem. 2012. 57:65-73

10.  tarleton M, Dyson l, Gilbert J,  Sakoff JA  
and McCluskey a. focused library of 
2-phenylacrylamides as broad spectrum cytotoxic 
agents. Bioorg Med Chem. 2013 Jan 1;21(1):333-
47. doi: 10.1016/j.bmc.2012.10.003

11.  Deane fM, Maguire ar, Gilbert J, Sakoff JA, 
McCluskey a and McCarthy fo. synthesis and 
evaluation of novel ellipticines as potential anti-
cancer agents. org Biomol Chem. 2013 feb 
28;11(8):1334-44. doi: 10.1039/c2ob27186a

12.  McGeachie aB, odell lr, Quan a, Daniel Ja, 
Chau N, Hill ta, Gorgani N, Keating DJ, Cousin 
M , van Dam e, Mariana a, whiting a, perera 
s, Novelle a, young Ka, Deane fM, Gilbert 
J, Sakoff JA, Chircop a, McCluskey a, and 
robinson pJ. the pyrimidyn compounds: dual-
action small molecule pyrimidine-based dynamin 

inhibitors. aCs Chem. Biol., in press • Doi: 
10.1021/cb400137p • publication Date (web): 03 
May 2013

13.  Hadzic G, Daniel Ja, Chau N, Clayton el, 
McGeachie aB, Mariana a, lloyd J, whiting a, 
Quan a, Moshkanbaryans l, perera s, Chircop M, 
Howes Mt, parton rG, Campbell M, Sakoff J,  
wang X, sun J-y, Nguyen tH, Meunier fa, 
Cousin Ma, McCluskey a and robinson pJ. 
Building a Better Dynasore: the Dyngos potently 
inhibit Dynamin and endocytosis. traffic 2013 – in 
press

14.  Day FL, Jorissen rN, lipton l et al piK3Ca 
and pteN gene and exon mutation-specific 
clinicopathologic and molecular associations in 
colorectal cancer. epub ahead of print, Clinical 
Cancer research 2013

15.  fleming Ni, Jorissen rN, Mouradov D, Christie 
M, sakthianandeswaren a, palmieri M, Day F 
et al. sMaD2, sMaD3 and sMaD4 mutations in 
colorectal cancer. Cancer research 73: 725-35, 
2013

16.  Christie M, Jorissen rN, Mouradov D, 
sakthianandeswaren a, li s, Day F et al. Different 
apC genotypes in proximal and distal sporadic 
colorectal cancers suggest distinct wNt/β-
catenin signaling thresholds for tumourigenesis. 
epub ahead of print, oncogene 2012

RESEARCH GRANTS

1.  Chircop M, Sakoff J, Jones N, McCluskey. 
Dynamin as a new drug target for the treatment 
of glioblastoma. Nsw Cancer Council rG-11-03, 
(2011-2013). $360,000.00

2.  McCluskey a, robinson p, o’Brien t, Chircop 
M, Sakoff J. Development of pthaladyn-based 
dynamin i-selective inhibitors for treatment of 
epilepsy. NHMrC Dp1017063. (2011-2013)   
$544,682.00

3.  Chircop M, robinson p, McCluskey a, Sakoff JA.  
the role of clathrin in cell division. NHMrC 
app1022218. (2012-2014). $629,685.00

4.  Sakoff J, Gilbert J, McCluskey a. Development 
of a novel targeted therapy for the treatment of 
breast cancer. wig week Grant. Calvary Mater 
Newcastle, (2012) $6,000.00

5.  Garg M, Gilbert J, Sakoff JA (2012) 
refrigeration equipment. Coalfields equipment 
Grant Calvary Mater Newcastle $8,383.00

6.  Ackland SP, Garg M, Sakoff J, tacon l (2012). 
Mitotane pharmacodynamics in adrenocortical 
carcinoma in children and adults. HMri, 
$25,000.00

7.  Sakoff J, Gilbert J, McCluskey. identification of a 
novel target for the treatment of hormone positive 
breast cancer. (2012) HMri, $30,000.00

8.  Sakoff JA, Gilbert J, McCluskey a (2013). 
targeting estrogen sensitive tumours. Jane Harle 
reid Grant scheme, Calvary Mater Newcastle 
Hospital. $32,000.00

9.  Garg M, Sakoff JA, Ackland SP. (2013) 
essential Ultra High pressure liquid 
Chromatography equipment. Coalfields 

equipment Grant Calvary Mater Newcastle 
$40,000.00

10.  robinson pJ, Chircop M, reddel r, McCluskey 
a, Sakoff J. Multi-Centre screening and 
Development platform for pre-Clinical Drugs for 
Glioblastoma research equipment Grant Number: 
13/reG/1-08.  CiNsw: $426,467.00

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

1.  Catherine Johnson and Kim Adler.  the role 
of the nurse in patient education and follow up of 
people receiving oral anti-cancer treatment: an 
australian survey.  international conference on 
cancer nursing, prague, Czech republic, 2012 

2.  Catherine Johnson and Kim Adler.  the role 
of the nurse in patient education and follow up of 
people receiving oral anti-cancer treatment: an 
australian survey.  international conference on 
cancer nursing, Cancer nurses society of australia 
winter Congress, Brisbane, 2013

3.  Sakoff JA. Novel therapeutics targeting er+ve 
tumours. Hunter Cancer research symposium. 
2012, Nsw, australia

CONFERENCE POSTERS 

1.  friedlander M, sjoquist KM, sommeijer Dw, Bailey 
l, Martyn J, Gillies K, Mileshkin lr, o’Connel r, 
Gebski v, vaughan MM, Blomfield p, Beale pJ, 
Quinn M, stockler Mr, Lombard JM, Hadley 
aM, amant f, edmondson rJ. paraGoN: 
phase ii study of aromatase inhibitors in women 
with potentially hormone responsive recurrent/
metastatic gynecologic neoplasms: aNZGoG 
0903. american society of Clinical oncology 
asCo 2013, Chicago, Usa

2.  Lombard J, rachaconda K, Bonaventura 
A, Capp a. aNZGoG abstract/poster 2013. 
retrospective review of squamous Carcinoma of 
the vulva from the Hunter New england region, 
Nsw, australia 

3.  Garg MB, Sakoff JA, Ackland SP.  Mitotane 
pharmacodynamics in adrenocortical Cancer 
in children and adults. HMri Cancer research 
symposium 2012, Nsw australia

4.  Sakoff JA, Garg MB, lincz lf, Adler K, scorgie 
fe and ackland sp. predicting chemotherapy-
induced toxicity in cancer patients from peripheral 
blood telomere length. eaCr. european 
association for Cancer research. Barcelona, 
spain, 2012

5.  Sakoff JA, Gilbert J, tarleton M, robertson MJ 
and McCluskey a. a novel class of compounds 
that selectively target breast cancer cells. lowy 
Cancer Conference 2013 sydney University. Nsw

SURGICAL ONCOLOGY
JOURNAL ARTICLES

2012

1.  ewertz M, Gray Kp, regan MM, ejlertsen B, 
price KN, thürlimann B, Bonnefoi H, forbes Jf, 
paridaens rJ, rabaglio M, Gelber rD, Colleoni 
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M, lang i, smith ie, Coates as, Goldhirsch a, 
Mouridsen Ht. obesity and risk of recurrence 
or death after adjuvant endocrine therapy with 
letrozole or tamoxifen in the Breast international 
Group 1-98 trial. J Clin oncol 2012; 30(32): 3967-
3975

2.  Karlsson p, Cole Bf, Chua BH, price KN, lindtner 
J, Collins Jp, Kovacs a, thürlimann B, Crivellari 
D, Castiglione-Gertsch M, forbes Jf, Gelber 
rD, Goldhirsch a, Gruber G. patterns and risk 
factors for locoregional failures after mastectomy 
for breast cancer: an international Breast Cancer 
study Group report. ann oncol 2012; 23(11): 
2852-2858

3.  phillips Ka, Kiely Be, francis pa, Boyle fM, fox 
sB, Murphy l, Gebski v, lindsay Df, sutherland 
rl, Badger HD, forbes Jf. aNZ1001 sorBet: 
study of oestrogen receptor beta and efficacy 
of tamoxifen, a single arm, phase ii study of the 
efficacy of tamoxifen in triple negative but estrogen 
receptor beta positive metastatic breast cancer. J 
Clin oncol 2012; 30(supp), tps1136

4.  toi M, Benson Jr, winer ep, forbes Jf, von 
Minckwitz G, Golshan M, robertson Jfr, sasano 
H, Cole Bf, Chow lwC, pegram MD, Han w, 
Huang Cs, ikeda t, Kanao s, lee es, Noguchi s, 
ohno s, partridge aH, rouzier r, tozai M, sugie 
t, yamauchi a, inamoto t. preoperative systemic 
therapy in locoregional management of early 
breast cancer: highlights from the Kyoto Breast 
Cancer Consensus Conference. Breast Cancer 
res treat 2012; 136(3): 919-926

2013

1.  Coleman r, de Boer r, eidtmann H, llombart a, 
Davidson n, Neven p, von Minckwitz G, sleeboom 
Hp, forbes Jf, Barrios C, frassoldati a, Campbell 
i, paija o, Martin N, Modi a, Bundred N. 
Zoledronic acid (zoledronate) for postmenopausal 
women with early breast cancer receiving adjuvant 
letrozole (Zo-fast study): final 60-month results. 
ann oncol 2013; 24(2): 398-405

2.  Cuzick J, sestak i, Bonanni B, Costantino Jp, 
Cummings s, DeCensi a, Dowsett M, forbes Jf, 
 ford l, laCroix aZ, Mershon J, Mitlak BH, 
powles t, veronesi U, vogel v, wickerham Dl, 
for the serM Chemoprevention of Breast Cancer 
overview Group. selective oestrogen receptor 
modulators in prevention of breast cancer: an 
updated meta-analysis of individual participant 
data.  lancet; 39(9880): 1827-1834

3.  Davies C, pan H, Dowin J, Gray r, arriagada 
r, raina v, abraham M, alencar vHM, Badran 
a, Bonfill X, Bradbury J, Clarke M, Collins r, 
Davis sr, Delmestri a, forbes Jf, Haddad p, 
Hou M-f, inbar M, Khaled H, Kielanowska J, 
Kwan w-H, Mathew Bs, Müller B, Nicolucci a, 
peralta o, pernas f, petruzelka l, pienkowski t, 
ragan B, rubach M, tort s, Urrutia G, valentini 
M, wang y, peto r, for the adjuvant tamoxifen: 
longer against shorter (atlas) Collaborative 
Group. long-term effects of continuing adjuvant 
tamoxifen to 10 years versus stopping at 5 years 
after diagnosis of oestrogen receptor-positive 
breast cancer: atlas, a randomised trial. lancet 
2013; 381: 805-816

4.  Goldhirsch a, winer ep, Coates as, Gelber 
rD, piccart-Gebhar M, thürlimann B, senn 

H-J and panel Members (including forbes Jf). 
personalizing the treatment of women with 
early breast cancer: highlights of the st Gallen 
international expert Consensus on the primary 
therapy of early Breast Cancer 2013. ann oncol 
2013; epub 4 august;1-18

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

2012

1.  australia and New Zealand Breast Cancer trials 
Group annual scientific Meeting (Convenor & 
speaker) 
presentation: “iBis-ii prevention, DCis & Bone 
substudy” 
18-21 July – Hobart, tasmania

2.  annual women’s Health Update Meeting (invited 
speaker) 
presentation: “Breast Cancer preventive therapy” 
11 august – perth, western australia

3.  University of Newcastle faculty of Health-shanxi 
Cancer Hospital translational Cancer research 
forum 2012 (invited speaker) 
presentation: “surgical oncology Breast Cancer 
research” 
17 september – taiyuan, China

4.  Update in oncology-X-2012: selected Debates in 
Breast Cancer (invited debate participant) 
Debate topic: “Management of hormone receptor 
positive metastatic breast cancer after primary 
hormone failure: aromatase inhibitors verses 
M-tor inhibitors” 
presentation/debate: “aromatase inhibitors versus 
faslodex” 
20-21 october – New Delhi, india

2013

1.  association of Breast surgery Conference (invited 
lecturer and panellist) 
european Journal of surgical oncology lecture: 
“extending adjuvant endocrine treatment” 
20-22 May – Manchester, UK

2.  sanjin Breast Cancer forum (invited speaker and 
panellist) 
presentation: “prevention of Breast Cancer: in 
2013 and lessons for the long-term future” 
presentation: “the importance of international 
Collaboration in Breast Cancer trials” 
21-22 June – taiyuan, shanxi, China

RESEARCH GRANTS

Competitive Research Grant funding supporting 
Australian New Zealand Breast Cancer Trials 
Group projects (University of Newcastle - CIA 
Professor John Forbes)

1.  NHMrC project Grant 569213 (iBis 2): a 
randomised phase iii trial of anastrozole for breast 
cancer prevention in postmenopausal women at 
high risk. 
Chief investigators: forbes Jf, Coates a, Boyle f, 
Mann G, saunders C, Cuzick J. 
total awarded: 2009 – 2013 $1,635,000.00

2.  NHMrC project Grant 510787 (later): 
prevention of late breast cancer (BC) events 
in postmenopausal women with endocrine 

responsive BC. 

Chief investigators: forbes Jf, Mann G, Boyle f, 

Green M, Coates a, Cuzick J. 

total awarded: 2008 – 2013 $4,430,875.00

3.  Cancer institute Nsw (research scholar Judy 

Jobling): Mammographic density as a biomarker 

for the efficacy of treatment of endocrine 

therapies used to prevent breast cancer events in 

randomised controlled clinical trials. 

Chief investigator: forbes Jf 

total awarded: 2010 - 2013 $55,016.00

4.  Cancer institute Nsw: the Hunter Cancer 

Biobank (HCB): Maximising community value 

through validation, annotation and distribution 

throughout Nsw. 

Chief investigator: forbes Jf. 

total awarded: 2013-2015 $292,300.00 

Competitive Research Grant funding supporting 
Australian New Zealand Breast Cancer Trials 
Group projects (other administering institutions 
or other CIAs)

1.  BCrf research Grant: aNZBCtG High risk Bio-

bank 

Chief investigators: forbes Jf, Cuzick J. 

total awarded: 2012 – 2013 Us$239,658.00

2.  Cancer australia infrastructure 

total awarded: 2010 - 2013 $1,401,490.00

3.  NBCf Collaborative Breast Cancer research 

Grant 

a single arm phase ii study using magnetic 

resonance imaging (Mri) to assess postoperative 

radiotherapy omission in selected patients with 

early breast cancer (prospeCt). 

Chief investigators - forbes Jf, Mann GB (Cia), 

skandarajah a, rose a, Chua B. 

total awarded: 2011 – 2013: $200,000.00

University of Queensland

1.  NBCf Collaborative Breast Cancer research 

Grant 

Novel strategies for prediction and control 

of advanced breast cancer via nanoscaled 

epigenetic-based biosensors. 

Chief investigators – forbes Jf, trau M (Cia), 

Clark s, Brown M, francis G, Dobrovic a, scott r. 

total awarded 2008-2012: $5,000,000.00 

University of Melbourne

1.  National Breast Cancer foundation; targeting 

breast cancer recurrence through epithelial 

mesenchymal plasticity (eMpathy). 

Chief investigators: thompson e, Goodall G, 

saunders C, anderson r, yap a, street i, stanley 

K, Dowling a (ai: forbes Jf) 

total awarded: 2011-2015 $5,150,286.00

2.  NHMrC Centres of research excellence 

australian Centre for translational Breast Cancer 

research: from discovery to better health. 

Chief investigators: lindeman G, Mann GB, Desai 

J, forbes Jf, fox s, liew D, Mcarthur G, simes J, 

sutherland r, visvader J. 

total awarded: 2013-2015 $2,500,600.00 
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HAEMATOLOGY
the Haematology Unit engages in both clinical and 
laboratory based research. Clinicians and nurses are 
actively involved in research directed at improving 
patient care, while the department also supports 
dedicated laboratory and clinical trials teams. the 
staff specialists are committed to providing quality 
training to haematology registrars. Many of the staff 
hold conjoint appointments with the University of 
Newcastle and engage in teaching undergraduate 
medical students and supervising biomedical 
student projects. the unit is fortunate to have strong 
community support and is grateful for all the generous 
donations received in 2012/13.

HAEMATOLOGY CLINICAL TRIALS

Clinical Trial Coordinators: Michele Gambrill, 
Tara Novak, Marguerite Hughes, William 
Whitbread-Brown 
Administrative Officer: Patricia Rozanski

over the past year the haematology clinical trials office has 
screened 283 patients of which we have recruited 61 new 
participants to 15 currently enrolling trials. this equates 
to a total of 140 participants currently entered onto trials 
with 44 participants in active treatment and a further 
96 participants in follow up or enrolled onto registries. 
the open trials cover a wide range of haematological 
conditions both in acute and chronic diseases. 

there were 24 open trials (including those open to 
recruitment and those closed to recruitment but 
with participants either on treatment or in follow up) 
being managed in 2012/13, 15 administered by 
the australasian leukaemia and lymphoma Group 
(allG), nine sponsored by pharmaceutical companies 
and/or investigator initiated.  

BONE MARROW STEM CELL TRANSPLANT 
RESEARCH

Philip Rowlings, Hong Zhang, Linda Bissett, 
Geordie Zaunders

the Hunter Haematology Unit continues to be a 
contributing member of the Centre for international 
Blood and Marrow transplant research (CiBMtr) 
based in wisconsin, Usa. the group successfully took 
part in an international audit as part of ensuring data 
quality. patient transplant data is also reported to the 
australian Bone Marrow transplant recipients registry 
(aBMtrr) as part of australian BMt research and 
development.  professor rowlings is a member of the 
scientific advisory Committee of asia pacific BMt Group 
(apBMt) as well as serving on a number of research 
working committees of the CiBMtr. these efforts, in 
addition to ensuring good governance, are recognised 
in authorship of publications in peer reviewed journals 
around the management of leukaemia and lymphoma.

LABORATORY RESEARCH – THE HUNTER 
HAEMATOLOGY RESEARCH GROUP

Lisa Lincz, Fiona Scorgie, Linda Bissett, Nadine 
Berry, Anoop Enjeti and Philip Rowlings

the Haematology research laboratory conducts 
studies into haematological cancers and disorders 
of coagulation, with a primary interest in circulating 
microparticles. the laboratory is linked to the University 

of Newcastle and offers tuition and scholarships to 
encourage students to enter this area of research. 
there are presently one phD and one Master’s student 
associated with the lab. in addition, researchers are 
responsible for the processing of blood samples from 
Calvary Mater Newcastle patients who participate 
in clinical trials and donate tissue to the australasian 
leukemia and lymphoma Group tissue Bank. the 
group maintains strong collaborations with researchers 
both nationally (school of Human life sciences, 
University of tasmania) and locally with the Departments 
of Neurology (JHH), endocrinology (JHH), Molecular 
and Cytogenetics (HNeH), toxicology (CMN), Medical 
oncology (CMN), and the school of Biomedical 
sciences and pharmacy (University of Newcastle).

RESEARCH FUNDING

Cathie Milton   
successful grant sponsorship from Coalfields 
research Grant fund and Jane reid Harle Memorial 
research Grant fund, for “Haematology piCC 
project” study title; “to develop, implement and 
evaluate a nurse led intervention model where 
peripherally inserted Central Catheters (piCCs) are 
used instead of Central venous Catheters (CvCs) in 
haematology patients” 
 project currently in study phase, due for completion 
December 2013

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS (PRESENTING 
AUTHOR UNDERLINED)

lisa f lincz, Mohammad J. alkhatatbeh, anoop K. 
enjeti,  shamasunder acharya, rick f. thorne. the 
origin of circulating CD36+ microparticles in type 
2 diabetes. international society for extracellular 
vesicles, 16-20 april, 2013, Boston, Mass, Usa, oral 
presentation

lisa f lincz, Christopher i Johnston, fiona e scorgie, 
Margaret o’leary, ritam prasad, Michael seldon, 
emmanuel favaloro, Geoffrey K isbister .Comparative 
sensitivity of Different Commercially available aptt 
reagents to a Clinically relevant ‘Coagulation 
inhibitor’ Haa-apstH 2012, 28-31 october, 
Melbourne, viC, poster presentation

alexandra seaton, experiences of a newly trained 
apheresis Nurse. aBC symposium, July 2012. 
Brisbane, australia, oral presentation 

INVITED PRESENTATIONS/LECTURES

Lisa Lincz (invited speaker), Haa-apstH 2012, 
“the nature and origin of circulating CD36 in type 2 
diabetes: a role for microparticles”, Melbourne, viC, 
28-31 october 2012

Michael Seldon (invited speaker), for the australian 
snakebite project investigators. a randomised 
controlled trial of fresh frozen plasma for treating 
venom induced consumption coagulopathy in 
australia. istH, amsterdam, Netherlands, June 29-
July 4, 2013

ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERSHIP

Cathie Milton:  National advisory board, Mozobil  
(plerixafor) 

 BMt network, review for scholarship 
program

Debbie Carr:  National advisory board on the 
development of guidelines for the 
administration of vidaza; National 
MDs advisory board             

philip rowlings:  scientific advisory Board of the asia 
pacific Bone Marrow transplant 
Group (apBMt) 

PUBLICATIONS

1.  alkhatatbeh, M.J., a.K. enjeti, s. acharya, r.f. thorne, 
and l.f. lincz, The origin of circulating CD36 in type 
2 diabetes. Nutr Diabetes, 2013. 3: p. e59

2.  ardjmand, a., C.e. Bock, s. shahrokhi, l.f. 
lincz, a.w. Boyd, G.f. Burns, and r.f. thorne, 
Fat1 cadherin provides a novel minimal residual 
disease marker in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. 
Hematology, 2013

3.  Brighton, t.a., J.w. eikelboom, K. Mann, r. 
Mister, a. Gallus, p. ockelford, H. Gibbs, w. 
Hague, D. Xavier, r. Diaz, a. Kirby, and J. simes, 
Low-dose aspirin for preventing recurrent 
venous thromboembolism. N engl J Med, 2012. 
367(21): p. 1979-87

4.  Crowther, H.J., r. lindeman, p. Ho, e. allen, 
C. waite, s. Matthews, K. Jobburn, J. teo, s. 
Day, M. seldon, D. rosenfeld, and i. Kerridge, 
The Health of Adults Living with a Clinically 
Significant Haemoglobinopathy in NSW, 
Australia. The NSW Haemoglobinopathy Project. 
intern Med J, 2013

5.  Dreger, p., r. Brand, J. Hansz, D. Milligan, p. 
Corradini, J. finke, G.l. Deliliers, r. Martino, 
N. russell, a. van Biezen, M. Michallet, and D. 
Niederwieser, Treatment-related mortality and 
graft-versus-leukemia activity after allogeneic 
stem cell transplantation for chronic lymphocytic 
leukemia using intensity-reduced conditioning. 
leukemia, 2003. 17(5): p. 841-8

6.  Garg, M.B., l.f. lincz, K. adler, f.e. scorgie, 
s.p. ackland, and J.a. sakoff, Predicting 
5-fluorouracil toxicity in colorectal cancer 
patients from peripheral blood cell telomere 
length: a multivariate analysis. Br J Cancer, 2012. 
107(9): p. 1525-33

7.  isbister, G.K., N.a. Buckley, C.B. page, f.e. 
scorgie, l.f. lincz, M. seldon, and s.G. Brown, 
A randomized controlled trial of fresh frozen 
plasma for treating venom-induced consumption 
coagulopathy in cases of Australian snakebite (ASP-
18). J thromb Haemost, 2013. 11(7): p. 1310-8

8.  Maduwage, K., f.e. scorgie, a. silva, s. shahmy, 
f. Mohamed, C. abeysinghe, H. Karunathilake, 
l.f. lincz, C.a. Gnanathasan, and G.K. isbister, 
Hump-nosed pit viper (Hypnale hypnale) 
envenoming causes mild coagulopathy with 
incomplete clotting factor consumption. Clin 
toxicol (phila), 2013. 51(7): p. 527-31

9.  phang, M., l.f. lincz, and M.l. Garg, 
Eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acid 
supplementations reduce platelet aggregation 
and hemostatic markers differentially in men and 
women. J Nutr, 2013. 143(4): p. 457-63
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PALLIATIVE CARE
the Department of palliative Care remains a hive of 
research activity with numerous projects and clinical 
trials underway.

2012/13 saw staff departures within the research 
section of the department, reverting back to one full-
time research nurse for the second half of the financial 
year. this has seen a decline in recruitment to the 
clinical trials from the previous year, with 84 patients 
agreeing to receive study information and 14 going on 
to participate in a clinical trial. this may also be due 
to a decrease in studies that are open to recruitment, 
with a drop to active recruitment of seven clinical trials 
compared to 11 in the previous year.

the research team has also provided valuable 
support to the staff within the department, allowing 
independent research to be undertaken. the CNCs 
are currently undertaking two research projects 
looking at end of life care in emergency Departments 
and residential aged Care facilities.

the outreach team have also been reviewing 
practices and implementing changes to 
accommodate the growing number of patients. 
one such project is the end of episode/reactivation 
of episode project which was commenced in april 
2013; this has seen the number of individual patients 
contacted by our service quadruple in four months 
and the number of individual patients visited by our 
service triple in that time. it is important to realise the 
value in this, as the staff numbers have not increased.

another project undertaken by the outreach team 
is time of referral to first meaningful contact, where 
the aim is to have all new referrals contacted by our 
service within 48 hours. this project has seen a 46% 
increase in patients contacted within this timeframe 
which is now almost at the benchmark of 90% set by 
pCoC.

Many areas of our department undertake various 
research activities by way of audits and quality 
improvement projects to assess and review current 
practices, always with the aim of improving the care 
we provide to patients and families.

one of the many highlights of the research we 
undertake is having our work presented at national 
and international conferences, in June 2013 we were 
fortunate to have two of our staff (Dr erica Cameron-
taylor and professor Katherine Clark) attend the 
european association of palliative Care Congress in 
prague.

our CNCs attended the palliative Care Nsw state 
Conferences in Dubbo late in 2012 which had the 
focus of ‘challenging behaviours at the end of life’. 
in collaboration with pepa: ‘a palliative approach to 
care’, ‘end of life care in acute care settings’, they 
also assisted with presenting ‘yarn up’, a discussion 
with an aboriginal focus.

we have also been very fortunate in having six posters 
and an oral presentation from our department being 
accepted for presentation at the australian palliative 
Care Conference in Canberra in september.

PUBLICATIONS

1.  Tai V, Cameron-Taylor E, Clark K. a Mixed 
Methodology retrospective analysis of the 
learning experience of final year Medical 
students attached to a 1-week intensive palliative 

Care Course Based at an australian University. 
American Journal of Hospice and Palliative 
Medicine. 2013 published on line 23 July 23  

2.  allcroft p, Margitanovic v, Greene a, agar Mr, 
Clark K, abernethy ap, Currow DC. the role of 
Benzodiazepines in Breathlessness: a single site, 
open label pilot of sustained release Morphine 
together with Clonazepam. Journal of Palliative 
Medicine 2013;16

3.  Coupe N, Cox K, Clark K, Boyer M, stockler 
M.  outcomes of permanent peritoneal ports for 
the Management of recurrent Malignant ascites. 
Journal of Palliative Medicine 2013;16(8)

4.  Clark K, Currow DC. a pilot study to assess the 
feasibility of measuring the prevalence of slow 
colon transit and evacuation disorders in palliative 
care. Journal of Palliative Medicine 2013; 16(5): 
542-545

5.  Clark K, Currow DC.  Constipation in palliative 
care: what do we use as definitions and outcome 
measures? Journal of Pain and Symptom 
Management 2013;45(4):753-764

6.  o’Brien a, vanDerriet p, Clark K, lock M, 
Martin a, o’Connor M, pidcock t, McGrath p. 
Developing aboriginal palliative care models: the 
challenges for mainstream services. Rural and 
Remote Health 2013;13(2) 

7.  Clark K, rowett D, robinson M, Currow DC. 
Uptake of methylnaltrexone in australia for people 
with opioid-induced constipation: a review of the 
number of scripts presented in the first 12 months 
of subsidisation. BMJ Supportive and Palliative 
Care 2013:3(1):98-102    

8.  Cameron-Taylor E. the palliative approach: a 
resource for healthcare workers. M&K publishing. 
Keswick. 2012. isBN: 9781905539673

9.  Clark K, smith J, lovell M, Currow DC. 
longitudinal pain reports in a palliative care 
population. Journal of Palliative Medicine: 2012, 
15(12): 1335-1341

10.  toh t, Clark K, lam l, shelby-James t. 
Currow DC. the role of ondansetron in the 
management of cholestatic or uraemic pruritus - a 
systematic review. Journal of Pain and Symptom 
Management 2012; 12;44(5)725–730

11.  Currow DC, vella-Brincate J, fazekas B, 
Doogue M, Clark K, Doogue M. rowett 
D pharmacovigilance in hospice / palliative 
care. rapid report of net clinical effect of 
metoclopramide. Journal of Palliative Medicine 
2012; 15(10):1071-75 

12.  Clark K, Currow DC. assessing Constipation in 
palliative Care in a Gastroenterology framework. 
Palliative Medicine 2012; 26(6):834-41

13.  Sneesby, L. (2012). “i want to go home: Kelly’s 
story”  Handover vol 5 issue 1 
also used as an exemplar in the chapter “How 
spiritual needs are met” in the book “Communicating 
to people about spiritual needs” in press

LETTERS TO THE EDITOR

1.  Clark K, Currow DC. response to “a cross-
sectional study of constipation and laxative use in 
advanced cancer patients: insights for revision of 
current practise. Supportive Care in Cancer 2012 

20(12):3027-8

2.  Clark K, Currow DC. re oral docusate in 
the management of constiaptation in hospice 
patients (letter). Journal of Pain and Symptom 
Management 2012;44(6)

3.  rowett D, Clark K, robinson M, Currow DC. 
subsidised use of methylnaltrexone in australia for 
palliative care. Med J aust 2012;197(9):40 

ACCEPTED ARTICLES 

1.  Davidson pM, abernethy a, Newton pJ, Clark 
K, Currow DC. the caregiving perspective in 
heart failure: a population based study. accepted 
Biomed Central april 2013

2.  Sneesby, L “Home is where i want to die” 
Contemporary Nurses Journal. (accepted for 
publication January 2014 edition)

3.  Sneesby, L (July 2013) Nutrition and hydration 
in dying patients: the perceptions of acute care 
nurses (accepted for publication Journal of clinical 
nursing) JCN-2012-0300.r1

4.  Campbell L (2013) Honouring the wishes of a 
dying patient: from intensive Care to home with 
palliative Care (accepted for publication in CJN 
october issue) 

SUBMITTED ARTICLES 

1.  Currow DC, Clark K, Mitchell G, abernethy 
a.  the characteristics of people and their 
consultations as they present with breathlessness 
to general practice in australia. submitted  plos 
oNe, april 2013

2.  Clark K, Currow DC. a cohort study to document 
bowel symptoms experienced by palliative care 
patients on laxatives Journal of pain and symptom 
Management. submitted Journal of pain and 
symptom Management april 2012 

3.  Clark K, Byfieldt N, Green M, saul p, phillips J. 
Gap analysis

4.  Currow DC, abernathy a, Quinn s, eckerman 
s, agar M, fazekas B, McCaffrey N, Clark K. a 
multi-site, fixed dose, parallel arm, double-blind, 
randomised, placebo-controlled trial of infusional 
octreotide or placebo with regular parenteral 
ranitidine and dexamethasone in the control 
of vomiting associated with malignant bowel 
obstruction

PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS

1.  Clark K, Byfieldt N, paul p, Greene M, shaw l, 
 phillips J. Designing a track and trigger 
observation chart to guide care of the dying in 
acute hospitals.  european Journal of palliative 
Care, 2013  

2.  Clark K, Byfieldt N. a retrospective audit of the 
use of ranitidine on a palliative care unit. european 
Journal of palliative Care, 2013

3.  Cameron-Taylor E, Clark K. the introduction of 
an on-line spaced education program to augment 
palliative medicine teaching. european Journal of 
palliative Care, 2013 
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4.  Currow DC, Clark K, Cartmill J et al. a 
randomised double-blind placebo controlled 
trial in infusinal subcutaneous octreotide in the 
management of malignant bowel obstructions in 
people with advanced cancer. palliative Medicine, 
2012 

CONFERENCE ABSTRACTS

1.  Clark K, Diana S. Developing an evidence-
based referral tool to palliative care services. 19th 
international Congress of palliative care, Montreal 
Canada, october 2012

2.  Clark K, Currow DC, talley NJ,  lam l, 
shelby-James t, agar M, Davidson p, phillips 
J. a randomized study to examine whether the 
constipation symptoms are better palliated when 
the underlying pathophysiology of constipation is 
assessed: results of the first 10 people to undergo 
investigations. 19th international Congress of 
palliative care, Montréal Canada, october 2012

GENERAL INTERNAL 
MEDICINE
JOURNAL ARTICLES

1.  wilson pa, tierney l, Graves s.   Queensland tick 
typhus:  three cases with unusual clinical features. 
internal Medicine Journal 2013; 43: 823-25

2.  Kasherman l, foy a, tierney a, reeves GeM, 
tran H.   primary hypothyroidism masquerading 
as hepatocellular necrosis Quarterly Journal of 
Medicine 2013;106: 1-4

3.  thu K, Hayes M, Miles s, tierney l, foy a. 
Marijuana ‘bong’ smoking and tuberculosis. 
internal Medicine Journal. 2013 apr; 43(4):456-8

4.  Berry C, tsai J, tierney a, pickles r.  visceral 
leishmaniasis in a patient taking adalimumab for 
rheumatoid arthritis; Med J aust  2013; 198 (6) : 
331-333

PRESENTATIONS AT CONFERENCE

1.  oo y, athuraliya t, foy a. - the frequency 
distribution of length of stay: a superior indicator 
of hospital performance. oral presentation at the 
internal Medicine society of australian and New 
Zealand annual scientific Meeting Queenstown 
New Zealand september 2012. trainee of the year 
award

2.  foy a, tierney aB. - a general medicine service 
in the bush. presented at the internal Medicine 
society of australian and New Zealand annual 
scientific Meeting Queenstown New Zealand 
september 2012. poster

3.  sellathurai s, athuraliya t, Hayes M, twaddell 
s, tran H, foy a. - severe hypomagnesaemia 
associated with the use of proton pump inhibitors 
among a cohort of hospitalized patients. 
presented at the internal Medicine society of 
australian and New Zealand annual scientific 
Meeting Queenstown New Zealand september 
2012. poster

4.  withanage a, wass s, Carter G, lawrence r, 
foy a. - an analysis of aggressive behaviour in 

a cohort of elderly inpatients. presented at the 
internal Medicine society of australian and New 
Zealand annual scientific Meeting Queenstown 
New Zealand september 2012. poster

5.  withanage a, oo y, wass s, athuraliya t, foy a. - 
elderly hospitalised patients displaying aggressive 
behaviours have adverse outcomes. presented 
at the internal Medicine society of australian 
and New Zealand annual scientific Meeting 
Queenstown New Zealand september 2012. 
poster

6.  Miles s, foy a, Cohen M, anya D. - the 
experience of a Department of General Medicine 
following the collocation of a mental health 
service. presented at the internal Medicine society 
of australian and New Zealand annual scientific 
Meeting Queenstown New Zealand september 
2012. poster

7.  Halland M, Daniher D, tran H Gibson r 
foy a. - aetiological spectrum of extreme 
hyperferritinaemia. poster presentation at 
australian Gastroenterology week adelaide 2012

8.  Halland M, Gibson r, patterson s, foy a. - 
introducing a new service to a tertiary cancer 
centre: Characteristics and outcomes of the first 
eleven gastrointestinal stenting procedures. poster 
presentation at australian Gastroenterology week 
adelaide 2012

9.  oo y. - frequency distribution of length of stay 
as an indicator of hospital performance. oral 
presentation at raCp annual scientific meeting in 
perth May 2013

10.  oo y. - ertapenem associated neurotoxicity 
presented at the australian society for infectious 
Diseases Canberra March 2013. poster

11.  twaddell s. - tBNa: still worth taking a stab? 
poster presentation at the world Congress of 
Bronchology and interventional pulmonology 
Cleveland June 2012

OTHER IN HOUSE OR NON-REFEREED 
PRESENTATIONS

1.  foy a and wass s: General Medicine and 
outreach at Calvary Mater Newcastle. 
Mediscussion the raCp Quarterly public policy 
Discussion papers. april 2013 pp4 and 5

2.  philcox a: an audit of subcutaneous insulin 
prescribing at Calvary Mater Newcastle as part of 
the National subcutaneous insulin form pilot

CLINICAL TOXICOLOGY AND 
PHARMACOLOGY
JOURNAL ARTICLES/PUBLICATIONS

1.  whyte i, Buckley N. - antivenom Update. 
australian prescriber. 2012;35:152–5

2.  isbister GK, shahmy s, Mohamed f, abeysinghe 
C, Karunathilake H, ariaratnam a. - a 
randomised controlled trial of two infusion rates 
to decrease reactions to antivenom. plos one 
2012;7(6):e38739. epub 2012 Jun 18

3.  isbister GK, o’leary Ma, elliott M, Brown 
sGa. - tiger snake (Notechis spp) envenoming: 

australian snakebite project (asp-13). Med J aust. 
2012 aug 6;197(3):173-7

4.  Chaisakul J, isbister GK, Konstantakopoulos N, 
tare M, parkington HC, Hodgson wC. - in vivo 
and in vitro cardiovascular effects of papuan 
taipan (oxyuranus scutellatus) venom: exploring 
“sudden collapse” toxicol lett 2012 sep 
3;213(2):243-8

5.  Johnston Ci1, o’leary Ma, Brown sGa, Currie 
BJ, Halkidis l, whitaker r, Close Br, isbister GK. 
- Death adder envenoming causes neurotoxicity 
not reversed by antivenom - australian snakebite 
project (asp-16). plos trop Neg Dis 2012 
sep;6(9):e1841

6.  pycroft K, isbister GK, o’leary Ma, Kuruppu 
s, lawrence J, smith ai, Greig fry B, Hodgson 
wC. - toxinology of venoms from five australian 
lesser known elapid snakes. Basic Clin pharmacol 
toxicol. 2012:oct; 268-74

7.  Calver l, isbister GK. - Dexmedetomidine in 
the emergency department. assessing safety 
and effectiveness in difficult to sedate acute 
behavioural disturbance. emerg Med J. 2012:Nov; 
915-8

8.  isbister GK, Brown sGa. - Bites in australian 
snake handlers - australian snakebite project 
(asp-15). QJM. 2012: Nov;105(11):1089-1095

9.  allen Ge, Brown sGa, Buckley Na, o’leary 
Ma, page CB, Currie BJ, white J, isbister GK 
. - for the asp investigators. Clinical effects and 
antivenom dosing in Brown snake (pseudonaja 
spp.) envenoming - australian snakebite project 
(asp-14). plos one. 2012;7(12):e53188

10.  Berling i, whyte iM, isbister GK. - oxycodone 
overdose causes naloxone responsive coma and 
Qt prolongation. Quarterly Journal of Medicine. 
2013;106(1):35–41

11.  Gosselin s, Hoffman rs, Juurlink DN, whyte i, 
yarema M, Caro J. - treating acetaminophen 
overdose: thresholds, costs and uncertainties. 
Clinical toxicology. 2013;51:130–133

12.  Maduwage K, isbister GK, silva a, Bowatta s, 
Mendis s, Gawarammana i. - epidemiology and 
clinical effects of hump-nosed pit viper (Genus: 
Hypnale) envenoming in sri lanka. toxicon. 2013 
Jan;61:11-5

13.  Gulati a, isbister GK, Duffull sB. - effect of 
australian elapid venoms on blood coagulation: 
australian snakebite project (asp-17). toxicon. 
2013 Jan;61:94-104

14.  Kornhauser r, isbister GK, o’leary Ma, 
Mirtschin p, Dunstan N, Hodgson wC. - Cross-
Neutralisation of the Neurotoxic effects of 
egyptian Cobra venom with Commercial tiger 
snake antivenom. Basic Clin pharmacol toxicol. 
2013 feb;112(2):138-43

15.  o’leary Ma, Maduwage K, isbister GK. - Use of 
immunoturbidimetry to detect venom-antivenom 
binding using snake venoms. J pharmacol toxicol 
Methods. 2013 Mar 1;63:112-5

16.  Hart aJ, isbister GK, Hodgson wC. - in vitro 
neurotoxic effects of pseudechis sp. venoms: a 
comparison of avian and murine skeletal muscle 
preparations. toxicon. 2013 Mar 1;63:112-5
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17.  Chaisakula J, isbister GK, Konstantakopoulos N, 
Hodgson wC. - Differential myotoxic and cytotoxic 
activities of pre-synaptic neurotoxins from papuan 
taipan (oxyuranus scutellatus) and irian Jayan 
death adder (acanthophis rugosus) venoms. Basic 
Clin pharmacol toxicol. 2013 May;112(5):325-34

18.  Carter Gl, Clover K, whyte iM, Dawson aH, 
D’este C. - postcards from the eDge: 5-year 
outcomes of a randomised controlled trial for 
hospital-treated self-poisoning. British Journal of 
psychiatry. 2013 May;202(5):372-80

19.  Calver la, isbister GK. - parenteral sedation of 
elderly patients with acute behavioral disturbance 
in the emergency department. am J emerg Med 
2013 Jun;31(6):970-3

20.  Johnston Ci, Brown sGa, o’leary Ma, Currie 
BJ, Greenberg r, taylor M, Barnes C, white 
J, isbister GK. - Mulga snake (pseudechis 
australis) envenoming: a spectrum of myotoxicity, 
anticoagulant coagulopathy, haemolysis and 
the role of early antivenom therapy - australian 
snakebite project (asp-19). Clin toxicol. 2013 
Jun;51(5):417-24

21.  Hart aJ, isbister GK, o’Donnell p, williamson 
Na, Hodgson wC. - species differences in 
the neuromuscular activity of post-synaptic 
neurotoxins from two australian black snakes 
(pseudechis porphyriacus and pseudechis 
colletti). toxicol lett 2013 Jun 7;219(3):262-8

22.  isbister GK, Buckley Na, page CB, scorgie fe, 
lincz lf, seldon M, Brown sGa. - a randomised 
controlled trial of fresh frozen plasma for treating 
venom induced consumption coagulopathy 
in australian snakebite (asp-18). J thromb 
Haemost. 2013 Jul;11(7):1310-8

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

1.   posterior, subcapsular cataract in association with 
fludrocortisone acetate therapy: a case report 
australasian society of Clinical and experimental 
pharmacologists (asCept poster)  
46th annual Meeting, sydney, australia December 
2012 
ian M. whyte, felicity H. prior, ian K. emslie, 
peter e. J. Davies, John Cosgrove (submitted for 
publication) 

2.  a centralised therapeutic drug monitoring service 
for aminoglycosides 
(sHpa federal Conference poster presentation)  
Kate o’Hara, felicity prior

3.  Not such a healthy choice…  
(tapNa oral presentation)  
Kate o’Hara, felicity prior

4.  Nosocomial poisoning risk in sodium azide 
ingestion: analysis of an exposure 
european association of poisons Centres and 
Clinical toxicologists XXXiii international Congress 
Copenhagen, Denmark. May 28 – May 31 
Downes M.a., taliana K.e., Muscat t.M., whyte 
i.M.

5.  too Much insulin 
26th annual winter psychological Medicine 
symposium 
thredbo, australia. august 2013  
whyte iM. 

RESEARCH FUNDING/GRANTS

1.  NHMrC program Grant: “an integrated research 
program in human toxicology to ensure rapid 
translation of results into practice and regulation.” 
Buckley Na, isbister GK, Dawson a, roberts M. 
2014-2018. $6,846,800.00 (UNsw)

2.  NHMrC project Grant: “Neurotoxicity after 
acute anticholinesterase pesticide poisoning and 
envenomation.” Buckley Na, senanayake N, 
isbister G, Dawson a, Karalliedde l, de silva J. 
2012-2015. $970,970.00 (UNsw)

3.  NHMrC project Grant: “snakebite first aid.” van 
Helden D, isbister GK. 2012-2013. $192,450.00 
(University of Newcastle)

4.  Hunter Medical research institute: “first aid for 
cytotoxic snakebite.” van Helden D, isbister GK. 
2012 $25,000.00

5.  Nsw Health Drug and alcohol research 
Grants program: “the DorM ii study: a post-
implementation safety study of droperidol for 
acute behavioural disturbance in the emergency 
department.” isbister GK, Calver l, Miller M. 
2011-2012 $18,190.00

6.  NHMrC project Grant “a randomised controlled 
trial of antivenom and corticosteroids for red-
bellied black snake envenoming.” isbister GK, 
Buckley Na. 2011-2014. $445,576.00 (University 
of Newcastle)

7.  NHMrC project Grant “Biomarkers of acute renal 
toxicity in humans.” Buckley N, endre, Z, Dawson 
a, sheriff r, isbister GK, roberts M. 2011-2013. 
$1,044,710.00 (University of Nsw)

8.  NHMrC Clinical Career Development award 
“Multicentre studies of interventions in clinical 
toxicology and envenoming, including antivenoms 
and decontamination.” 2010 – 2013; $417,000.00 
(University of Newcastle)

CONSULTATION-LIAISON 
PSYCHIATRY (INCLUDING 
THE PSYCHO-ONCOLOGY 
SERVICE)
the department continued its collaborative 
translational research activities in a number of areas 
of relevance for the practice of consultation-liaison 
psychiatry, with publications in peer-reviewed journals, 
conference presentations at national and international 
meetings and several ongoing research projects. 

the impact of post-stroke depression on the lives of 
patients, the evaluation of screening instruments for 
depression in stroke populations and a clinical trial 
evaluating the possible prevention of post-stroke 
depression, in collaboration with colleagues at the 
HMri, University of Melbourne and the George 
institute, sydney, were reported. the development 
and evaluation of a clinical predictive tool was 
undertaken as a multi-centre study in 28 australian 
iCUs in collaboration with John Hunter Hospital 
iCU colleagues, with this manuscript accepted for 
publication by Critical Care Medicine. the study of 
cognitive impairment and driving hazard after sedative 
drug overdose was conducted in collaboration with 

Calvary Mater Newcastle Department of Clinical 
toxicology and the school of psychology at the 
University of Newcastle. this project has yielded 
several important publications, resulted in the award 
of a phD to Dr tharaka Dassanayake and has been 
extended to investigate the degree of cognitive 
recovery during a 28 day follow-up. 

psycho-oncology and suicide prevention are the 
major continuing research activities for several 
departmental staff. Dr Clover and professor Carter 
contributed to an international consensus group 
determining the best depression screening instrument 
in oncology patients. Dr Ben Britton has extended 
his work in improving nutritional deficit in head and 
neck cancer patients to an NHMrC funded multi-
centre project with collaborators in HMri, University 
of Newcastle, University of Queensland and Calvary 
Mater Newcastle Department of radiation oncology. 
Departmental staff are also leading a collaboration 
with HMri, the Department of radiation oncology 
and private practice Urologists into the psychological 
impact and cost-effectiveness of different treatment 
modalities for localised prostate cancer. the 
department was strongly represented at the 
international psycho-oncology society Conference in 
Brisbane with presentations by six staff members. 

the postcards from the eDge project reported the 
favourable five year outcomes in the British Journal 
of psychiatry. sarah Hiles is the research Manager 
in the suicide prevention program, funded by 
the Burdekin suicide prevention program via the 
stewardship of the Hunter and New england Mental 
Health services. she has contributed to international 
collaborations with colleagues from oxford University 
exploring the differences in hospital treated deliberate 
self-harm in australia and the UK and colleagues in 
the University of leicester exploring the risk factors for 
long term repetition of deliberate self-harm, which will 
soon be reported at conferences and in peer reviewed 
journals. 

ARTICLES PUBLISHED IN PEER REVIEWED 
JOURNALS

1.  white JH,  Magin p,  attia J, sturm J,  Carter 
G,  pollack M. - trajectories of psychological 
distress after stroke. Annals of Family Medicine 
2012(10):435-442. doi:10.1370/afm.1374 

2.  white J, Gray K, Magin p, attia J, sturm J. Carter 
G. - exploring the experience of post stroke 
fatigue in community dwelling stroke survivors: 
a prospective qualitative study. Disability and 
Rehabilitation aug 2012, vol. 34, No. 16, pages 
1376-1384

3.  turner a, Hambridge J, white J, Carter G, Clover 
K, Nelson l, Hackett M. - Depression screening in 
stroke: a comparison of alternative measures with 
the sCiD (Major Depressive episode) as criterion 
standard.  Stroke  2012(43):1000-1005 

4.  alex J Mitchell, Nick Meader, evan Davies, Kerrie 
Clover, Gregory Carter, Matthew J. loscalzo, 
wolfgang linden, luigi Grassi, Christoffer 
Johansen, linda Carlson, James Zabora. - 
Meta-analysis of screening and Case finding 
tools for Depression in Cancer: evidence based 
recommendations for Clinical practice for the 
DCC Consensus Group. Journal of Affective 
Disorders 2012 140: 149–160 
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5.  Dassanayake tl, Carter Gl,  Jones al,  Mallard t, 
whyte i M,  Michie pt. - Cognitive skills underlying 
driving in patients discharged following self-
poisoning with central nervous system depressant 
drugs.  Traffic Injury Prevention 2012; 13:5, 450-
457

6.  Carter G. - editorial: young people, mental 
illness and suicidal behaviours. Early Intervention 
in Psychiatry 2012 6 (2): 113–114. Doi: 
10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00359.x)

7.  Carter G. - invited Commentary on “Bergen 
H, et al. How do methods of non-fatal self-
harm relate to eventual suicide?” evidence 
Based Mental Health 2012, 15:68 doi:10.1136/
ebmental-2012-100693

8.  Carter G, Britton B, Clover K, rogers K, adams 
C, Mcelduff p. - effectiveness of QUiCatoUCH: 
a computerised touch screen evaluation for pain 
and distress in ambulatory oncology patients in 
Newcastle, australia. Psycho-oncology 2012, 21: 
1149–1157. Doi: 10.1002/pon.2020

9.  Maree l Hackett, Greg Carter, Denis Crimmins, 
tracy Clarke, lucy arblaster, laurent Billot, 
Jayanthi Mysore, Jonathan sturm. improving 
outcomes after stroke: results from the 
randomised clinical pilot trial (accepted stroke 
april 2012)

10.  Clover K, Kelly p, rogers K, Britton B, Carter 
G. - predictors of desire for help in oncology 
outpatients reporting pain or distress. psycho-
oncology 2013, 22: 1611–1617. Doi: 10.1002/
pon.3188

11.  Carter Gl, Clover K, whyte iM, Dawson aH, 
D’este C. - postcards from the eDge: 5 year 
outcomes of a randomised controlled trial for 
hospital-treated deliberate self-poisoning. British 
Journal Psychiatry 2013, 202: 372–380. doi: 
10.1192/bjp.bp.112.112664

12.  Brieva J, Coleman N, lacey J, Harrigan p, lewin 
tJ, Carter Gl. - prediction of Death in less than 
60 minutes following withdrawal of Cardio-
respiratory support in intensive Care Units. 
(accepted Critical Care Medicine March 2013)

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

1.  Kerrie Clover, pete Kelly, Kerry rogers, Ben 
Britton, Gregory Carter 
predictors of desire for help in oncology 
outpatients reporting pain or distress  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 170

2.  Karen a Matthews, Kerrie a Clover, elizabeth 
Hesketh, lyndal Moore, Julia Drake, Gregory l 
Carter 
establishing a multidisciplinary service, the Hunter 
& Northern Nsw youth Cancer service  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 243

3.  Kerrie Clover, louise Nelson, Kerry rogers, 
Gregory l Carter 
prevalence of ‘problem list’ symptoms among 
oncology outpatients and relationship with distress  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 245

4.  Ben Britton, amanda Baker, Judith Bauer, luke 
wolfenden, Chris wratten, alison Beck, patrick 
Mcelduff, Gregory Carter 
eat: a stepped wedge cluster randomised trial to 
improve nutrition in head and neck cancer patients 
undergoing radiotherapy.  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 259

5.  amanda l Baker, alison Beck, Ben Britton, 
Gregory Carter, Judith Bauer, Chris wratten, luke 
wolfenden, patrick Mcelduff, louise thornton 
alcohol, tobacco use and readiness to change 
in an australian sample of head and neck cancer 
patients undergoing radiotherapy.  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 340

6.  alison K Beck, amanda l Baker, Ben Britton, 
Gregory Carter, Judith Bauer, Chris wratten, luke 
wolfenden, patrick Mcelduff, louise thornton.  
therapeutic alliance between dietitians and 
patients with head and neck cancer: relationship 
to quality of life and nutritional status following a 
dietitian delivered health behaviour intervention.  
australia asia-pacific Journal of Clinical oncology 
2012 vol8 s3 p 340

7.  Kerrie Clover, Gregory l Carter, Kerry rogers. 
four years of screening for pain and distress with 
QUiCatoUCH. australia asia-pacific Journal of 
Clinical oncology 2012 vol8 s3 p 342

RESEARCH FUNDING/GRANTS

1.  2012 Hunter translational Cancer research Unit 
(HtCrU)/priority research Centre for Cancer 
(prC Cancer) 
systematic review of psychological adjustment of 
men who choose active surveillance for localised 
prostate cancer 
Gregory Carter, βBen Britton, βsylvie lambert, 
βMartin white, βJim Denham: $10,000.00 over 
1 year

2.  2012 Calvary Mater research Grants ($1,500.00 
Coalfields Cancer support group equipment Grant 
and $22,900.00 Jane reid Memorial research 
Grant) 
Choosing active surveillance for localised prostate 
cancer: psychological adjustment and Quality 
adjusted life years  
Gregory Carter, Jim Denham, Martin white, Ben 
Britton, sylvie lambert: $24,400.00 over 1 year

3.  2012-2013. sydney Catalyst. $50,000.00  
translating evidence into practice: implementing 
clinical pathways to relieve distress and improve 
well-being for cancer patients 
Butow p, price M, Clayton J, Clover K, Grimison 
p, shaw t.

CLINICAL TRIALS

1.  eating as treatment (eat): a trial of a dieticians 
providing a psychological intervention to improve 
nutrition in Head and Neck cancer patients 
undergoing radiotherapy  
Chief investigators: amanda Baker Cia, Gregory 
Carter CiB et al.

2.  Calibrating commonly used questionnaires for 
depression and anxiety in oncology to enhance 

comparability and communication of outcomes. 
(rasCH study) 
Chief investigators:  K Clover, G Carter, B Britton. 
M King, s lambert J pallant

3.  Choosing active surveillance for localised prostate 
cancer: psychological adjustment and Quality 
adjusted life years  
Chief investigators: Gregory Carter,  Jim Denham, 
Martin white, Ben Britton, sylvie lambert, Nick 
Mcleod, Kerrie Clover
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Directors

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors of Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd submit their report for the year ended 

30 June 2013.

The names of the Company's Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this 

report are as follows.

Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

NAME QUALIFICATIONS AREAS OF SPECIFIC 
RESPONSIBILITY 

Hon John Watkins MA, LLB, DipEd Chair 

Member, MEC  

Michael Roche BA (Accounting), FCPA, 
MACS 

Deputy Chair 

Member, ARC 

Chair, SDC 

Hon Gregory Crafter AO LLB Director 

Chair, MEC 

Rebecca Davies 

 

BEc, LLB (Hons), FAICD Director 

Member, ARC 

Key:
ARC Audit & Risk Committee

MEC Mission & Ethics Committee

PRC Performance & Remuneration Committee

SDC Strategy & Development Committee

CGC Clinical Governance Committee

 Member, ARC 

Member, PRC  

John Mackay AM BA, FAIM Director 

Chair, PRC 

Associate Professor Richard Matthews AM MBBS Director  

Member, CGC 

Professor Katherine McGrath 
 

MBBS, FRCPA, FAICD Director 

Member, PRC 

Member, SDC 

Chair, CGC 

Patrick O’Sullivan (appointed 27 March 
2013) 

CA, MAICD Director 

Chair, ARC 

Professor Peter Ravenscroft AM 
 

MBBS (Qld), MD (Qld), 
FRACP, FFPMANZCA, 
FaChPM, GAICD 

Director 

Member, MEC 

Member, SDC 

Member, CGC 

Jane Tongs (resigned 26 March 2013) MBA, BBus, FCA, FCPA, 
MAICD 

Director 

Chair, ARC 

Brigid Tracey AM 
 

BN (Bachelor of Nursing), 
Grad Dip Nursing 
Administration 

Director 

Member, ARC 

Member, MEC 

Member, CGC 

Philip Maloney BCom, LLB, Grad Dip CSP, 
ACIS, MAICD 

Company Secretary 

David Bergman BCom, MEc, ACA, FFin Alternate Company 
Secretary 
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Directors (cont'd)

 Director

Held Att Held Att Held Att Held Att Held Att Held Att

 Hon John Watkins 9 9 4 2

 Michael Roche 9 8 5 5 2 2

 Hon Gregory Crafter AO 9 8 4 4

 Rebecca Davies 9 8 5 5 4 4

 John Mackay AM 9 8 4 4

 Assoc Prof Richard Matthews 9 8 2 2 5 5

 Prof Katherine McGrath 9 8 4 4 2 2 5 5

 Patrick O'Sullivan 3 3 1 1

 Prof Peter Ravenscroft AM 9 8 4 4 2 2 5 5

 Jane Tongs 6 6 4 4

 Brigid Tracey AM 9 8 5 5 4 4 5 5

The Directors attended the following Board meetings and applicable Committees each Director was 

eligible to attend:

CGCSDCMEC PRCBoard 

Meetings

ARC

Key:

ARC Audit & Risk Committee

MEC Mission & Ethics Committee

PRC Performance & Remuneration Committee

SDC Strategy & Development Committee

CGC Clinical Governance Committee

Principal activities 

Results

The Company continued to provide quality services in accordance with the mission vision and values of 

the organisation. 

(a) Revenues

The Company's revenue from operating activities totalled $155.569M (2012: $147.179M).  Grants and 

subsidies from Government for hospital operations totalled $121.552M (2012: $115.475M). Grants and 

subsidies represent 78% (2012: 78%) of revenue from operating activities.

Significant changes in the state of affairs

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the financial year.

The principal activities of the Company remain the ownership and operation of the Calvary Mater 

Newcastle hospital.

A surplus of $4.023M was achieved for the financial year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: deficit $0.004M).

Review of operations

2
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Significant events after year end

Set out below are the details of matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the 

Future developments 

(b) Expenses

The Company's expenses from operating activities totalled $157.947M (2012: $153.404M).  Expenses 

on personnel costs represent 64% (2012: 63%) of total operating expenses.

Staffing levels for clinical services have increased during the reporting period with total staff of 951 full 

time equivalents as at 30 June 2013 (2012: 928).  The actual number of staff as at 30 June 2013 was 

1,299 (2012: 1,227).

The Company plans to continue the integration and expansion of its current range of services in 

accordance with the mission, vision and values of the organisation.

(c) Hospital activities

The overall inpatient activity for the year was 15,783 separations, an increase of 2% on the year ended 

30 June 2012.  Non-inpatient activity for the hospital during the year was 347,435 occasions of service, 

an increase of 11% on the year ended 30 June 2012.

Set out below are the details of matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the 

financial year which significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Company.

There is a substantial process of regulatory and policy change impacting on the health and related 

sectors.  These changes arise from reviews undertaken by the Productivity Commission, potential 

revisions to legislation, health fund rebates eligibility changes and the impacts of the carbon tax.  No 

provision has been included in the financial statements for the potential impacts of these changes due 

to the material uncertainty as to their timing and impact.

Deed of access and indemnity - Directors

Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd has executed a Deed of Access & Indemnity which provides 

Directors with the right of access to records for seven years after they cease office and also 

indemnifies Directors (to the extent permitted by law) against liability incurred in the course of their 

duties as a Director of companies within the Little Company of Mary Health Care group.

Indemnification of officers and auditors

Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd paid a premium during the year in relation to a Directors & 

Officers Liability policy indemnifying the Directors and Officers of the Group for losses which the 

Director or Officer may become legally obligated to pay on account of any claim made against the 

Director or Officer during the policy period for a wrongful act committed during the policy period.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent 

permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any 

related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Rounding off

The Company is an entity to which ASIC Class Order 98/100 applies. Accordingly, amounts in the 

financial statements and Directors' Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, 

unless otherwise stated.
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2013 2012

$ '000 $ '000

Revenue from operations 155,569 147,179 

Other revenues 6,401 6,221 

Total revenues 2 161,970 153,400 

Employee benefits expense 3 101,624 96,701 

Depreciation expense 3 6,099 5,875 

Finance costs 3 9 8 

Supplies 20,107 20,848 

Computer expenses 119 113 

Consulting and legal costs 100 84 

Contracted services 21,255 21,440 

Insurance 106 94 

LCMHC National Office shared service contributions 1,924 1,753 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 587 258 

Operating lease rental expenses 3 45 25 

Power, light and heat 118 101 

Public relations 15 5 

Repairs and maintenance 254 177 

Subscriptions 116 79 

Travel 1,046 1,009 

Other expenses 4,423 4,834 

Total expenses 157,947 153,404 

Net surplus / (deficit) for the year attributable to Calvary 

Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd 4,023 (4)

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year 

attributable to Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd 4,023 (4)

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Note

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 

statements set out on pages 12 to 29.

8
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2013 2012

$ '000 $ '000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4/9 57,659 45,745 

Trade and other receivables 5 2,407 4,388 

Inventories 6 1,200 1,110 

Other current assets 7 166 160 

Total current assets 61,432 51,403 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 123,093 127,910 

Total non-current assets 123,093 127,910 

Total assets 184,525 179,313 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 5,842 6,790 

Provisions 12 32,671 30,576 

Total current liabilities 38,513 37,366 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 12 1,055 1,013 

Total non-current liabilities 1,055 1,013 

Total liabilities 39,568 38,379 

NET ASSETS 144,957 140,934 

Equity

Retained earnings 14  144,957 140,934 

TOTAL EQUITY 144,957 140,934 

  

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 

statements set out on pages 12 to 29.

Note

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2013

9
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2013 2012

$ '000 $ '000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 43,950 37,566 

Payments to suppliers and employees (154,830) (147,638)

Government grants received 132,332 126,073 

GST recovered from the ATO 4,662 4,720 

GST payments to ATO (14,360) (13,756)

Interest received 2,029 1,976 

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,783 8,941 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 596 514 

Payment for property, plant and equipment (2,465) (5,632)

Net cash used in investing activities (1,869) (5,118)

Net increase in cash held 11,914 3,823 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 45,745 41,922 

Cash at end of the financial year 57,659 45,745 

Separate disclosure of operating and other cash at the end 

of the financial year:

Operating cash 15,062 9,347 

Special purpose, trust and other restricted cash 9 42,597 36,398 

57,659 45,745 

Note

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements 

set out on pages 12 to 29.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

10
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Retained

earnings Total

$ '000 $ '000

Balance 1 July 2011 140,938 140,938 

Deficit for the year (4) (4)

Total comprehensive income for the year (4) (4)

Balance 30 June 2012 140,934 140,934 

Balance 1 July 2012 140,934 140,934 

Surplus for the year 4,023 4,023 

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,023 4,023 

Balance 30 June 2013 144,957 144,957 

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 

statements set out on pages 12 to 29.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

11
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1 Summary of significant accounting policies

Statement of Compliance

Basis of Preparation

Early Adoption of Accounting Standards

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

(a)

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements, and comply with other requirements of the law.

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the 

revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments.  All amounts are presented in 

Australian dollars.

The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order  98/100, dated 10 July 

1998, and in accordance with the Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to 

the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

In the year ended 30 June 2010, the directors elected under s.334(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 

to apply AASB 1053 'Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards', AASB 2010-2 

'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements' 

and AASB 2011-2 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-

Tasman Convergence Project - Reduced Disclosure Requirements'  in advance of their effective 

dates.  These standards are not required to be applied until annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 July 2013.  There is no impact to the current financial year resulting from the continued 

application of these standards.

AASB 2011-9 'Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Other 

Comprehensive Income'

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and 

presentation of the financial report:

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd is a not for profit Public Company limited by guarantee, 

incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The following Standard was adopted in the current financial year.  There has been no impact on 

the amounts disclosed in the financial statements arising from the adoption as the standard related 

to disclosure only.

The financial statements were authorised by the Board on 21 August 2013.

Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for the 

current financial year as a result of changes in the mapping of the general ledger accounts.

12
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(b)

(c)

(d)

Grants received  

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the 

financial asset.

Non-reciprocal grants

Revenue is recognised when the grant is received or receivable.

Reciprocal grants

Grants received on the condition that specified services be delivered, or conditions fulfilled, 

are considered reciprocal.  Such grants are initially recognised as a liability and revenue is 

recognised as services are performed or conditions fulfilled.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Donation revenue

Donation revenue is recognised when received, at the fair value of the asset donated.

Rendering of services

Patient fee revenue is recognised when the fee in respect of services provided is receivable.  

Accrued patient income represents an estimate of fees due from patients not billed at balance 

date.  This estimate is calculated with reference to individual episode information and per diem 

rates.

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 

(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian 

Taxation Office (ATO).  In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.  Receivables and payables in the Statement 

of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST.

The GST components of cash flows arising from operating, investing and financing activities 

which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current 

asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position.

Taxation

The Company is exempt from income tax under the current provisions of the Australian 

Income Tax Assessment Act (1997).  Accordingly, there is no income tax expense or income 

tax payable.

Resources received free of charge

Revenue is recognised when fair value can be reliably measured.  Usage of resources is 

recognised as a corresponding expense.

13
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(e)

(f)

(g)

Financial assets

Loans and receivables

Effective interest method

Impairment of financial assets

The classification of financial assets depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 

assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market are classified as 'loans and receivables'.  Loans and 

receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate, except for short-

term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 

instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.  The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on 

points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs 

and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or (where 

appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and liabilities are added to or 

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on 

initial recognition.

Cash

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and 

in hand and short-term term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  For the 

purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 

equivalents as defined above, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include interest and finance lease/hire purchase finance charges and are 

expensed as incurred.  In the case of assets which are under construction (and prior to being 

ready to use), borrowing costs are capitalised and form part of the total construction cost of 

the asset in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  

Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a 

result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the 

estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

14
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Derecognition   

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 

financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account.  When a trade receivable is considered 

uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of 

amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the 

carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the 

impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 

impairment not been recognised.

The Company derecognised a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership to the asset to another entity.  On derecognition of a financial 

asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of 

consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that has been 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit 

or loss.

Derecognition   

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company's 

obligations are either discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the 

carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable 

is recognised in the profit or loss.  

Financial liabilities    

Financial liabilities, including borrowings and trade and other payables, are initially measured 

at fair value, net of transaction costs.  Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on 

an effective yield basis.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed 

not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis.  

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Company's 

past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the 

portfolio past the average credit period of 30 days, as well as observable changes in national 

or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is 

the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.

15

64 •  Calvary Mater NewCastle  •  review of operatioNs  • 2012/2013 



Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(h)

(i) Property, plant and equipment

2013 2012

Buildings 2.5% 2.5%

Plant and equipment, comprised of:

   Plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings 10.0% 10.0%

   Medical, surgical and office equipment 15.0% 15.0%

   Computer equipment 33.3% 33.3%

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less any accumulated depreciation 

and any accumulated impairment losses.  Such costs include the cost of replacing parts that 

are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing the parts is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned on 

the basis of weighted average costs.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss 

arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 

as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 

recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over 

their useful lives, using the straight line method. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 

over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the 

improvements.  Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful 

lives on the same basis as owned assets.  However, when there is no reasonable certainty 

that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the 

shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end 

of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a 

prospective basis.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 

the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All other 

repairs and maintenance are charged to profit and loss during the financial period in which 

they are incurred.

The depreciation/amortisation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(j)

(k)

(l)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 

impairment loss.  If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).   Where it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks 

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  When a provision is measured using the cash 

flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 

those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Where some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Operating leases

Operating lease payments made under operating leases are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Value in 

Use is calculated as the higher of the present value of future cash flows (inclusive of an 

assessment period and terminal value of the asset) or the asset's depreciated replacement 

cost.

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Company at their fair 

value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 

payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial 

position as a finance lease obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned between finance 

expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 

the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit 

or loss.

Leased assets

Leases of plant and equipment under which the Company assumes substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.  All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.
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Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(m)

(n) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the Directors are required to make 

estimates and judgements about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  The estimates 

and associated assumptions are based on historical knowledge and best available current 

information.  Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on 

current trends and economic data obtained both externally and within the group. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in 

future periods where applicable.

Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of salaries and wages, 

annual leave, long service leave, and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be 

required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at their 

nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of long-term employee benefits are measured as the present 

value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Company in respect of services 

provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when 

employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

Included in accounts receivable at 30 June 2013 is an amount of $0.866M (2012: $0.888M) 

which represents the net trade receivables believed to be recoverable by the various 

controlled entities within the group after providing for an amount of $0.146M (2012: $0.035M) 

which is considered  to prudently represent those receivables considered impaired.  Each 

controlled entity within the group uses an impairment methodology which it believes best suits 

their individual business.  All impairment calculations are based on a commercial assessment 

criteria, including segmentation, ageing, billing and collections procedures and prevailing 

trends.

The Directors do not believe, however, that the entire amount of the impairment provision is 

not recoverable.  The provision represents 14.4% of trade receivables as at 30 June 2013.  

The 30 June 2012 provision amounted to 3.8% of total trade receivables.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

2 Revenue

Operating activities
Revenue from rendering of services 34,017 31,704 

Recurrent grants received/receivable 113,320 113,053 

Public Health Service capital grants 7,164 1,411 

Resources received free of charge - revenue 1,068 1,011 

155,569 147,179 
 

Non-operating activities
Interest revenue 2,029 1,976 

Donation revenue 1,298 1,293 

Canteen takings and meals and accommodation 192 185 

Government funded paid parental leave 292 156 

Other revenue 2,590 2,611 

6,401 6,221 

Total revenue 161,970 153,400 

3 Expenses
Depreciation of:

buildings 3,247 3,240 

plant and equipment 2,852 2,635 

Total depreciation expenses 6,099 5,875 

Finance costs:

interest and bank fees 9 8 

Bad and doubtful debts 174 97 

Employee benefits:

Salaries and wages 91,342 85,640 

Superannuation - defined contribution 6,311 5,778 

Superannuation - defined benefit 1,068 1,011 

Workcover 86 1,535 

Long-term and post-employment benefits 2,817 2,737 

101,624 96,701 

Operating lease rental expense:

Other parties 45 25 

Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 587 258 

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

4 Cash

Current

Cash at bank and on hand 24,659 20,745 

Short-term term deposits 33,000 25,000 

9 57,659 45,745 

5 Trade and other receivables  

Current

Trade receivables

Receivables for patient fees 1,012 923 

Less:  Allowance for impairment loss (146) (35)

866 888 

Other receivables

Grant receivable - Health / local health division - 374 

Other receivables 1,541 3,126 

1,541 3,500 

2,407 4,388 

Movement in the impairment of receivables

Balance at the beginning of the year (35) (35)

Impairment losses recognised on receivables (174) (97)

Amounts written off as uncollectable 63 97 

Balance at the end of the year (146) (35)

Trade and other receivables

6 Inventories

Current - at cost

Medical and surgical 335 341 

Pharmacy 865 769 

1,200 1,110 

7 Other assets

Current

Prepayments 166 160 

Patient fees receivable are generally settled from Health Funds within 30 days.

Other debtors are generally settled within 30 days.
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

8 Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land - at cost (a) 7,612 7,612 

Buildings - at cost (a) 130,113 130,007 

Less:  Accumulated depreciation (27,263) (24,016)

102,850 105,991 

Plant and equipment - at cost 26,049 25,595 

Less:  Accumulated depreciation (13,879) (11,778)

12,170 13,817 

Motor vehicles - at cost 461 490 

123,093 127,910 

Freehold land

Balance at 30 June 2012 7,612 

Balance at 30 June 2013 7,612 

Buildings

Balance at 30 June 2012 130,007 

Additions 106 

Balance at 30 June 2013 130,113 

Plant and equipment

Balance at 30 June 2012 25,595 

Additions 1,710 

Disposals (1,256)

Balance at 30 June 2013 26,049 

Motor Vehicles

Balance at 30 June 2012 490 

Additions 649 

Disposals (678)

Balance at 30 June 2013 461 

Asset audit

Following a physical inspection throughout the financial year, plant and equipment with a cost of 

$0.914M (2012: $0.450M) and accumulated depreciation of $0.516M (2012: $0.315M) that could 

not be identified or located were scrapped. This resulted in a loss on disposal of $0.398M (2012: 

$0.135M).

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

Cost
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Buildings

Balance at 30 June 2012 (24,016)

Depreciation expense (3,247)

Balance at 30 June 2013 (27,263)

Plant and equipment

Balance at 30 June 2012 (11,778)

Eliminated on disposal of assets 751 

Depreciation expense (2,852)

Balance at 30 June 2013 (13,879)

(a) Land and buildings

Review of Interpretation 12

The applicability of Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements to the activities of the 

Company in respect of the operation of the public hospital has been considered.  Interpretation 12 

mandates the accounting for certain public-to-private service concession arrangements.  

The arrangements for the operation of the hospital are not within the scope of Interpretation 12 

because the overall scope for decision making and control over the daily operations and the 

management of the hospital remains within the Company’s decision making framework.  In 

addition, the Company retains significant residual value in the assets.

The Directors agree with this view and, therefore, believe it is appropriate the activities and assets 

of the Company be recorded on the Statement of Financial Position of the Company in order to 

present a true and fair set of financial statements that comply with Australian Accounting 

Standards. 

In 2005/06 the NSW Health Administration Corporation entered into a contract with a private 

sector provider, Novacare Project Partnership, for financing, design, construction and 

commissioning of a new hospital facility, a mental health facility and refurbishment of existing 

buildings, and facilities management and delivery of ancillary non-clinical services on the Calvary 

Mater Newcastle site until November 2033.

The official opening of the new facilities took place in August 2009.  The legal documentation for 

the ongoing operation of the PPP arrangement, following finalisation of the construction phase of 

the PPP, was executed on 20 May 2011.

Hunter New England Local Health District (HNELHD) transferred control of the newly constructed 

general hospital facility through a sub-lease agreement to the Company.  The terms and 

conditions of the use of the redeveloped facility are contained in a Head Lease between the 

parties to the PPP arrangement.  The recognition of the assets is based on the fact that the 

Company, being an Affiliated Health Organisation which is outside the accounting control of either 

HNELHD or the NSW Ministry of Health, recognises its funding (recurrent or capital) as grant 

income in the year of receipt.

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

9 Restricted assets

Brief details of externally imposed conditions

Category / Conditions

Special Purpose / Conditions imposed by granting body 11,996 8,291 

Charitable Trust / Trust Deed 25,503 23,543 

Research grants / Conditions imposed by granting body 5,098 4,564 

42,597 36,398 
Disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as:

Cash at bank and on hand 4 9,597 11,398 

Term deposits 4 33,000 25,000 

42,597 36,398 

10 Trade and other payables

Current

Trade payables 2,695 2,171 

Grants / income received in advance 137 198 

Deferred income - 2 

Other payables and accruals 3,010 4,419 

5,842 6,790 

11 Bank overdraft and financing arrangements

The Company has access to the following lines of credit:

Group pooling facility - bank (a) 2,000 2,000 

Facilities not utilised at balance date:

Group pooling facility - bank 2,000 2,000 

The Company holds assets which are restricted by externally imposed conditions, for example, in 

line with the 'Accounts and Audit Determination' of NSW Health in exercising its powers conferred 

by the Health Services Act 1997 (NSW) and grant and donor requirements.

Other payables and accruals comprise salaries and wages and goods and services expenses 

incurred.

Deferred income relates to patient fees prepaid.

Grants and other income received in advance relate to the component of grants received from 

Hunter New England Local Health District and University of Newcastle for work agreed to be 

performed under the terms of the grant next financial year 2013/14.

Trade payable terms vary from 7 to 30 days generally.  No interest is charged on trade payables.

The assets are only available for application in accordance with the terms of these restrictions.
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

(a)

12 Provisions

Current

Employee benefits:

Annual leave 10,765 10,150 

Long service leave 17,890 16,860 

Accrued salary expenses 3,884 3,436 

Other employee provisions 132 130 

32,671 30,576 

Non Current

Employee benefits:

Long service leave 1,055 1,013 

Funding of employee entitlements

The NSW Ministry of Health, via the Local Health District, has committed to providing annual 

funding to meet employee entitlements that become payable in that year in the course of providing 

services.  These funds are part of the normal operating subsidies paid to the Company by Hunter 

New England Local Health District.

The Company has indemnification from the NSW Ministry of Health for any accrued public 

hospital employee leave entitlements or any other employee entitlements such as redundancies 

payable by Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd which the Company is liable to pay at the time of, 

or becomes liable to pay as a consequence of, ceasing to conduct a public hospital in whole or 

part, as a public hospital listed in the Third Schedule of the Health Services Act or any successor 

Act subject to:

Group pooling facility - bank

The LCM Health Care Group utilises a pooling facility with interest calculated daily and paid 

monthly on the Group balance. The security for this facility is provided jointly and severally by all 

the entities in the Group. This facility avoids the need for individual companies to have overdraft 

facilities in place.

Employee benefits

Employee benefit provisions are reported as current liabilities where the Company does not have 

an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months. Consequently, the current portion 

of the employee benefit provision includes both short-term benefits measured at nominal values 

and long-term benefits, measured at present value. Employee benefit provisions that are reported 

as non-current liabilities refer to long-term benefits of non vested long service leave that do not 

qualify for recognition as a current liability, and are measured at present value.
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

9 Restricted assets

Brief details of externally imposed conditions

Category / Conditions

Special Purpose / Conditions imposed by granting body 11,996 8,291 

Charitable Trust / Trust Deed 25,503 23,543 

Research grants / Conditions imposed by granting body 5,098 4,564 

42,597 36,398 
Disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position as:

Cash at bank and on hand 4 9,597 11,398 

Term deposits 4 33,000 25,000 

42,597 36,398 

10 Trade and other payables

Current

Trade payables 2,695 2,171 

Grants / income received in advance 137 198 

Deferred income - 2 

Other payables and accruals 3,010 4,419 

5,842 6,790 

11 Bank overdraft and financing arrangements

The Company has access to the following lines of credit:

Group pooling facility - bank (a) 2,000 2,000 

Facilities not utilised at balance date:

Group pooling facility - bank 2,000 2,000 

The Company holds assets which are restricted by externally imposed conditions, for example, in 

line with the 'Accounts and Audit Determination' of NSW Health in exercising its powers conferred 

by the Health Services Act 1997 (NSW) and grant and donor requirements.

Other payables and accruals comprise salaries and wages and goods and services expenses 

incurred.

Deferred income relates to patient fees prepaid.

Grants and other income received in advance relate to the component of grants received from 

Hunter New England Local Health District and University of Newcastle for work agreed to be 

performed under the terms of the grant next financial year 2013/14.

Trade payable terms vary from 7 to 30 days generally.  No interest is charged on trade payables.

The assets are only available for application in accordance with the terms of these restrictions.
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

13 Retirement Benefit Plans

Defined contribution plans

- the Company being specified in the Third Schedule of the Health Services Act 1997 or any 

successor Act as the operator of the public hospital;

- a transparent system being established to provide annual verification to the Local Health District 

of the accrued recreation and long service leave entitlement in respect of each named public 

hospital employee as at 30 June each year;

- real property and other substantial assets used to conduct the public hospital not being disposed 

of at any time without the full knowledge and agreement of the NSW Ministry of Health;

- the completion of a due diligence process should it be required in the event of wind up or 

cessation of operations whereby assets, or parts thereof, used to conduct the hospital are to be 

applied to offset liabilities properly incurred in operating the public hospital; and

- the Company using its best endeavours to transfer all relevant employees together with the 

liability for the accrued entitlements for those employees as part of such transfer of operations, if 

at some future time the Company enters into an agreement to transfer part or all of the operations 

of the public hospital to a public health organisation (as defined in the Health Services Act) or to 

the State.

The Company contributes to employee superannuation funds for all eligible employees based on 

various percentages of their gross salary, with a minimum contribution of 9% of gross salary.  All 

employees are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death.

A small number of employees who commenced employment with the Company prior to 18 

December 1992 are members of the defined benefit State Authority Superannuation Scheme 

(SASS).  This scheme is managed by the State Super Authority and the Company has neither 

control nor responsibility for the scheme. The Company's only obligations are the payment of any 

employee salary sacrificed employer contributions and employee post-tax employee contributions.  

The NSW Treasury remits all other required employer contributions directly to the scheme.  The 

Company accounts for the liability paid by NSW Treasury as having been extinguished resulting in 

the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as 

Resources received free of charge.

The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified 

by the NSW Ministry of Health.  The expense for certain superannuation schemes (ie Basic 

Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the employees' salary.  For other 

superannuation schemes (ie State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation 

Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees' superannuation contributions.
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2013 2012
Note $ '000 $ '000

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

14 Retained Earnings

Retained earnings 144,957 140,934 

Balance at beginning of year 140,934 140,938 

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company 4,023 (4)

Balance at end of year 144,957 140,934 

15 Operating lease arrangements

(a) The Company as lessee

Leasing arrangements

Operating lease commitments

Not later than one year 39 35 

Later than one year but not later than five years 51 64 

90 99 

16 Commitments for expenditure

Public private partnership (PPP) 

In 2005/06, the NSW Health Administration Corporation entered into a contract with a private 

sector provider, Novacare Project Partnership for financing, design, construction and 

commissioning of a new hospital facility, a mental health facility and refurbishment of existing 

buildings, and facilities management and delivery of ancillary non-clinical services on the site until 

November 2033.

The Company leases assets under operating leases.  Leases generally provide the Company with 

a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated.

Lease payments recognised as an expense are disclosed at Note 3.

Other expenditure commitments, totalling $7.288M (2012: $7.247M), for the provision of facilities 

management and delivery of other non-clinical services on the Calvary Mater Newcastle site, were 

expended for the year ended 30 June 2013.  As the Company is not contractually committed to 

the agreement, the expenditure commitment over the life of the service provision is contingent 

upon recurrent funding continuing to be received from the NSW Ministry of Health, via Hunter 

New England Local Health District.
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2013 2012

$ $ 

17 Related parties

(a) Transactions with key management personnel

Compensation of key management personnel

552,793 428,779 

(b) Transactions with other related parties

Supplier rebate income 3,513 1,095 

Recovery of salaries and wages (incl on-costs) 120 - 

Recovery for goods and services 4,941 1,000 

Recovery of training costs 3,655 2,913 

National Office shared service contribution 1,360,914 1,302,310 

National IT shared service contribution - non-recurrent 178,440 169,565 

National IT shared service contribution - recurrent 385,315 280,739 

Payments for goods and services 27,031 14,132 

Insurance premiums 67,019 65,467 

Training costs 3,775 3,050 

Compensation to key management personnel of the 

company

Amounts included in expenditure during the year to LCM Health Care group 

Amounts included in income received during the year from LCM Health Care group 

Non-Executive Directors' fees and National executive salaries are paid and are reported 

separately by the Parent Entity, Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd.  Remuneration for 

the Company's Executives is detailed below.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

From time to time Directors and other key management personnel of the Company may be 

treated as patients.  This service is provided on the same terms and conditions as those 

entered into by other employees or customers and are trivial or domestic in nature.

A payment, the details of which are confidential and not disclosed, was made by the Parent 

Entity, Little Company of Mary Health Care Ltd, in respect of a contract of insurance 

indemnifying all Officers against liability for any claims brought against a Director or Officer.
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18 Financial risk management

Categories of financial instruments 2013 2012

$ '000 $ '000

Financial assets 

Receivables 2,573 4,548 

Cash and bank balances 57,659 45,745 

60,232 50,293 

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost 5,842 6,790 

19 Contingent liabilities

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The Company's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts 

receivable and accounts payable.

Claims on managed fund

On 1 July 1989 the NSW Government implemented a self insurance scheme known as the 

Treasury Managed Fund (TMF).  Since that time, the Company has been a member of the 

TMF.  The TMF will pay to or on behalf of the Company all sums which it shall become legally 

liable to pay by way of compensation or legal liability except for employment related, 

discrimination and harassment claims that do not have state-wide implications.  Therefore, 

since 1 July 1989, apart from the exceptions noted above, no contingent liabilities exist in 

respect of liability claims against the Company.  A Solvency Fund (now called Pre-Managed 

Fund) Reserve was established by the NSW Government to deal with the insurance matters 

incurred before 1 July 1989 that were above the limit of insurance held or for matters that were 

incurred prior to 1 July 1989 that would have become verdicts against the State.  The Pre-

Managed Fund will respond to all claims against the Company.

Workers compensation hindsight adjustment

The NSW Treasury Managed Fund normally calculates hindsight premiums each year.  

However, in relation to workers compensation, adjustments are delayed.  The final hindsight 

adjustment for the 2006/07 fund year and an interim adjustment for the 2008/09 fund year were 

not calculated until 2012/13.  As a result, the 2007/08 final and 2009/10 interim hindsight 

calculations will be paid in 2013/14.

It is not possible for the Company to reliably quantify the amount outstanding.

There are no other events identified and not brought to account which could be expected to 

have a material effect on the financial statements in the future.
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20 Economic dependency and going concern

21 Events subsequent to balance date

22 Registered office and principal place of business

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 

report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 

Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of 

those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

The Company's registered office is Level 18 68 Pitt St Sydney NSW 2000 and its principal place of 

business is Calvary Mater Newcastle Hospital Edith St Waratah NSW 2298.

The Parent Entity may, in turn, provide economic assistance to any of its subsidiaries including the 

Company, by withdrawing funds from any other of its subsidiaries, except for those moneys 

located in certain Special Purpose or Trust Fund Accounts, to provide such support as is 

necessary to enable the Parent Entity or subsidiary to pay its debts as and when they fall due, 

provided neither the Parent Entity or the Company will  become insolvent as a result of the 

withdrawal.

The Directors currently believe that, collectively, the Parent Entity and its subsidiaries have 

sufficient cash resources to ensure the Company, the Parent Entity, and other subsidiaries of the 

Parent Entity will continue to trade as going concerns and they are unaware of any material 

uncertainties, events or conditions, which may cast significant doubt on this belief.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The Company derives most of its income from the NSW Ministry of Health, via Hunter New 

England Local Health District.  A going concern basis for the preparation of the financial 

statements has been adopted as it is expected that sufficient funding from the NSW Ministry of 

Health will continue.

An indemnification has also been obtained from the NSW Ministry of Health in relation to employee 

benefits refer to Note 12.

Of total revenue, 75% is derived from NSW Government funding, and 8% is derived from private 

patient revenue.  Benefits are paid in accordance with agreements between the NSW Ministry of 

Health and the Health Funds.

The Company is one of a number of subsidiaries of the Parent Entity, Little Company of Mary 

Health Care Ltd.  Whilst it is not envisaged the Company will need to rely on the Parent Entity for 

its economic dependency, the constitution of the Company has the provision required under s187 

of the Corporations Act which expressly authorises the Company to act in the best interests of the 

Parent Entity, so that it is capable of providing economic assistance to the Parent Entity, provided 

the Company will not become insolvent as a result of giving such economic assistance.
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20 Economic dependency and going concern

21 Events subsequent to balance date

22 Registered office and principal place of business

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 

report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the 

Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of 

those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

The Company's registered office is Level 18 68 Pitt St Sydney NSW 2000 and its principal place of 

business is Calvary Mater Newcastle Hospital Edith St Waratah NSW 2298.

The Parent Entity may, in turn, provide economic assistance to any of its subsidiaries including the 

Company, by withdrawing funds from any other of its subsidiaries, except for those moneys 

located in certain Special Purpose or Trust Fund Accounts, to provide such support as is 

necessary to enable the Parent Entity or subsidiary to pay its debts as and when they fall due, 

provided neither the Parent Entity or the Company will  become insolvent as a result of the 

withdrawal.

The Directors currently believe that, collectively, the Parent Entity and its subsidiaries have 

sufficient cash resources to ensure the Company, the Parent Entity, and other subsidiaries of the 

Parent Entity will continue to trade as going concerns and they are unaware of any material 

uncertainties, events or conditions, which may cast significant doubt on this belief.

Calvary Health Care (Newcastle) Ltd

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

The Company derives most of its income from the NSW Ministry of Health, via Hunter New 

England Local Health District.  A going concern basis for the preparation of the financial 

statements has been adopted as it is expected that sufficient funding from the NSW Ministry of 

Health will continue.

An indemnification has also been obtained from the NSW Ministry of Health in relation to employee 

benefits refer to Note 12.

Of total revenue, 75% is derived from NSW Government funding, and 8% is derived from private 

patient revenue.  Benefits are paid in accordance with agreements between the NSW Ministry of 

Health and the Health Funds.

The Company is one of a number of subsidiaries of the Parent Entity, Little Company of Mary 

Health Care Ltd.  Whilst it is not envisaged the Company will need to rely on the Parent Entity for 

its economic dependency, the constitution of the Company has the provision required under s187 

of the Corporations Act which expressly authorises the Company to act in the best interests of the 

Parent Entity, so that it is capable of providing economic assistance to the Parent Entity, provided 

the Company will not become insolvent as a result of giving such economic assistance.
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